
GREATROCK NORTH WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT 
8390 E. Crescent Parkway, Suite 300 

Greenwood Village, CO 80111 
(P) 303-779-5710 (F) 303-779-0348

www.colorado.gov/greatrocknorthwsd

Mission: To provide the highest quality of water at the most affordable price for current 
customers and to provide for the expansion of the District as growth occurs. 

NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING AND AGENDA 

DATE: May 2, 2023 
TIME: 4:30 P.M. 
LOCATION: This meeting will be held via teleconferencing and can be joined 

through the directions below: 

ACCESS: You can attend the meeting in any of the following ways: 

1. To attend via MS Teams videoconference use the below link –
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-
join/19%3ameeting_MzY3ZmQxNzItMjU1OC00ZjIwLTkzMjctN2RlNTY1ZG
EyNjdl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%224aaa468e-93ba-4ee3-
ab9f-6a247aa3ade0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%227e78628f-89cd-4e97-af6c-
60df84b55ffe%22%7d

2. Or by calling 1-720-547-5281 & entering the following Phone
Conference ID:  113 576 728#

Board of Directors: Office Term Expires 
John D. Wyckoff President May, 2025 

Robert W. Fleck Vice President May, 2023 
Lisa Jacoby Treasurer May, 2025 

Brian K. Rogers Secretary May, 2023 
Brenda Adams Assistant Secretary May, 2025 

Consultants: 
Lisa A. Johnson District Manager 

Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 
Erin K. Stutz, Esq. 

District General Counsel 

Nicholaus Marcotte, PE District Engineer 
Mike Murphy District Operator in Responsible Charge 

1

http://www.colorado.gov/greatrocknorthwsd
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MzY3ZmQxNzItMjU1OC00ZjIwLTkzMjctN2RlNTY1ZGEyNjdl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%224aaa468e-93ba-4ee3-ab9f-6a247aa3ade0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%227e78628f-89cd-4e97-af6c-60df84b55ffe%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MzY3ZmQxNzItMjU1OC00ZjIwLTkzMjctN2RlNTY1ZGEyNjdl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%224aaa468e-93ba-4ee3-ab9f-6a247aa3ade0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%227e78628f-89cd-4e97-af6c-60df84b55ffe%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MzY3ZmQxNzItMjU1OC00ZjIwLTkzMjctN2RlNTY1ZGEyNjdl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%224aaa468e-93ba-4ee3-ab9f-6a247aa3ade0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%227e78628f-89cd-4e97-af6c-60df84b55ffe%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MzY3ZmQxNzItMjU1OC00ZjIwLTkzMjctN2RlNTY1ZGEyNjdl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%224aaa468e-93ba-4ee3-ab9f-6a247aa3ade0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%227e78628f-89cd-4e97-af6c-60df84b55ffe%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MzY3ZmQxNzItMjU1OC00ZjIwLTkzMjctN2RlNTY1ZGEyNjdl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%224aaa468e-93ba-4ee3-ab9f-6a247aa3ade0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%227e78628f-89cd-4e97-af6c-60df84b55ffe%22%7d


Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District 
May 2, 2023 Agenda 

 

 
I. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS (Action Items Status Matrix – enclosure - 002).  

A. Present Disclosures of Potential Conflicts of Interest. 
B. Approve Agenda. 
C. Board of Director’s Report. 
D. District Manager’s Report (enclosure – 003). 

II. CONSENT AGENDA 
A. These items are considered to be routine and will be approved by one motion. There 

will be no separate discussion of these items unless requested; in which event, the 
item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered in the Regular 
Agenda. 
1. Approve the Minutes of the April 4, 2023 regular meeting (enclosure –       

004). 
2. Ratify approval of the payment of claims for the period ending April 24, 

2023, in the amount of $65,337.23 (enclosure – 005). 
3. Acceptance of unaudited financial statements for the period ending March 

31, 2023, Schedule of Cash Position updated as of April 20, 2023, and 
Inclusion Summaries (enclosure - 006). 

4. Operations and Maintenance Activities Report (enclosure – 007). 
5. Review meter installation report (enclosure – 008). 
6. Ratify approval of the Warranty Agreement (Country Club Ranchettes Filing 

No. 1) (enclosure – 009). 
7. Ratify approval for Warranty Agreement (Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1) 

(enclosure – 010).  
8. Ratify approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Hydro 

Optimization and Automation Solutions, Inc. (enclosure – 011). 
9. Ratify approval of Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District Contract 

with Simply Strong, LLC d/b/a Maidpro (enclosure – 012). 
10. Ratify approval of Master Services Agreement and Statements of Work 

with CMIT (enclosure – 013). 

III. FINANCIAL MATTERS 

IV. ENGINEER’S REPORT (enclosure – 014) 
A. Capital Projects Update 

1. Third Alluvial Well 
2. Evaporation Pond 
3. Reverse Osmosis Treatment Facility 

V. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE MATTERS (ORC Report – enclosure – 015). 

 

 

2



Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District 
May 2, 2023 Agenda 

 

 
VI. LEGAL MATTERS 

A. Public Hearing on Inclusion of Country Club Ranchettes, Filing No. 2, and 
Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-05-02: Resolution and Order for  
Inclusion of Property (Country Club Ranchettes, Filing No. 2).  

VII. OTHER MATTERS 
A. Status of Homestead Heights/Country Club Ranchettes #1.  
B. Status of Ridgeview Estates. 
C. Status of Country Club Ranchettes Filing No. 2. 
 

VIII. COMMUNITY COMMENTS (ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA ONLY. COMMENTS 
LIMITED TO 3 MINUTES PER PERSON AND TAKEN IN ORDER LISTED ON SIGN 
UP SHEET). 

IX. ADJOURNMENT 
 

THE NEXT MEETING IS SCHEDULED 
for Tuesday, June 6, 2023 

at 4:30 p.m. 
 

3



Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District Action Items Status Matrix—2023  

0495.0008; 1098275     Page 1 of 8 

  April 25, 2023 

Action Items 
Date of 

Meeting 

Assigned 

To 
Deadline 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

N
o

t 
S

ta
rt

ed
 

In
 P

ro
ce

ss
 

R
eo

cc
u

rr
in

g
 

F
o

ll
o

w
 u

p
 

R
eq

u
ir

ed
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 

Notes 

INCLUSION AND DEVELOPMENT MATTERS 

Homestead Heights 

Development (a/k/a 
Country Club Ranchettes 

Filing No. 1) 

12/6/16 Nick 

 

N/A 2  X    12/15/2020:  Brad is reviewing submittals for the off-site water 

connections and requested information on the RHF check valve 
vault from Manhard Consulting. 

1/7/2021: New list started.  Items preceding 12/2020 on prior action 

items lists. 

1/17/2021: Brad emails Laurie at Manhard re: the revised 
information Blanco needs to resubmit on the RHF check valve 

vault. 

1/20/2021: Blanco emails revised submittal for RHF check valve 
vault to Brad.  Brad to review and comment. 

2/10/2021: Jay Skolnick indicates he has selected a different 

contractor to perform the work. Brad advised Jay the District needs 
a schedule and requires a pre-construction meeting. 

2/18/2021: Brad emailed Jay to request a pre-construction meeting.  

4/13/21:  Jay Skolnick emails inquiry on status of construction 

observations on Blanco by Bryan Dalrymple; Brad forwards email 
to Bryan 

4/19/21: MMI meeting with Bryan Dalrymple to review inspection 

and testing records cancelled due to weather forecast. 
05/10/2021: A pre-construction meeting scheduled for May 11 for 

the on-site water system improvements was postponed since the 

developer does not have plans approved by Adams County 

therefore no work can be performed within the new rights-of-way. 
05/10/2021:  Adams County cannot approve the plans or issue any 

permits until the County has received and approved the surety for 

the SIA. 
9/7/21: Nick is working with the developer to relocate fire hydrants 

per County requirements. 

12/28/2021 – District notified that the County has potentially 
provided a variance on the relocation of hydrants. 

02/23/2022 – water line and well easements approved by BOD. 

3/25/2022 – 11 SDF’s collected to date. 

06/01/2022 – 13 SDF’s collected to date.   
06/28/2022- initial punch list provided to Jay. 

7/26/2022 – 15 SDF’s collected to date.  Lisa requested additional 

4



Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District Action Items Status Matrix—2023  

0495.0008; 1098275     Page 2 of 8 

  April 25, 2023 

Action Items 
Date of 

Meeting 

Assigned 

To 
Deadline 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

N
o

t 
S

ta
rt

ed
 

In
 P

ro
ce

ss
 

R
eo

cc
u

rr
in

g
 

F
o

ll
o

w
 u

p
 

R
eq

u
ir

ed
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 

Notes 

funds from developer to cover inclusion costs. 

08/29/2022 – Jay is working with Nick and Mike on punch list 
items. 

10/05/2022 – 17 SDF’s paid to date. 

02/28/2023 – Jay has provided all documents necessary for staff to 
finalize the initial acceptance of water improvements. 

03/28/2023 – Amended Warranty Agreement was transmitted to Jay 

for his review and execution. 

4/25/2023 – LOC received. Board to ratify warranty agreement at 
the May meeting. 

Ridgeview Estates 3/3/2020 Nick 

 

N/A 2  X    12/10/2020:  Brad meets w/ Blanco Inc. at site of water tie-in at 

Great Rock Way to review layout and design. 
1/7/2021: New list started.  Items preceding 12/2020 on prior action 

items lists. 

1/7/2021: Met yesterday with Blanco regarding tie in at tank site.  

1/13/2021: GN residents report brown water following tie-in in 
Great Rock Way.  Bryan flushes fire hydrants. 

2/18/2021: Brad talked with David Moore and emailed DM a 

request for an updated schedule for coordination with REC and 
testing required. 

5/4/2021: onsite water improvements in process and project is 

almost complete. 
7/19/21: Offsite water improvements was completed by REC. 

Onsite water system improvements initial acceptance will be 

provided after onsite surface improvements (asphalt, curb, gutter) 

have been placed. Element has notified the developer of this 
requirement on 7/6/21. 

8/19/21: An initial walkthrough and punch list was generated and 

forwarded to the developer’s engineer. A response to the punch list 
is expected when items are complete. After completion a letter 

recommending initial acceptance will be generated. 

9/7/21: Developer requested waiver of lien. Board discussed and 

denied request. Lisa to communicate to Developer.  
12/28/2021 – Nick drafted initial acceptance letter and transmitted 

to developer. 

2/23/2022 – Nick followed up with David Moore in February. 

5



Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District Action Items Status Matrix—2023  

0495.0008; 1098275     Page 3 of 8 

  April 25, 2023 

Action Items 
Date of 

Meeting 

Assigned 

To 
Deadline 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

N
o

t 
S

ta
rt

ed
 

In
 P

ro
ce

ss
 

R
eo

cc
u

rr
in

g
 

F
o

ll
o

w
 u

p
 

R
eq

u
ir

ed
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 

Notes 

3/25/2022 – 7 SDF’s collected to date. 

06/01/2022 – 10 SDF’s collected to date. 
06/28/22 – 11 SDF’s collected to date. 

7/26/2022 – 12 SDF’s collected to date.  Lisa requested additional 

funds from developer to cover inclusion costs. 
8/29/2022 – David Moore provided information requested. Nick to 

draft letter of review and acceptance. 

10/05/2022 – Nick provided letter to Jennifer. Jennifer to review 

and confirm documents and recommend the Board consider 
preliminary acceptance of the improvements.   

10/25/2022 – The Board accepted the improvements subject to final 

review by counsel and President Wyckoff. 
02/28/2023 – Erin is working with  the developer’s bank to acquire 

LOC and then documents to finalize initial acceptance will be 

finalized. 
4/25/2023 – LOC received. Board to ratify warranty agreement at 

May meeting. 

CAPITAL PROJECT MATTERS 

Third Alluvial Well 2/5/19 Chris N/A 2  X    1/5/2021: Brad received memo from Tim Crawford regarding ALV-

5. Quantity from well site is favorable. Quality less favorable than 
other locations but better from monitoring well. Memo 

summarizing results sent to Brad to review for comment. 

1/7/2021: New list started.  Items preceding 2021 on prior action 

items lists. 
1/11/2021:  Brad meets w/ Tony Lopez re: well site easement and 

pipeline easement.  Brad to work up exhibit and discuss w/ Brian at 

Manhard. 
2/18/2021: Brad talked with Tim Crawford regarding the well site 

and pipeline easement needs. 

4/6/21:  Brad emails proposed easements layout to Tim/Chris and 

requests information from Jay Skolnick and Brian Pfohl 
4/9/21:  Jay indicates easements should be on title work. 

8/6/21: A meeting was held at Element offices to discuss the third 

alluvial well. Element is to generate a cost estimate to connect sites 
3 and 4 to the existing raw water lines. 

6



Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District Action Items Status Matrix—2023  

0495.0008; 1098275     Page 4 of 8 

  April 25, 2023 

Action Items 
Date of 

Meeting 

Assigned 

To 
Deadline 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

N
o

t 
S

ta
rt

ed
 

In
 P

ro
ce

ss
 

R
eo

cc
u

rr
in

g
 

F
o

ll
o

w
 u

p
 

R
eq

u
ir

ed
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 

Notes 

Evaporation Pond 

Matters 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

1/1/19 Nick N/A 1  X    1/5/2021: Profile has not changed.  Brad to submit to CDPHE 

again. Need to finalize easement with Jay.  If cannot be finalized in 
2 weeks, Board to consider moving forward with condemnation 

proceedings. 

1/7/2021: New list started.  Items preceding 2021 on prior action 
items lists. 

1/7/2021: Brad to review options available to expedite process 

through CDPHE. 

1/20/2021: Lisa emailed Jody and Jennifer to schedule call related 
to condemnation efforts to acquire final easement needed to 

construct pond. 

2/2/2021: Brad working to finalize easement agreement and legal 
description. Brad to send to Lisa for next steps when complete. 

2/2/2021: Brad will provide updated cost estimate. 

4/9/2021: Brad asked to schedule a meeting with the committee to 
review additional information / may ask Nick to assist with 

Evaporation Pond project. 

5/4/2021: Brad informed the Board that he is no longer able to 

continue with this project. The Board asked Lisa to gather a list of 
qualified firms and contact them to solicit interest and a proposal. 

7/6/2021: Nick to start working on the evaporation pond and 

prepare a new exhibit related to final easement with Jay Skolnick.  
7/19/21: Board has approved Element to complete the evaporative 

pond design. Work is ongoing. 

8/13/21: Design work on the evaporation pond and EDOP report is 

ongoing. Element is finalizing the easement with direct 
correspondence between Element and Jay’s engineer for CCR 

Filing 2. 

9/7/21: Nick is preparing an alternatives analysis regarding pond 
location and will present his findings at the October board meeting. 

1/24/22: The board selected the western pond location with the 

concentrate line in Hudson Mile Road. The design is now being 
completed in that location. 

1/24/22: Element requested quotes for utility potholing to confirm 

utility location and depth for crossings. 

2/23/2022 – Element working on permit requirements with Adams 

7



Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District Action Items Status Matrix—2023  

0495.0008; 1098275     Page 5 of 8 

  April 25, 2023 

Action Items 
Date of 

Meeting 

Assigned 

To 
Deadline 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

N
o

t 
S

ta
rt

ed
 

In
 P

ro
ce

ss
 

R
eo

cc
u

rr
in

g
 

F
o

ll
o

w
 u

p
 

R
eq

u
ir

ed
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 

Notes 

County. 

3/25/2022 – Public Meeting will be held on April 5th. Property 
owners were notified via mail. 

06/01/2022 – Element to finalize reports to submit to CDPHE and 

ADCO the week of May 30, 2022. 
6/28/22 – reports and submittals made to CDPHE and ADCO. 

10/25/2022 – Nick responded to comments from Adams County. 

02/28/2023 – Board determined to use CMAR process. Nick is 

working with Jennifer and Erin to document process for bidding, 
contract docs. etc. 

RO Treatment Plant 

Upgrade 

2/19/19 Nick N/A 1  X    12/1/2020: Nick provided updated to Board. Finalizing 95% plans. 

Followed up with CDPHE to get comments.  No comments or 
questions received to date.  Ran into issue with the concentrate line 

which was discussed with the Board. 

1/5/2021: No comments received from CDPHE yet.  

1/7/2021: New list started.  Items preceding 12/2020 on prior action 
items lists. 

4/9/2021: Nick will follow up with CDPHE on status of final 

project approval.  Bids are due by April 16, 2021. 
5/4/2021: BOD awarded contract to Moltz Construction. Nick to 

draft Notice of Award etc. BOD to review CM proposal and 

provide comments to Rob by 5/12/2021. 
7/6/2021: Nick to prepare major PUD amendment and process 

through Adams County 

7/19/21: Major PUD amendment notifications were sent out to 

required residences. The required public meeting will be held on 
8/3. The application will be submitted to Adams County shortly 

after. 

8/5/21: PUD Application submitted to Adams County. 
8/20/21: Contractor requested permission to mobilize onsite. 

Permission granted. 

9/16/21: Pre-construction meeting held to discuss access and begin 

site stage.  
12/28/2021 – Nick and John attended planning commission 

meeting. Planning Commission approved the plan and recommends 

approval by BOCC in January. 

8



Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District Action Items Status Matrix—2023  

0495.0008; 1098275     Page 6 of 8 

  April 25, 2023 

Action Items 
Date of 

Meeting 

Assigned 

To 
Deadline 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

N
o

t 
S

ta
rt

ed
 

In
 P

ro
ce

ss
 

R
eo

cc
u

rr
in

g
 

F
o

ll
o

w
 u

p
 

R
eq

u
ir

ed
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 

Notes 

1/11/22 – Nick and John attended the BOCC meeting. The project 

was approved at this meeting. 
1/24/22 – Design to remove the sump by lowering the concentrate 

line in Rayburn are being finalized. This will be issued to the 

contractor as Field Order No. 1. 
2/23/2022 – Project began in February. 

3/25/2022 – Pay Apps 1-3 have been submitted and CO#1 has been 

submitted. 

06/01/2022 – CO’s 2-5 have been approved and pay apps 1-6 as 
well. 

7/26/2022 – CO’s 2-6 have been approved and pay apps 1-7 as well. 

8/29/2022 CO’s 1-7 have been approved and pay apps. 1-8 as well. 
10/05/2022 – punchlist walk is scheduled for 10/06/2022. 

10/25/2022 – Substantial completion was provided to Moltz. 

02/28/2023 – furniture has been installed.  Staff is working with 
CMIT on IT proposal and agreement with Comcast for internet 

service. 

3/28/2023 – MSA/SOW received from CMIT and transmitted to 

Erin for review. 
4/25/2023 – CMIT fully executed and equipment ordered.  Open 

Path up and running and Shauna is working on tutorial. 

OPERATIONAL MATTERS 

Rocks in Brine 

Discharge Pipe 

6/4/19 Mike 

 

N/A 3  X    1/7/2021: New list started.  Items preceding 10/2020 on prior action 

items lists. 
1/7/2021: Rocks not causing issues right now.  Cannot push them 

out at any point.  Would need to cut pipe, clean out and replace 

area. Do work with pond liner possibly.  Not a current emergency.  
Mike to obtain pricing from Blanco and Dan LaCoe for doing work 

so can be incorporated into budget. 

12/26/21: Site visit schedule first week of January to get Element 

Engineering updated on this project. 
1/21/22: Element met with REC onsite to discuss potential remedies 

for this issue. 

RHF Generator 
Replacement 

1/7/2021 Mike N/A 3  X    Mike to obtain pricing for replacement of generator. 
4/12/2021: Generator Source onsite to gather information for RHF 

generator replacement.  

9



Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District Action Items Status Matrix—2023  

0495.0008; 1098275     Page 7 of 8 

  April 25, 2023 

Action Items 
Date of 

Meeting 

Assigned 

To 
Deadline 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

N
o

t 
S

ta
rt

ed
 

In
 P

ro
ce

ss
 

R
eo

cc
u

rr
in

g
 

F
o

ll
o

w
 u

p
 

R
eq

u
ir

ed
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 

Notes 

12/8/21: Quote for new replacement submitted by Generator 

Source. 
12/28/2021- Mike presented proposal at December meeting. 

GFPD – Emergency 

Response Plan 

01/04/2022 Mike  

Lisa 

N/A 2      Mike and Lisa to contact GFPD to discuss emergency response plan 

in the event of a fire. 

06/28/2022 – Mike to discuss with GBFPD and HFPD. 
7/26/2022 – Mike confirmed GBFPD is the service provider and 

will schedule a meeting to discuss a plan. 

WELL AND WATER MATTERS 

19CW3231 – Statement 

of Opposition 

3/3/2020 Matt N/A 1  X    2/28/2020: Statement of opposition filed with Court. 

20CW3214 – Statement 

of Opposition 

1/5/2021 Lisa 

Alan 

N/A 1  X    Lisa to contact Alan Curtis re representation of District on matter.  

Case requests for changes of water rights on Box Elder Creek and 

amendments to a previously decreed augmentation plan that has 
depletions and replacements on Box Elder Creek. 

01/20/2021: Lisa obtained executed engagement letter from all 

parties.  Lisa working with Martin and Wood to discuss the current 

need for water rights engineering services. 

Renewable Water Rights 5/4/2021 Chris N/A   X    Chris presented options for acquisition of renewable water rights. 

BOD directed Chris to continue discussions with all options 

presented. 
3/25/2021 – BOD directed Chris to continue discussions for 

renewable water rights options. 

FINANCIAL MATTERS 

ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

Cybersecurity Efforts 3/2/21 Mike N/A   X    3/2/21: Brad is meeting with the firm that has proposed for 
SCADA/telemetry on the new plant to discuss protections within 

their system.  

3/2/21: Mike will work with TLECC to discuss additional options 

for protection of current system. 
02/28/2023 – Mike is working with HOA regarding annual contract 

etc. 

3/28/2023 – proposal from HOA will be reviewed by BOD at the 
April meeting.  

4/25/2023 – ICA with HOA approved by BOD at the April meeting. 

10



Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District Action Items Status Matrix—2023  

0495.0008; 1098275     Page 8 of 8 

  April 25, 2023 

 
11



1 

 

 
WATER & SANITATION DISTRICT 

 

Date:  April 25, 2023 

 

To:  Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District, Board of Directors 

 

From:  Lisa A. Johnson, District Manager 

 

Re:  May 2, 2023 Manager’s Report 

 

Agenda Action Items 

 

II.A. Consent Agenda 

 

1. Approve the Minutes of the April 4, 2023 special meeting regular meeting. 

2. Ratify approval of the payment of claims for the period ending April 30, 2023 in the 

amount of $65,337.23. 

3. Acceptance of unaudited financial statements for the period ending March 31, 2023, 

Schedule of Cash Position updated as of April 20, 2023, and Inclusion Summaries. 

4. Operations and Maintenance Activities Report. 

5. Review meter installation report. 

6. Ratify approval of the Warranty Agreement (Country Club Ranchettes Filing No. 1) 

7. Ratify approval of the Warranty Agreement (Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1) 

8. Ratify approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Hydro Optimization and 

Automation Solutions, Inc. 

9. Ratify approval of contract with Simply Strong, LLC d/b/a MaidPro 

10. Ratify approval of contract with CMIT for IT Services. 

 

I recommend approval of the consent agenda items. 

 

 

VI.A. Public Hearing on Inclusion of Country Club Ranchettes, Filing No. 2. 

 

 Staff continues to work diligently with developer’s counsel to finalize the inclusion 

agreement as well as an amendment to the Homestead Heights II inclusion agreement.  I will 

ask the Board to open the public hearing on this inclusion matter and continue it to the June 

Board meeting to allow the finalization of both agreements. 

 

   

 

12



2 

 

VII.C. Ridgeview Estates 

 

Updates provided in the Engineer’s Report. 

 

VII.D. Country Club Ranchettes Filing No. 2 (“CC#2”) 

 

 Update provided above. 

 

Review of monthly Water Resumes and Other Water Related Matters 

 

Attorney Poznanovic has reviewed the February resume and did not find any cases he would 

recommend the district oppose.   

 

Update on other District Related Matters and/or Committee Meetings 

  

Open Path software is up and running at the new RO Plant and Ms. D’Amato is working to 

add staff and the Board to the software. A tutorial will be forthcoming.  CMIT contract was 

finalized and the equipment has been ordered.  Ms. D’Amato is diligently working to locate 

an electrician to complete the work that is needed prior to CMIT’s equipment installation. 

 

Staff has scheduled a meeting with Epic Estates to discuss next steps on their request for 

inclusion. 

 

 

13



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
   

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

GREATROCK NORTH WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT 
APRIL 4, 2023 

 
A regular meeting of the Board of Directors (referred to hereafter as “Board”) of 
the Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District (referred to hereafter as 
“District”) was convened on Tuesday, April 4, 2023 at 4:30 P.M. The meeting was 
conducted via video conference – Microsoft Teams. The meeting was open to the 
public. 

   
ATTENDANCE  Directors in attendance: 

John D. Wyckoff   
Brian K. Rogers 
Lisa Jacoby 
Robert W. Fleck 
Brenda Adams 
 
Also in attendance were: 
Lisa Johnson, Shauna D’Amato, and Michael Jensen; CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
(“CLA”) 
Mike Murphy; Ramey Environmental Compliance, Inc. (“REC”) 

   
ADMINISTRATIVE 
MATTERS 

 Disclosures of Potential Conflicts of Interest:  Ms. Johnson advised the Board 
that, pursuant to Colorado law, certain disclosures may be required prior to taking 
official action at the meeting. The Board reviewed the Agenda for the meeting, 
following which, Directors Wyckoff, Rogers, Jacoby, Adams, and Fleck each 
confirmed that they had no conflicts of interest in connection with any of the 
matters listed on the Agenda. Director Adams noted that she serves on the HOA 
Board for Box Elder Creek Ranch. 
 
Agenda:  Ms. Johnson distributed for the Board’s review and approval a proposed 
Agenda for the District’s regular meeting. Following discussion, upon a motion 
duly made by Director Wyckoff, seconded by Director Jacoby, and, upon vote, 
unanimously carried, the Board approved the Agenda as presented. 
 
Board of Director’s Report:  Director Wyckoff provided an update on the 
Reverse Osmosis Water Treatment Facility.  He reported that he met with Comcast 
two weeks ago for the installation of the new internet service.  He met with 
Greeley Lock & Key to confirm that the door locking mechanism is working. Ms. 
D’Amato is scheduling the remaining electrical work that is needed.  Director 
Wyckoff also met with Mr. Marcotte to review and discuss the wiring for the 
phone and computer connections that were installed in the facility and that they 
were installed per the approved plans. 
 
District Manager’s Report:  The Board reviewed the monthly Manager’s Report. 
There were no questions. A copy of the report is attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by this reference. 

14



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
   
CONSENT 
AGENDA 

 The Board considered the following actions: 
 

1. Approve the Minutes of the March 7, 2023 regular meeting. 
2. Ratify approval of the payment of claims for the period ending March 29, 

2023 in the amount of $253,327.56. 
3. Acceptance of unaudited financial statements for the period ending 

February 28, 2023, Schedule of Cash Position updated as of March 28, 
2023, and inclusion summaries. 

4. Operations and Maintenance Activities Report. 
5. Review meter installation report. 

 
Following discussion, upon a motion duly made by Director Jacoby, seconded by 
Director Wyckoff and, upon vote, unanimously carried, the Board approved the 
Consent Agenda items. 

   
FINANCIAL 
MATTERS 

  
None. 

   
ENGINEER’S 
REPORT 

 The Board reviewed the Engineer’s Report. A copy of the report is attached hereto 
and incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
CAPITAL PROJECTS UPDATES: 

 
Third Alluvial Well:  An updated was included in the Engineer’s Report. 
 
Evaporation Pond:  An updated was included in the Engineer’s Report. 
 
Reverse Osmosis Treatment Facility:  An updated was included in the 
Engineer’s Report. 

   
OPERATIONS / 
MAINTENANCE 
MATTERS 

 Operator in Responsible Charge (“ORC”) Report:  Mr. Murphy presented his 
report and provided updates.  
 

Proposal from HOA Services for Annual SCADA Maintenance:  Mr. 
Murphy presented the proposal to the Board.  Following review and 
discussion, upon a motion duly made by Director Wyckoff, seconded by 
Director Rogers and, upon vote, unanimously carried, the Board approved the 
proposal, as presented, and authorized staff to prepare an agreement. 
 
Sanitary Survey Results and Responses:  Mr. Murphy reviewed his 
responses to the sanitary survey with the Board. 
 
Master Service Agreement (“MSA”) and Statements of Work (“SOW”)_ 
with CMIT:  Ms. Johnson presented the MSA and SOW to the Board and 
noted that they have been reviewed by the District’s legal counsel.  She will 
provide the requested revisions to CMIT for their review and acceptance. 

   

15



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
LEGAL  
MATTERS 

 Resolution No. 2023-04-01: Concerning the Imposition of Availability of 
Service or Facilities Charges:  Ms. Johnson presented the Resolution to the 
Board.  Following review and discussion, upon a motion duly made by Director 
Jacoby, seconded by Director Wyckoff and, upon vote, unanimously carried, the 
Board adopted Resolution No. 2023-04-01: Concerning the Imposition of 
Availability of Service or Facilities Charges. 

   
OTHER MATTERS 
 

 Status of Homestead Heights/Country Club Ranchettes #1:    
 

Amendment to the Warranty Agreement:  Following review and 
discussion, upon a motion duly made by Director Wyckoff, seconded by 
Director Jacoby and, upon vote, unanimously carried, the Board approved the 
Amendment to the Warranty Agreement. 

 
Status of Hayesmount Estates:  Ms. Johnson provided an update and noted that 
all system development fees have now been paid for this subdivision. 
 
Status of Ridgeview Estates:  No new updates. 
 
Status of Country Club Ranchettes Filing #2:  Ms. Johnson provided an update 
and noted that an inclusion hearing is scheduled for consideration by the Board at 
the May 2, 2023 Board meeting. 

   
COMMUNITY 
COMMENTS 

  
None. 

   
ADJOURNMENT  There being no further business to come before the Board at this time, upon a 

motion duly made by Director Jacoby, seconded by Director Wyckoff, and, upon 
vote, unanimously carried, the meeting was adjourned at 5:24 p.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
 

By __________________________________ 
        Secretary for the Meeting 

   
   

 

16



Vendor Invoice # Date Amount

*CenturyLink 7191112907APR23 4/1/2023 368.51$        

*My Asset Map LLC E5F5CDB‐0062 3/28/2023 199.99          

*United Power Inc 12341500MAR23 3/31/2023 446.88          

*United Power Inc 23129500MAR23 3/31/2023 1,420.11       

*United Power Inc 2893502MAR23 3/31/2023 645.03          

*United Power Inc 6666302MAR23 3/31/2023 855.72          

*United Power Inc 7891601MAR23 3/31/2023 251.01          

*Xcel Energy 5336053542MAR23 3/31/2023 135.84          

*Xcel Energy 5398600067MAR23 3/31/2023 48.04            

Auto Pay 4,371.13$    

Badger Meter, Inc. 1569580 4/25/2023 26.10$          

Badger Meter, Inc. 80122169 4/25/2023 446.78          

Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc 51573 4/25/2023 927.50          

Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc 51703 4/25/2023 2,987.25       

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3647778 4/25/2023 60.00            

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3647778 4/25/2023 630.00          

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3648949 4/25/2023 4,272.56       

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3540200 4/25/2023 7,140.40       

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3647778 4/25/2023 10,293.53    

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3647777 4/25/2023 3,754.69       

CNA Surety 15154005 4/25/2023 255.00          

Diversified Underground 27380 4/25/2023 355.00          

Diversified Underground 27380 4/25/2023 2,850.00       

Element Engineering, LLC 0001C‐03 4/25/2023 240.00          

Element Engineering, LLC 0003B‐01 4/25/2023 480.00          

Elite Industries, Inc. 21613 4/25/2023 1,075.00       

Hayes Poznanovic Korver LLC 47792 4/25/2023 2,075.00       

Hayes Poznanovic Korver LLC 47791 4/25/2023 200.00          

Hayes Poznanovic Korver LLC 47793 4/25/2023 48.00            

John Wyckoff* Reimb ‐ Towel Holder 4/25/2023 53.25            

Lock & Key 26993943 4/25/2023 137.00          

Pest Predator 3537 4/25/2023 240.00          

Ramey Enviromental Compliance, Inc 25485 4/25/2023 9,899.57       

Ramey Enviromental Compliance, Inc 25504 4/25/2023 332.50          

Ramey Enviromental Compliance, Inc 25485 4/25/2023 1,819.92       

United Site Services, Inc INV‐01610011 4/25/2023 224.00          

Utility Notification Center of Colorado 223020623 4/25/2023 176.73          

Utility Notification Center of Colorado 223030657 4/25/2023 72.24            

White & Jankowski LLP 18736 4/25/2023 3,856.00       

White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron 27251 4/25/2023 199.88          

White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron 27251 4/25/2023 5,838.20       

Bill.com 60,966.10$  

Grand Total 65,337.23$  

Greatrock North Water & Sanitation District

Claims List

April 24, 2023

17



GREATROCK NORTH WATER & SANITATION DISTRICT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2023

18



Enterprise
CURRENT ASSETS

First Bank - Checking 159,950$
First Bank - Lockbox 205,917
Colotrust 3,579,792
Accounts Receivable - Customers 23,639
Accounts Receivable - Certified with County 1,374
Receivable from County Treasurer 87,811
AR - Horse Creek Retreat 2,429
AR - Inclusions 34,722
Prepaid Insurance 450

Total Current Assets 4,096,084

CAPITAL ASSETS
Water Distribution System 9,625,966
Land 94,243
Water Rights 980,105
Easements 152,989
Construction in Progress 3,871,094
Accumulated Depreciation (4,066,574)

Net Capital Assets 10,657,823

OTHER ASSETS
Prepaid Bond Insurance, Net 17,745
Deferred Loss on Refunding 60,038

Other Assets 77,783

TOTAL ASSETS 14,831,690$

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 181,510$
Due to County Treasurer 2,912
Deposit - Refundable Water Meter 850
Accrued Interest Payable 16,683
Loan Series 2020 - Current Portion 190,000

Total Current Liabilities 391,955

LONG - TERM LIABILITIES
Loan - Series 2020 1,565,000
GO Bonds - Series 2017 4,375,000
Bond Premium, Net 223,605

Total Long-Term Liabilities 6,163,605

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unearned Service Fees 4,487

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 4,487

NET POSITION
Net Position 8,271,643

Total Net Position 8,271,643

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

AND NET POSITION 14,831,690$

GREATROCK NORTH WATER & SANITATION DISTRICT
Statement of Net Position - Enterprise Fund

MARCH 31, 2023

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

1

19



Year to Date
Actual

OPERATING REVENUES:

Service Charges - Greatrock 21,923$
Service Charges - Rocking Horse 15,900
Service Charges - Box Elder 38,203
Service Charges - Hayesmount 3,118
Inspection Fees 2,790
Transfer Fees 350
Utility Penalties 674
Box Elder - Water Lease Irrigation 7,500

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 90,458

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Utilities 11,545
Customer Billing 11,341
Distribution System Mntc 9,749
Engineering - Administration 2,180
Equipment and Tools 288
Facility Maintenance & Repair 6,215
Generator Preventative Mntc 3,168
GIS 600
Locates 6,992
Operator Services 20,343
Plant Supplies 1,959
Testing and Reporting 1,451
Water Meters - Cap 150
Water Rights Dev - Eng. 11,556
Water Rights Dev - Legal 10,227

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 97,764

NET INCOME (LOSS) (7,306)

OTHER REVENUES AND (EXPENDITURES)
Property Taxes 478,381
Specific Ownership Taxes 17,044
Interest Income 40,608
Available of Service Fees 540
Accounting (9,440)
County Treasurer's Fee (7,176)
Directors' Fees (1,400)
District Management (30,384)
Election (2,012)
Insurance and Bonds (25,147)
Legal (14,886)
Miscellaneous (2,581)

TOTAL OTHER REVENUES AND (EXPENDITURES) 443,547

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 436,241

BEGINNING NET POSITION 7,835,400

GREATROCK NORTH WATER & SANITATION DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2023

ENTERPRISE FUND

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

2

20



ENDING NET POSITION 8,271,641$

GREATROCK NORTH WATER & SANITATION DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2023

ENTERPRISE FUND

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

3

21



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

4

22



Annual
Budget

Year to Date
Actual Variance

YTD Actual /
Annual Budget

REVENUES

Service Charges - Greatrock 225,310$ 21,923$ (203,387)$ %9.73
Service Charges - Rocking Horse 165,803 15,900 (149,903) %9.59
Service Charges - Box Elder 262,287 38,203 (224,084) %14.57
Service Charges - Hayesmount 35,272 3,118 (32,154) %8.84
Inspection Fees 2,000 2,790 790 %139.50
Transfer Fees 3,000 350 (2,650) %11.67
Utility Penalties 5,000 674 (4,326) %13.48
Water Meters 4,000 - (4,000) %-
Dev Fees - Hayesmount Estates 25,560 - (25,560) %-
Box Elder - Water Lease Irrigation 7,500 7,500 - %100.00
Property Taxes 1,022,556 478,381 (544,175) %46.78
Specific Ownership Taxes 71,579 17,044 (54,535) %23.81
Interest Income 30,000 40,608 10,608 %135.36
Available of Service Fees 24,480 540 (23,940) %2.21

TOTAL REVENUES 1,884,347 627,031 (1,257,316) %33.28

EXPENDITURES
Administrative 299,388 93,026 206,362 %31.07
Operations 874,609 97,763 776,846 %11.18
Capital 3,658,054 7,163 3,650,891 %0.20
Debt Service 386,610 - 386,610 %-

TOTAL EXPENDITURES
5,218,661 197,952 5,020,709 %3.79

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
- - - %-

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES - BUDGET BASIS (3,334,314) 429,079 3,763,393

BEGINNING FUNDS AVAILABLE 3,460,559
ENDING FUNDS AVAILABLE 3,889,638$

ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE
BUDGET BASIS TO GAAP BASIS

Capital Assets, Net 10,657,824
Debt Obligation, Net (6,271,334)
Deferred Inflow of Resources (4,487)

ENDING NET POSITION 8,271,641$

GREATROCK NORTH WATER & SANITATION DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2023

ENTERPRISE FUND

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

5

23



Annual
Budget

Year to Date
Actual Variance

YTD Actual /
Annual Budget

Administrative
Accounting 50,000$ 9,440$ 40,560$ %18.88
Audit 13,000 - 13,000 %-
County Treasurer's Fee 15,338 7,176 8,162 %46.79
Directors' Fees 6,000 1,400 4,600 %23.33
District Management 90,000 30,384 59,616 %33.76
Dues and Membership 1,400 - 1,400 %-
Election 50,000 2,012 47,988 %4.02
Insurance and Bonds 21,000 25,147 (4,147) %119.75
Legal 44,150 14,886 29,264 %33.72
Miscellaneous 8,000 2,581 5,419 %32.26
Payroll Taxes 500 - 500 %-

Total Administrative 299,388 93,026 206,362 %31.07

Operations
Utilities 75,000 11,545 63,455 %15.39
Contingency 70,000 - 70,000 %-
Customer Billing 36,000 11,341 24,659 %31.50
Distribution System Mntc 22,900 9,749 13,151 %42.57
Engineering - Administration 20,100 2,180 17,920 %10.85
Engineering - Operations 33,000 - 33,000 %-
Equipment and Tools 5,000 288 4,712 %5.76
Facility Maintenance & Repair 53,600 6,215 47,385 %11.60
Generator Preventative Mntc 15,000 3,168 11,832 %21.12
GIS 3,000 600 2,400 %20.00
Locates 9,000 6,992 2,008 %77.69
Meter Reading 1,000 - 1,000 %-
Operator Services 129,524 20,343 109,181 %15.71
Plant Supplies 22,000 1,959 20,041 %8.90
Rules and Regulations 2,000 - 2,000 %-
Testing and Reporting 12,400 1,451 10,949 %11.70
Treatment - Maintenance & Repair 82,085 - 82,085 %-
Water Meters - Cap 4,000 150 3,850 %3.75
Water Rights Dev - Eng. 54,000 11,556 42,444 %21.40
Water Rights Dev - Legal 135,000 10,227 124,773 %7.58
Well - Rehab & Repair 90,000 - 90,000 %-

Total Operations 874,609 97,764 776,845 %11.18

Capital
Concentrate Pond 3,658,054 5,803 3,652,251 %0.16
Reverse Osmosis Unit Upgrade - 1,360 (1,360) %-

Total Capital 3,658,054 7,163 3,650,891 %0.20

Debt Service
Bond Interest - 2017 172,244 - 172,244 %-
Loan Interest - 2020 23,166 - 23,166 %-
Loan Principal - 2020 190,000 - 190,000 %-
Paying Agent Fees 1,200 - 1,200 %-

Total Debt Service 386,610 - 386,610 %-

TOTAL 
5,218,661$ 197,953$ 5,020,708$ %3.79

GREATROCK NORTH WATER & SANITATION DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURE DETAIL

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2023

ENTERPRISE FUND

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

6

24



GREATROCK NORTH WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT 
2023 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Services Provided 

Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District (District), was organized on May 27, 1998, as a 
quasi-municipal corporation and a political subdivision of the State of Colorado, and is governed 
pursuant to provisions of the Colorado Special District Act (Title 32, Article 1, Colorado Revised 
Statutes). The District’s service area is located in Adams County, Colorado. The District’s 
purpose is to design, financing, acquisition and construction of certain infrastructure 
improvements necessary to provide pubic water and stormwater drainage and detention to the 
property owners and residents of the District.  

The District has no employees and all operations and administrative functions are contracted. 

The District prepares its budget on the modified accrual basis of accounting in accordance with 
the requirements of Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29-1-105 using its best estimates as of 
the date of the budget hearing. These estimates are based on expected conditions and its 
expected course of actions. The assumptions disclosed herein are those that the District 
believes are significant to the budget. There will usually be differences between the budget and 
actual results, because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and 
those differences may be material. For financial statements reporting under generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP), the District uses the full accrual basis of accounting. 
Consequently, the terminology of “Funds Available” is used in the budget to distinguish the 
difference from GAAP accounting for Fund Balance. Funds Available represents each fund’s 
current assets less its current liabilities except for the current portion of long-term debt. In 
addition, the budget separates individual funds, which are included as one entity in the GAAP 
presentation. 

The budget provides for the annual debt service on the District’s general obligation debt as well 
as the general operation of the District and capital improvements. 

Revenues 

Property Taxes 

Property taxes are levied by the District’s Board of Directors. The levy is based on assessed 
valuations determined by the County Assessor generally as of January 1 of each year. The levy 
is normally set by December 15 by certification to the County Commissioners to put the tax lien 
on the individual properties as of January 1 of the following year. The County Treasurer collects 
the determined taxes during the ensuing calendar year. The taxes are payable by April or, if in 
equal installments, at the taxpayer’s election, in February and June. Delinquent taxpayers are 
notified in August and generally sales of the tax liens on delinquent properties are held in 
November or December. The County Treasurer remits the taxes collected monthly to the 
District. 

The calculation of the taxes levied is displayed on the Property Tax Summary Information page 
of the budget using the adopted mill levy imposed by the District.  

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

7

25



GREATROCK NORTH WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT 
2023 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Revenues (continued) 

Specific Ownership Taxes 

Specific ownership taxes are set by the State and collected by the County Treasurer, primarily 
on vehicle licensing within the County as a whole. The specific ownership taxes are allocated by 
the County Treasurer to all taxing entities within the County. The budget assumes that the 
District’s share will be equal to approximately 7% of the property taxes collected by the General 
Fund and Debt Service Fund. 

Water Service Charges 

The District bills its customers monthly for water services. Revenue for water service is 
comprised of billings to residential customers. Fees are based upon a base fee and water meter 
readings at established rates. 

Availability of Service Fees 

The District anticipates collecting approximately $3,000 in availability of service fees. Availability 
of service fees are imposed on properties in need of future services. 

Water Lease Irrigation 

The District anticipates collecting $7,500 from Box Elder Creek Ranch Water Company for the 
option to lease a portion of its Laramie-Fox Hills aquifer ground water available for specific uses. 

Net Investment Income 

Interest earned on the District's available funds has been estimated based on historical interest 
earnings. 

Expenditures 

Administrative and Operating Expenditures 

Administrative expenditures include the estimated services necessary to maintain the District’s 
administrative viability such as legal, management, accounting, insurance, and meeting 
expense. Operating and maintenance expenditures are estimated expenditures related to the 
operation, repair and maintenance if the District water plant and systems. 

County Treasurer’s Fees 

County Treasurer’s fees have been computed at 1.5% of property tax collections. 

Capital Outlay 

The budget anticipates construction activity during 2023, primarily for infrastructure 
improvements within the development. These expenditures are detailed within the budget. 

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

8

26



GREATROCK NORTH WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT 
2023 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Expenditures (continued) 

Debt Service 

Principal and interest payments in 2023 are provided based on the debt amortization schedule 
from the $4,750,000 Series 2017 General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds and 
the $1,970,000 Series 2020 Loan Agreement (discussed under Debt and Leases). 

Debt and Leases 

Series 2017 

On December 21, 2017, the District issued $4,750,000 in Series 2017 General Obligation 
Refunding and Improvement Bonds, which bears average interest of 2.950%, maturing on 
December 1, 2044.  The Series 2017 Bonds refunded the Series 2007 Bonds and provided 
$2,000,000 for capital infrastructure projects. 

The bonds are secured by and payable from the levy of ad valorem taxes consisting of monies 
derived by the District from the following sources, net of any collection costs (1) revenues from 
an ad valorem mill levy imposed upon all taxable property of the District each year, and (2) the 
portion of the specific ownership tax which is collected as a result of the imposition of the mill 
levy. The District is required to levy an ad valorem tax to pay the principal of, and interest on, 
the bonds without limitation as to rate and in an amount sufficient to pay the bonds when due. 
The adopted mill levies imposed the District, are displayed on the Property Tax Summary 
Information page of the budget. 

Series 2020 

On September 10, 2020, the District issued $1,970,000 of debt under the Series 2020 Loan 
Agreement, which bears interest of 1.320%, maturing on December 1, 2030.  The Series 2020 
Loan refunded the Series 2010 Bonds. 

The bonds are secured by and payable from the levy of ad valorem taxes consisting of monies 
derived by the District from the following sources, net of any collection costs (1) revenues from 
an ad valorem mill levy imposed upon all taxable property of the District each year, and (2) the 
portion of the specific ownership tax which is collected as a result of the imposition of the mill 
levy. The District is required to levy an ad valorem tax to pay the principal of, and interest on, 
the bonds without limitation as to rate and in an amount sufficient to pay the bonds when due. 
The adopted mill levies imposed the District, are displayed on the Property Tax Summary 
Information page of the budget. 

The District has no capital or operating leases. 

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

9

27



GREATROCK NORTH WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT 
2023 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Reserves 

Emergency Reserve 

The District has provided for an emergency reserve equal to at least 3% of the fiscal year 
spending as defined under TABOR. 

This information is an integral part of the accompanying budget. 

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

10

28



Enterprise
Fund

First Bank - Checking Account (7792)
Balance as of March 31, 2023 159,950.22$        
Subsequent activities:

04/03/23 - Deposit 1,276.45              
04/04/23 - Deposit 695.71                 
04/05/23 - Deposit 207.78                 
04/06/23 - Deposit 764.57                 
04/06/23 - Deposit - Charge Back (302.76)                
04/06/23 - Directors' Fees (538.25)                
04/07/23 - Bill.com Payments (129,659.20)         
04/07/23 - Deposit 154.90                 
04/10/23 - Deposit 330.38                 
04/13/23 - Deposit 452.17                 
04/17/23 - Deposit 277.13                 
04/18/23 - Deposit 358.26                 
04/19/23 - Deposit 1,438.34              
Anticipated CenturyLink ACH (369.27)                
Anticipated United Power ACH (3,618.75)             
Anticipated Xcel - ACH (183.98)                
Anticipated MyAssetMap ACH (199.99)                
Anticipated Transfer from CT 45,000.00            
Anticipated Bill.com Payments (53,825.70)           

Anticipated balance 22,208.01            

First Bank - Lockbox Account (3070)
Balance as of March 31, 2023 205,916.91          
Subsequent activities:

04/04/23 - Paymentech Fee (30.00)                  
04/30/23 - Deposit (Utility Payments) - April 22,413.72             

Anticipated balance 228,300.63          

ColoTrust - General (8001)

Balance as of March 31, 2023 3,579,791.66       

Subsequent activities: 

04/10/23 - PTAX - MAR23 87,810.57            

Anticipated Transfer to 1st Bank (45,000.00)           

Anticipated balance 3,622,602.23       

Grand Total 3,873,110.87$     

Yield information as of 03/31/23:  
FirstBank Lockbox - 0.05%
ColoTrust - 4.8592%

GREATROCK NORTH WATER & SANITATION DISTRICT
Schedule of Cash Position

March 31, 2023
Updated as of April 20, 2023

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

11

29



GREATROCK NORTH WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT
Property Taxes Reconciliation

2023

Delinquent Specific Net Total
Property Taxes, Rebates Ownership Treasurer's Amount Cash 

Taxes and Abatements Taxes Interest Fees Received Monthly Y-T-D Received Monthly Y-T-D

Beg Balance
January -$                    -$                       5,611.48$          -$                     -$                   5,611.48$           0.00% 0.00% 13,788.83$         0.82% 0.82%
February 395,156.90         -                         5,613.70            -                       (5,927.35)           394,843.25         38.64% 38.64% 56,379.08           4.99% 5.81%
March 83,224.41           -                         5,819.26            15.49                   (1,248.59)           87,810.57           8.14% 46.78% 412,070.07         40.24% 46.06%
April -                      -                         -                     -                       -                     -                      0.00% 46.78% 57,333.50           5.67% 51.73%
May -                      -                         -                     -                       -                     -                      0.00% 46.78% 60,849.73           5.48% 57.21%
June -                      -                         -                     -                       -                     -                      0.00% 46.78% 407,442.84         39.80% 97.01%
July -                      -                         -                     -                       -                     -                      0.00% 46.78% 21,786.28           0.79% 97.80%
August -                      -                         -                     -                       -                     -                      0.00% 46.78% 17,995.76           1.13% 98.93%
September -                      -                         -                     -                       -                     -                      0.00% 46.78% 9,522.00             0.20% 99.13%
October -                      -                         -                     -                       -                     -                      0.00% 46.78% 6,640.52             0.02% 99.15%
November -                      -                         -                     -                       -                     -                      0.00% 46.78% 6,304.56             0.02% 99.17%
December -                      -                         -                     -                       -                     -                      0.00% 46.78% 6,036.26             0.00% 99.17%

478,381.31$       -$                       17,044.44$        15.49$                 (7,175.94)$         488,265.30$       46.78% 46.78% 1,076,149.43$    99.17% 99.17%

 Taxes Levied  % of Levied 
 Property Taxes 

Collected 
 % Collected to 
Amount Levied 

 Assessed 
Valuation  Mill Levy 

Property Tax
General Fund 663,577.00$          64.89% 310,440.54$        46.78% 31.323             
Debt Service Fund 358,979.00            35.11% 167,940.77          46.78% 16.945             

1,022,556.00$       100.00% 478,381.31$        46.78% 21,184,980$     48.268             

Specific Ownership Tax
General Fund 46,450.00$            64.89% 11,060.71$          23.81%
Debt Service Fund 25,129.00              35.11% 5,983.73              23.81%

71,579.00$            100.00% 17,044.44$          23.81%

Treasurer's Fees
General Fund 9,953.00$              64.89% 4,656.55$            46.79%
Debt Service Fund 5,385.00                35.11% 2,519.39              46.79%

15,338.00$            100.00% 7,175.94$            46.79%

Current Year Prior Year
% of Total Property % of Total Property

Taxes Received Taxes Received

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

12

30



Type Date Num Name Memo Debit Credit Balance

401255 · AR - Country Club Ranch #2 Inclusion

2019 Totals 31,269.51      28,351.10      2,918.41          

2020 Totals 36,503.23      32,000.00      4,503.23          

2021 Totals 30,810.75      41,939.76      (11,129.01)       

Bill 01/31/2022 0007-01 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 150.00           - (3,557.37) 

Bill 01/31/2022 20220 White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron Inclusion Costs 1,748.66        - (1,808.71) 

Bill 01/31/2022 45246 Hayes Poznanovic Inclusion Costs 269.50           - (1,539.21) 

Bill 01/31/2022 3144697 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 276.00           - (1,263.21) 

Bill 02/15/2022 49247 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 306.25           - (956.96) 

Bill 02/28/2022 3173180 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 115.00           - (841.96) 

Bill 02/28/2022 20220 White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron Inclusion Costs 522.75           - (319.21) 

Deposit 03/31/2022 0486 CC Ranchettes Deposit - 5,000.00 (5,319.21) 

Bill 03/31/2022 3218565 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 46.00             - (5,273.21) 

Bill 03/31/2022 21244 White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron Inclusion Costs 505.84           - (4,767.37) 

Bill 04/30/2022 0007-02 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 900.00           - (3,867.37) 

Bill 04/30/2022 45800 Hayes Poznanovic Inclusion Costs 637.00           - (3,230.37) 

Bill 04/30/2022 3280967 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 851.00           - (2,379.37) 

Bill 04/30/2022 21781 White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron Inclusion Costs 1,595.41        - (783.96) 

Bill 05/15/2022 49740 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 1,470.00        - 686.04 

Bill 05/31/2022 22242 White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron Inclusion Costs 803.60           - 1,489.64 

Bill 05/31/2022 45981 Hayes Poznanovic Inclusion Costs 808.50           - 2,298.14 

Bill 05/31/2022 3313384 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 276.00           - 2,574.14 

Bill 06/15/2022 49943 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 551.25           - 3,125.39 

Bill 06/30/2022 22918 White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron Inclusion Costs 79.95             - 3,205.34 

Bill 06/30/2022 3343258 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 230.00           - 3,435.34 

Bill 06/30/2022 46163 Hayes Poznanovic Inclusion Costs 661.50           - 4,096.84 

Bill 07/15/2022 50142 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 245.00           - 4,341.84 

Bill 07/31/2022 3373147 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 25.00             - 4,366.84 

Bill 09/30/2022 3436941 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 50.00             - 4,416.84 

Deposit 10/18/2022 CC Ranchettes Deposit - 5,000.00 (583.16) 

Bill 11/30/2022 0005-08 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 300.00           - (283.16) 

Bill 12/15/2022 51046 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 707.50           - 424.34 

2022 Totals 14,131.71      10,000.00      4,131.71          

Bill 01/31/2023 0005-09 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 1,200.00        - 1,624.34 

Bill 01/31/2023 47490 Hayes Poznanovic Inclusion Costs 700.00           - 2,324.34 

Bill 02/15/2023 51427 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 198.75           - 2,523.09 

Bill 02/28/2023 47608 Hayes Poznanovic Inclusion Costs 1,675.00        - 4,198.09 

Bill 02/28/2023 3594165 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 60.00             - 4,258.09 

Bill 03/31/2023 3647778 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 630.00           - 4,888.09 

Bill 03/31/2023 3594165 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 60.00             - 4,948.09 

2023 Totals 4,523.75        - 4,523.75 

Total 401255 · AR - Country Club Ranch #2 Inclusion 117,238.95    112,290.86    4,948.09          

Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District

Inclusion Detail Report

As of March 31, 2023

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

13

31



Type Date Num Name Memo Debit Credit Balance

Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District

Inclusion Detail Report

As of March 31, 2023

401256 · AR - Ridgeview Estates Inclusion

2019 Totals 3,833.01        3,500.00        333.01             

2020 Totals 7,726.69        8,000.00        (273.31)            

2021 Totals 7,485.21        6,000.00        1,485.21          

Deposit 05/20/2022 1072 Ridgeview Properties LLC Deposit - 2,000.00 (455.09)            

Bill 07/31/2022 3373147 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 150.00           - (305.09) 

Bill 08/31/2022 0004-06 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 750.00           - 444.91 

Deposit 09/09/2022 1085 Ridgeview Properties Deposit - 2,000.00 (1,555.09) 

Bill 10/31/2022 24785 White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron Inclusion Costs 4,425.44        - 2,870.35 

Bill 11/30/2022 0004-07 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 300.00           - 3,170.35 

Bill 12/31/2022 0004-08 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 150.00           - 3,320.35 

2022 Totals 5,775.44        4,000.00        1,775.44          

Total 401256 · AR - Ridgeview Estates Inclusion 24,820.35      21,500.00      3,320.35          

401258 · AR - Homestead Heights/CC#1 Inclusion

2019 Totals 2,929.50        - 2,929.50 

2020 Totals 5,924.31        5,000.00        924.31             

2021 Totals 20,183.98      21,625.00      (1,441.02)         

Deposit 04/01/2022 5475 Three Sons Construction Deposit - 2,000.00 412.79             

Bill 06/30/2022 0005-06 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 2,175.00        - 2,587.79 

Bill 08/31/2022 0005-07 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 150.00           - 2,737.79 

2022 Totals 2,325.00        2,000.00        325.00             

Bill 03/31/2023 51573 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 927.50           - 927.50 

2023 Totals 927.50           - 927.50 

Total 401258 · AR - Homestead Heights/CC#1 Inclusion 32,290.29      28,625.00      3,665.29          

401259 · AR - Epic Estates Inclusion

2021 Totals 1,969.25        5,000.00        (3,030.75)         

Deposit 05/20/2022 2652 Western Engineering Consultants Deposit - 10,000.00 (13,030.75)       

Bill 06/15/2022 49944 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 569.27           - (12,461.48) 

Bill 06/30/2022 0006-02 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 300.00           - (12,161.48) 

Bill 06/30/2022 22918 White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron Inclusion Costs 1,910.60        - (10,250.88) 

Bill 06/30/2022 46165 Hayes Poznanovic Inclusion Costs 1,104.00        - (9,146.88) 

Bill 06/30/2022 3343258 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Inclusion Costs 506.00           - (8,640.88) 

Bill 08/31/2022 46519 Hayes Poznanovic Inclusion Costs 98.00             - (8,542.88) 

Bill 09/15/2022 50486 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 61.25             - (8,481.63) 

Bill 09/30/2022 46667 Hayes Poznanovic Inclusion Costs 269.50           - (8,212.13) 

2022 Totals 4,818.62        10,000.00      (5,181.38)         

Total 401259 · AR - Epic Estates Inclusion 6,787.87        15,000.00      (8,212.13)         

401261 · AR - Horse Creek Retreat Inclusion

Deposit 07/15/2022 1873 John Fritzel Deposit - 3,000.00 (3,000.00)         

Bill 07/31/2022 0008-01 Element Engineering, LLC Inclusion Costs 450.00           - (2,550.00) 

Bill 07/31/2022 46344 Hayes Poznanovic Inclusion Costs 367.50           - (2,182.50) 

Bill 08/15/2022 50219 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 1,305.00        - (877.50) 

Bill 09/15/2022 50787 Bishop Brogden Associates, Inc Inclusion Costs 306.25           - (571.25) 

2022 Totals 2,428.75        3,000.00        (571.25)            

Total 401261 · AR - Horse Creek Retreat Inclusion 2,428.75        3,000.00        (571.25)            

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, 
and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.   

14

32



 
Greatrock North Water & Sewer District 

Monthly Activities Report 
March 16th, 2023 – April 14th, 2023 

 

Daily Operations Summary 

Greatrock North (GRN): Record LFH Well #1, UKA Well #1, and distribution flow totalizers. Visual 
inspection of generator to record run hours and check for any active faults. Collect and analyze chlorine 
residual sample each visit. Collect entry point sample to analyze for pH and conductivity weekly. Complete 
walk through of pump station to inspect distribution pumps, distribution pressure/tank level, and verify 
operation of PRV. 

Rocking Horse Farms (RHF): Record LFH Well #2, UKA Well #3, and distribution flow totalizers. Visual 
inspection of generator to record run hours and check for any active faults. Collect and analyze chlorine 
residual sample each visit. Collect entry point sample to analyze for pH and conductivity weekly. Complete 
walk through of pump station to inspect distribution pumps, distribution pressure/tank level, and verify 
operation of PRV. 

Box Elder (BE): Check SCADA for any active alarms and record process numbers. Record flow totalizers 
for wells, RO skid, and distribution meters. Visual inspection of generator to record run hours and check 
for any active faults. Collect and analyze chlorine residual sample each visit. Collect entry point sample to 
analyze for pH and conductivity weekly. Complete walk through of pump station to inspect distribution 
pumps, distribution pressure/tank level, and verify operation of PRV. Complete walk through of RO 
building to verify proper operation and record equipment run hours. Check chemical feed systems for 
proper operation and refill day tanks, as necessary. 

03/16/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. 

03/17/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility.  

03/20/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility.   

03/21/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Brought the new electric transfer pump from 
REC to BE to be used to fill the antiscalant tank for the RO's. Manually filled RHF tank. Reset 
communication to ALV Well #1 to operate when asked to fill the tanks automatically. 

03/22/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. 

03/23/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. 

03/24/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility.  

03/27/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Responded to a residence complaint of high 
pressure at 16755 Stroilway St. Checked pressure inside and outside to find the pressure within normal 
range. Suggested to resident that if a lower pressure was needed to have a plumber install a pressure 
reducing valve. 

03/28/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Completed monthly work orders. 

03/29/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Lowered chlorine pumping speed to keep 
chlorine residual consistent at current levels. Cleaned GRN pump station. 

33



03/30/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Completed March monthly work orders. 
Completed general cleaning in pump and well houses. 

03/31/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. 

04/03/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Collected all the monthly and quarterly samples 
and delivered to Colorado Analytical. 

04/04/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Responded to a meter leak at 28395 E 163rd Pl. 
Turned the water off and pumped the pit out then attempted to replace the meter but the service side of the 
yoke is damaged. Contacted American West Construction to provide estimate for repair. 

04/05/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Began working on April monthly work orders. 

04/06/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Met with American West Construction to for 
site walk to provide proposal to assist with determining source of backpressure to old RO building and 
repairs at 28395 E 163rd PL. 

04/07/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. 

04/10/2023 (4.0hr) Routine site visit. Regular rounds and checks of each facility. Started working the 
manual meter read list and replacing ERTs that will not reset. 

04/11/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Continued working on the manual meter read 
list. Opened the RHF tank fill valve to 20 GPM due to usage increasing the last two days.  

04/12/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Opened up RHF fill valve to 24 GPM to meet 
the average daily demand. Completed manual meter read list and sent readings over to the billing 
department. Installed ERTs on meters that did not have them on yet and replaced faulty ERTs in RHF. 

04/13/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. 

04/14/23 (4.0hr) Completed routine checks at each facility. Continued to work on monthly work orders. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

34



 March 16th – April 14th, 2023  

RO Run Time 69.7 

RO Concentrate Flow: 1 Pond (South) 230,010 
 

 Sampled Date: April 3, 2023 

Monthly 
Testing 

TDS 
(mg/L) 

Calcium 
(mg/L) 

Magnesium 
(mg/L) 

Total 
Hardness 

(mg/L) 

BE 216 mg/L 10.9 mg/L 2.10 mg/L 35.8 mg/L 

RHF 253 mg/L 19.1 mg/L 3.8 mg/L 33.5 mg/L 

GRN 233 mg/L 10.6 mg/L 1.98 mg/L   34.8 mg/L 
 
 
 
 

35



Services Installation Report
GREATROCK NORTH WATER & SANITATION DISTRICT04/12/23 08:29

ub634_pg.php/Job No: 56370
Page 1 of 1
USER: BRI

Installed From: 03/12/23 To: 04/12/23

Current

Account Name Location Service Address SVC

Svc

Size

Svc

Type

User

Type

Flat Chg

Amount

Last Bill

Amount

Last Bill

Date

Install

Date

Line

Code

Meter

Status

36



������������	��

��

��������������������������������� !"��"#�$%�%�&���'�()��� *+,-�./00/1*2�/3044541*�67&�""8"��9:�,-�;<=;>;?�,<=@�=@�A;B@C;�;DD;B=,E;�F-�@D�=+;�
=+�?FG�@D�H;A>IF>GJ�	�	KJ�AG�F<?�A;=L;;<�MNO1*02�MPOQ�0/1MR4**4SJ�PPMJ�F�M@T@>F?@�T,C,=;?�T,FA,T,=G�B@CUF<GJ�,=-�-IBB;--@>-�F<?�U;>C,==;?�F--,V<-�6=+;�7WXYXZ[\X]9:J�F<?�304/*0NM̂ �1N0*R�./*40�/1_�S/1̀*̀*̀N1�_̀S*0̀M*J�F�aIF-,bCI<,B,UFT�B@>U@>F=,@<�F<?�U@T,=,BFT�-IA?,E,-,@<�@D�=+;�S=F=;�@D�M@T@>F?@�6=+;�7Wcde]cfe9:���� ���g�hi��� .R404/SJ�=+;�_,-=>,B=�+F-�,<,=,FTTG�FBB;U=;?�B;>=F,<�UIAT,B�,<D>F-=>IB=I>;J�,CU>@E;C;<=-J�DFB,T,=,;-�F<?�-;>E,B;-�6B@TT;B=,E;TGJ�=+;�7j���% �g�k��#��� ���"9:�B@<-=>IB=;?�AG�=+;�_;E;T@U;>�UI>-IF<=�=@�=+;�̀<,=,FT�/BB;U=F<B;�0;-@TI=,@<J�?F=;?�H;A>IF>G��J�	�	K�6=+;�7lmcecnZ�offX\enmfX�pXd[Zqec[m9:��F<?��� .R404/SJ�_;E;T@U;>�L,-+;-�=@�B@<E;G�=+;�rIAT,B�̀<D>F-=>IB=I>;�-;=�D@>=+�,<��s!%�%��J�F==FB+;?�+;>;=@�F<?�,<B@>U@>F=;?�AG�>;D;>;<B;�67���������������� !"��"#�g8t��u"8"��#9:J�=@�=+;�_,-=>,B=��F<?���� .R404/SJ�=+;�_,-=>,B=�L,-+;-�=@�FBB;U=�M@I<=>G�MTIA�0F<B+;==;-�̀CU>@E;C;<=-�@<�=+;�B@<?,=,@<-�-=F=;?�L,=+,<�=+;�̀<,=,FT�/BB;U=F<B;�0;-@TI=,@<�F<?�=+;�_,-=>,B=vw�xyzww{y|�}{~yw���|�0;VITF=,@<-J�?F=;?�_;B;CA;>�KJ�	���J�F-�FC;<?;?�6=+;�7���"#������"&����%��#9:��F<?��� .R404/SJ�=+;�_;E;T@U;>�;�;BI=;?�F�Q,TT�@D�SFT;J�?F=;?��F<IF>G���J�	�	KJ�B@<E;G,<V�=+;�M@I<=>G�MTIA�0F<B+;==;-�̀CU>@E;C;<=-�=@�=+;�_,-=>,B=�F-�>;aI,>;?�AG�=+;�̀<,=,FT�/BB;U=F<B;�0;-@TI=,@<��F<?��� .R404/SJ�UI>-IF<=�=@�=+;�0IT;-�F<?�0;VITF=,@<-J�=+;�_,-=>,B=�>;aI,>;-�F�LF>>F<=G�U;>,@?�@<�F<G�UIAT,B�,<D>F-=>IB=I>;��F<?���� .R404/SJ�=+;�_,-=>,B=�F<?�=+;�_;E;T@U;>�?;-,>;�=@�-=F=;�=+;,>�,<=;<=,@<-�L,=+�>;VF>?-�=@�=+;�LF>>F<=G�D@>�=+;�M@I<=>G�MTIA�0F<B+;==;-�̀CU>@E;C;<=-�,<,=,FTTG�FBB;U=;?�I<?;>�=+;�̀<,=,FT�/BB;U=F<B;�0;-@TI=,@<���� 1N.J�*R404HN04J�,<�B@<-,?;>F=,@<�@D�=+;�CI=IFT�U>@C,-;-�F<?�B@E;<F<=-�B@<=F,<;?�+;>;,<J�F<?�D@>�@=+;>�V@@?�F<?�EFTIFAT;�B@<-,?;>F=,@<J�=+;�_;E;T@U;>�F<?�=+;�_,-=>,B=�+;>;AG�FV>;;�F-�D@TT@L-��� *405S�/1_�MN1_̀*̀N1S�� ��� ��������'��*+;�_;E;T@U;>�FV>;;-�=@�LF>>F<=J��;;U�,<�V@@?�>;UF,>J�F<?�=@�CF�;�F<G�>;UF,>-�@>�B+F<V;-�>;aI,>;?�AG�=+;�_,-=>,B=�=@�=+;�M@I<=>G�MTIA�0F<B+;==;-�̀CU>@E;C;<=-�?;-B>,A;?�,<��s!%�%���I<=,T�=+;G�F>;�D,<FTTG�FBB;U=;?�AG�=+;�_,-=>,B=���*+;�_;E;T@U;>�LF>>F<=-�=@�=+;�_,-=>,B=�=+F=�=+;�M@I<=>G�MTIA�0F<B+;==;-�̀CU>@E;C;<=-�F>;�@D�V@@?�aIFT,=G�F<?�<;L�I<T;--�@=+;>L,-;�>;aI,>;?�@>�U;>C,==;?J�F<?�=+F=�6�:�=+;�M@I<=>G�MTIA�0F<B+;==;-�̀CU>@E;C;<=-��B@<D@>C�=@�=+;�FUU>@E;?�UTF<-�F<?�-U;B,D,BF=,@<-�I<?;>�L+,B+�=+;�M@I<=>G�MTIA�0F<B+;==;-�̀CU>@E;C;<=-�L;>;�B@<-=>IB=;?��F<?�6	:�-IB+�M@I<=>G�MTIA�0F<B+;==;-�̀CU>@E;C;<=-�B@<D@>C�=@�FTT�FUUT,BFAT;�-=F<?F>?-�D@>�B@<-=>IB=,@<�@D�=+;�-FC;���M@I<=>G�MTIA�0F<B+;==;-�̀CU>@E;C;<=-�<@=�B@<D@>C,<V�=@�=+;-;�>;aI,>;C;<=-J�,<BTI?,<V�-IA-=,=I=,@<-�<@=�U>@U;>TG�FUU>@E;?�F<?�FI=+@>,�;?J�CFG�A;�B@<-,?;>;?�?;D;B=,E;�F<?�>;aI,>;�B@>>;B=,@<�+;>;I<?;>�F-�>;B@CC;<?;?�

���������������������������������������������������� �����
37



������������	��

��

������������������������������� !�" �#$%�$&&!'(��)**�+,--,.�/�0�1-23/4�4�/.�����5.4�-*/.6�72.0�-57�/2.�42758�.�0�92-�����:25.�-�:*5��;,.7�����0�<81-23�8�.�0=�/.7*54/.6�+,--,.�/�0�92-�8,��-/,*0=�05�72.�-,7�2-0�,.4�8,��-/,*�0511*/�-0�,-����-���,00/6.�4��2�����>/0�-/7�����>�3�*21�-�0�,**�,*02�2��,/.�,.4�8,/.�,/.�,**�1�-8/�0=�*/7�.0�0=�,.4�2���-�72.0�.�0�-�?5/-�4�9-28�,**�623�-.8�.��,5��2-/�/�0=�5�/*/��7281,./�0=�,.4�,11-21-/,���1,-�/�0�5.4�-�,.�-�0�-/7�/3��723�.,.�0�/.�72..�7�/2.�+/���/�0�+2-@�2.�����:25.�-�:*5��;,.7�����0�<81-23�8�.�0�5.�/*�057��1�-8/�0�*/7�.0�0=�,.4�2���-�72.0�.�0�,-��4�,7�/3,��4�2-�2���-+/0��0,�/09/�4�,.4�7*20�4�,.4�0�,**�8,/.�,/.�����,-�,�723�-�4�������1�-8/��*/7�.0�0=�,.4�2���-�72.0�.�0��2�����0,�/09,7�/2.�29�����/005/.6�A5-/04/7�/2.�,.4�����>/0�-/7����>�3�*21�-�+,--,.�0���,��.2�7*,/80��B/0��2-�+/**����05�8/���4�,6,/.0������>/0�-/7����	�� CD$EF�GH����I�����J�KHL�����HMK��N��H��N���H��O��P,--,.��1-/2-��2�����12/.��,��+�/7������:25.�-�:*5��;,.7�����0�<81-23�8�.�0�,-��9/.,**�,77�1��4�������>/0�-/7�=�����>�3�*21�-�0�,**�95-./0��,�+,--,.���2.4�05�0�,.�/,**�/.�����92-8�0���92-���/.�#QR�S� �C�,��,7��4���-��2��T���+,--,.���2.4�850�����/.�,��2.4�,825.��29�9/3��1�-7�.��U��VW�29�����3,*5��29�����:25.�-�:*5��;,.7�����0�<81-23�8�.�0��T���+,--,.���2.4�1�-/24�+/**��B��.4��2�,�4,���2.��U�W��,-�9-28�����4,���29�����<./�/,*�)77�1�,.7��;�02*5�/2.��T���>�3�*21�-�0�,**�4�*/3�-�����95**��B�75��4�+,--,.���2.4��2�����>/0�-/7��+/��/.���/-��UX�W�YNZ��H[��O����������������IN����H[�����\����NK�]���L�N����̂��HKI��H�����X�� _!D"&���̀D!�ab!&F��T���>/0�-/7��8,�1-23/4��+-/���.�.2�/7���2�����>�3�*21�-�29�,.�7*,/8�4�4�9�7��/.�����:25.�-�:*5��;,.7�����0�<81-23�8�.�0�,��,.��/8��+/��/.�����+N��N��Z�c���HY���O���ade�f�gD �"&'(h��GO����J�KHL����ONKK��NI����O��Y�[�����H�M���I��Y�N���H��H����H��O������-/7��+/��/.���/-��UX�W�4,0�92**2+/.6�/�0�-�7�/1��29�����:*,/8�i2�/7���1-23/4�4=��2+�3�-=���,��/9�����4�9�7��7,..2�����-�,02.,�*�75-�4�+/��/.�057����/-��UX�W�4,�1�-/24=�����>�3�*21�-�0�,**�7,50��+2-@��2����/./�/,��4��2�75-������4�9�7��+/��/.�057����/-��UX�W�4,�1�-/24=�,.4�0�,**�4/*/6�.�*�1-27��4��2�7281*��/2.=��5��/.�.2��3�.��0�,**�057��75-��72.�/.5��92-�82-����,.�./.���U��W�4,0�+/��25��.2�/7���2�����>/0�-/7��,.4�+-/���.�72.0�.��29�����>/0�-/7��,6-��/.6��2�057���B��.4�4�75-��1�-/24���T���>/0�-/7�=���-256������>/0�-/7��j.6/.��-=�0�,**��,3���������O���H����L����N�Y�NLL�HJ���O��PN��N��Z�PH�kl�PO��O�NLL�HJNK��ONKK�M������O���������������N�H�NMK��Y�������H��MN��Y�ILH���O�����������m�������������Hnn��YN��H�h�\[��O����J�KHL���[N�K���H��NI����O��Y�[�����2����75-�4�+/��/.�����,11*/7,�*��75-��1�-/24=�/��0�,**����4��8�4�,�4�9,5*����-�5.4�-�,.4�����>/0�-/7��8,�1-27��4��2��.92-7��,**�-�,02.,�*��,.4�*�6,*�,7�/2.��2�75-������4�9�7������� ��� gD�o�&$�F���T���>�3�*21�-���-���-�1-�0�.�0���,��.2�*/�.0�2-�7*,/80��,3�����.�9/*�4�,6,/.0������1-21�-��,.4�,6-��0��2�-�02*3��,.�7*,/80=�-�*,��4��2�����72.0�-57�/2.�29�����:25.�-�:*5��;,.7�����0�<81-23�8�.�0=�,��/�0��B1�.0��,.4��2�/.4�8./9�,.4��2*4��,-8*�00�����>/0�-/7�=�/�0�0577�002-0=�,.4�,00/6.0�,6,/.0��,**�*/,�/*/�/�0=�*200�0�,.4p2-�4,8,6�0�29�,.�@/.4�,-/0/.6�25��29�,.�*/�.0�7*,/80=�4�8,.40=�720�0=�A5468�.�0=�,.4p2-�2���-��B1�.0�0�,0027/,��4�+/���,.�,7��2-�28/00/2.�29�����>�3�*21�-�/.�����1�-92-8,.7��29�72.0�-57�/2.�29�����:25.�-�:*5��;,.7�����0�<81-23�8�.�0������92-�62/.6�01�7/9/7,**�/.7*54�0=�P��OHI��K�n��N��H�l�N��H���Z���[���h��).�,.4�,**�4,8,6��2-�/.7/4�.�0�850�����-�12-��4��2�����>/0�-/7��/88�4/,��*�,9��-�/�0�2775--�.7����� ��� ��&̀ebd qr&f&E�&�F��s/�������01�7/9/7��B7�1�/2.�29�,�4�9,5*��/.��O����J�KHL������I���H[�N�Z�7*,/8�4�4�9�7��29�����:25.�-�:*5��;,.7�����0�<81-23�8�.�0=�+�/7��0�,**����623�-.�4�5.4�-�����1-23/0/2.0�29�t�7�/2.�	=�/9��/���-�1,-���2���/0�)6-��8�.��9,/*0��2�1�-92-8�/.�,772-4,.7��+/���������-80�29���/0�)6-��8�.�=�,9��-�6/3/.6���.�U��W�4,0�+-/���.�.2�/7���2�����2���-�1,-��29�����,**�6�4�4�9,5*�=�,.4�512.�0,/4�1,-��/.�4�9,5*���,3/.6�9,/*�4��2�75-��0,/4��-�,7��+/��/.���.�U��W�4,0=�����2���-�1,-��0�,**��,3������-/6����2�15-05��,.�-�8�4�,3,/*,�*����*,+�2-�/.��?5/���

uvwxyz{|�}|~��v����u�����������}�������}��������������u�u�
38



������������	��

��

�� ��� ������������������������� �!"#��!$%&��'��()�*!+�()�"�������"�#�(,%��*"�(!�#�-&"����*!-.(��*&"�(��"+�����&!-��#� *+�!("�,��*����!�-#��!�/�(%��(���!�0*�"#�,+���"����"���1��"��$"�(��"���1�'�%(0���/�"�(&"�"���0��(�#�/��""�!�$(!��!"�()�"���("����0*�"+#�/��$��$(!��!"���*%%�!("�,��&!��*�(!*,%+�/�"���%-���2("/�"��"*!-�!��"���)(��(�!�#�"��������� �!"� *+�,��*����!�-�"(�*�-�'�%(0���"�*"�*$3&�����*%%�(���&,�"*!"�*%%+�*%%�()�"���0�(0��"+�/�"��!�"���1��"��$"����!+�*����! �!"� *-���!�'�(%*"�(!�()�"����4�$"�(!���*%%�,���  �-�*"�%+�'(�-�*!-�()�!(�)(�$��(���))�$"���5(!��!"�"(�(!��*����! �!"���*%%�!("�$(!�"�"&"��$(!��!"�"(�*!+��&,��3&�!"�*����! �!"#�!(����*%%��"�$(!�"�"&"��*�/*�'���()�*!+�����"�"(�$(!��!"�"(��&$���&,��3&�!"�*����! �!"��6(��0&�0(����()�"��������� �!"#�*����! �!"����*%%��!$%&-��*%%�-�%��*"�(!����� ��� 7�8�9�:;���������������� �!"� *+�(!%+�,�� (-�)��-#�* �!-�-�(��$�*!��-#��!�/�(%��(���!�0*�"#�,+�/*+�()�*�/��""�!�*���� �!"#��<�$&"�-�,+�,("��0*�"����/�"��"����* ��)(� *%�"����*��"��������� �!"����!+� (-�)�$*"�(!��!�'�(%*"�(!�()�"����0�('���(!���*%%�,��!&%%�*!-�'(�-���� 
�� =�>�?;@�A��B���C)�*!+�$%*&���(��0�('���(!�()�"��������� �!"����*-D&-��-��!'*%�-�*!-.(��&!�!)(�$�*,%��,+�*�$(&�"�()�$( 0�"�!"�D&���-�$"�(!�(��,+�(0��*"�(!�()�*!+�%*/#��&$��$%*&���(��0�('���(!���*%%�!("�*))�$"�"���'*%�-�"+�()�"��������� �!"�*��*�/�(%�#�,&"���*%%�,����'���-�����)�( #�%�*'�!��"����� *�!�!������� �!"��!"*$"�*!-��!)(�$�*,%����� ��� =E?>�>;A��9�F@A��;��������G!)&%)�%%�-�(,%��*"�(!��()�,("��"���1��"��$"�*!-�"���1�'�%(0���*����!��&!-���"��������� �!"���*%%�,��-�� �-�"(��&�'�'��*!+��<0��*"�(!#�"�� �!*"�(!�,+�$(&�"�(�-��#�(��("�����!-�"(�"��������� �!"����%%��&$��(,%��*"�(!����*%%�,��,�!-�!��&0(!#�*!-��!&���"(�"���,�!�)�"�()#���"����"���1��"��$"�(��"���1�'�%(0��#�(��,("��*��*00%�$*,%�#�"��������0�$"�'���&$$���(��#�*����!�#�*!-�%��*%��&,�"�"&"������ ���� H��E�������������� �!"���*%%�,���('��!�-�*!-�$(!�"�&�-��!�*$$(�-*!$��/�"��"���%*/��()�"���4"*"��()�5(%(�*-(���� ���� I�>�?�����;A�J��E���B���2("��!���!�"��������� �!"���*%%�,��$(!�"�&�-�"(�$(!�"�"&"��*�KLMNOPQ�MR�KSTUO�TP�MR�VLPWQ�TX�LRY�TX�WSO�ZM[WPM\W][�PM̂SW[�LR_�VPTWO\WMTR[�̀R_OP�WSO�aTUTPL_T�bTNOPRcORWLU�C  &!�"+��$"#�4�$"�(!�	�d��d���#�ef�gehi#�5�j�4���� �	�� ��kl�?8�m;?�B�n���9�:�;?������2("��!���<0�����-�(��� 0%��-��!�"��������� �!"�����!"�!-�-�"(�$(!)���&0(!#�(����'��"(#�*!+�"���-�0���(!�(���!"�"+�"�*"����!("�*�0*�"+�����"(�*!+�����"#��� �-+#�(��$%*� �����&!-������%%�()�"���$('�!*!"�#�"�� �#�$(!-�"�(!�#�*!-�0�('���(!��()�"��������� �!"��<��"�)(��"����(%��*!-��<$%&��'��,�!�)�"�()�"���1��"��$"�*!-�"���1�'�%(0������ �o�� ���:�����p<$�0"�*��("���/����0�('�-�-������!#�*%%�!("�$���(��0*+ �!"����'�!�&!-���"��������� �!"� &�"�,�� *-���!�/��"�!��*!-���*%%�,���*!-�-�%�'���-#���!"�,+�5��"�)��-�G�4��q*�%�/�"����"&�!���$��0"���3&��"�-#���!"�'�*�6���"�5%*���G�4��q*�%#�(����!"�'�*�)*$�� �%��"(�"���)(%%(/�!��*--������r��� 1��"��$"r� � � s��*"�($t�2(�"��u*"���*!-�4*!�"*"�(!�1��"��$"�� � � $.(�u��"�#�v�*���!t�%���*!*t*�w�u*%-�(!�� � � 	����p��5(  (!���'��#�4&�"��	����� � � 5�!"�!!�*%#�5x�
��		�� � � �""!r�y�!!�)���s�&,����*!*t*#�p�3���

z{|}~���������{����z����������������������������������z�z�
39



������������	��

��

� �������� � � �����������������������  ���� � �� � � �!"��#�� ������������ � �� � � #�$�%��&���'�
���"(������ � �� � � )�����*���+����,�-��)������,������&���.����&�,��&�����/�,�&������&�,��&���&���������,�,�����0���,��)$�.�����������&.&���,�&����1�2�&����0��������,��.�,������&�&�,�������0���,.,����������1"2�&�����0���&���,��%,������3�,�&�+�����4������+��,����#,��������,���,����������������.�������$�����&&�������%�,���0��������,������������������%�,�������,����������&���,�&��������� �"�� 56789:;:<=�596>?@��A����������0������,�,$��,�����%������,���,�����&�����������������,�$�������B���.������0���,��)$�.�����������,�,�$�������,��������,�,$��,�����������,��0��.�������,�$��������,���&&,�,����������.������0�����B�&$.������������%��&����&����,�����������������������CDECFGCG�HFI�HJJKLFCMNG�OCCG�PFQRLLCI�SM�GHPI�ELCTHPUPFV�EHLJM�IRLPFV�UPJPVHJPKFW��� ���� XY6>Z76�[\\Y69<]7\@�̂���,���,�����&��������������������������������%,���&���_�������-��%�&$����&�&�,����������������&����_���&����-��%�&$&����&�&�,��&�������������,�����.�������&������0������.����������������/�,�&�0��������0��.�����0���,�������,�����,$��,��������&����� ���� àbc;:9<]7�d:>Z�e9d\@��̂�,��)$�.�������������0��.&�,�������&����%,������&�������_������.,��&�������������,�������%����������$����,�������&,��������&f����,.,����&,���,����0����B��,�&,��,���,��%�,�����,��)$�.���,����0��.&���̂���������&�����������,��������.��,&�%,�������g&�����+������&���������%����������$����,�������&,��������&f����,.,����&,���,����$��&,�$����,������.,�������,0,�������&��,��������������/�,�&��������,&�����������,�$����,�����&����,��)$�.������ �!�� h9:876\@�i��%�,����0������0��������,�,�����0���,��)$�.�����������&.&���������,������%�,����0��������������,�,����0���,��)$�.�������������������%�,��������,����������,��,�$�%�,�������������%,��_�����������,&&���,����i��%�,����0�����&0���������&����������&.&���������,������%�,����0���������/����&0���������&����� ���� j:<k:<=�lmm7]>@��̂�,��)$�.���������,����������&����,�&,�$�����������,���,�����&f����������������,�������,��������������&����,$����� �
�� àY<>76c96>�ln7]Y>:a<@��̂�,��)$�.���.�����_���&�,��������������������������0�%�,�����������&.&������,$,�������&������0�%�,�����$���������������,���������&������.�,�����.����� ���� à<m;:]>:<=�56a8:\:a<\@��̂�,��)$�.�����������������������������0�,��,�$�����,�,�����0������&���,�$����������,�������������0������A.����.�����o,������_���,����0���������0�,��,�$�����,�,�����������������,�������������������$�������

pqrstuvw�xwyz{q|z�}p~����������x�������x��������������p�p�
40



����������	
����������������
��������������������	�����
����

��������������� ����!��"��#$�%&'()�*)+,�- ).)�/+0+1+�2�3+.4,50���
6�7�����8���9�����:�;
����:�<
����� �������
=>?@ABB==C�DE?=FFG�

 �H�I����J�;�KL��M�;8KN���O;P����Q�II;Q���;
:
���
�:�R�����:��ST U V �W�X�Y�Z�[�\�]̂_��̀�$�abcdefghi�j kkkl� m���̀;�$�9������;n�O���o�p������O ���Ò�̀�̀�O� m���̀;�Q���q����rR����s�:�
�t
����u������s
:����:����������
��
������������
��;
:
���
��v���
������ �������

wxyz{|}~��~���x����w����������������������������������w�w�
41



������������	��

��

������������������������������� !"#�$��% ��!�$&�$�#�$�"�'���(�)�'��*+,-./0�1���#&�)���� )���2�����3��*450�%#��&1���,�) !&�����*670�89:;�<=>:?@ABC�?@>�B9DA=EF@;�*G60���&���H!#&��&���3��*I50�%#��&�"�&'�3�"�%����3!&J�"� K"�#�$�L���&�K��",��% �*-0���2�����3��*450�K&�""!&��"!"�#����2�'#1'�",��%���(�) !&�*-70���2�����3��*450�2#���'#1'�"�#"�L &��BM;N989N?OO=�B;A�8F:A<�9@�A<;�89@?O�MO?A�8F:�PFQ@A:=�POQR�S?@N<;AA;B�E�T9O9@U�VF���C�:;NF:>;>�?A�S;N;MA9F@�W�	�	������XX�
C�M?:A�F8�A<;�YFQA<Z;BA�[Q?:A;:�F8�Y;NA9F@�	C�\FZ@B<9M���YFQA<C�S?@U;�X��];BA�F8�A<;�XA<�:̂9@N9M?O�_;:9>9?@C�PFQ@A=�F8�̀>?aBC�YA?A;�F8�PFOF:?>F��
bcdefghi�jiklmcnl�obp�qrsssttuvjwrqvxyxjvuzzyvuzwxqw{qbrbt

42



������������	��

��

���������������������������������� � ��!"�#$%&'�(� )!�"�(� *��+),-�!!�./�00(� #$%&'�12 ���3��4+��)+4���3�� ��!"5�6778&99�:;<=>?=;@A�;A@?B�CD�EFG=>BGGH'� 6778&99�:;<=>?=;@A�;A@?B�CD�EFG=>BGGH'�IJKL��M�0+"!�)���M��)N��O��P/�(��QRIIKSTRRR� UVWXYZ[�\]]ZYXX�̂_�̀aZY[bcX�dZeWfed\g�dg\fY�̂_�* .h)�..5��h.!�h,!� �N���4�)!�#$%&'�i��+!��,j����!-��+!���+)P��+)h!+!h�)��h.!�h,!� k$88$lmn�6o8&&%&lmp�7$m&7�q&r8s$8n�
p�	�	t��6778&99�:;<=>?=;@A�;A@?B�CD�EFG=>BGGH'� u��v�,!'���wxslm8n�wysr�z$l{|&mm&9�}%~8x�&%&lm9��{�x�k�}�����6z�6#������6#6�6���k6��z�#p�6mmx8l&n9�$m��$�p�	�����$9m�wx%%xl9�6�&ls&p��s�m&�	���p�w&lm&ll�$yp�wxyx8$7x�
��		� � �� �� ���)P��xl7�6%xslm'� 1�4� )!5� �xl7�~&8�x7�{x%%&l{&9�xl�m|&�7$m&�m|$m�m|&���9m8�{m��99s&9��m9�}l�m�$y�6{{&~m$l{&�z&9xysm�xl������������������������������������������ ��¡�¢���$l7�z&osy$m�xl9�$l7�{xlm�ls&9�£x8�$�~&8�x7�x£�xl&�¤�¥�n&$8�£xyyx��lo�9s{|�7$m&���$m&�x£��xl7'�1�+!�5��¦x7�£�{$m�xl9�mx�m|�9��xl7�£x8%'�§�#xl&�§��&&�̈$8$o8$~|����s8&mn�$l7��&�&yx~&8p��lm&l7�lo�mx�r&�y&o$yyn�rxsl7�|&8&rnp�9sr©&{m�mx�m|&�m&8%9�9&m�£x8m|�|&8&�lp�7x�&${|�{$s9&�m|�9�k$88$lmn��xl7�mx�r&�7syn�&ª&{sm&7�rn�$l�$sm|x8�«&7�x££�{&8p�$o&lmp�x8�8&~8&9&lm$m��&���&�&yx~&8�$9�̈8�l{�~$y� � �s8&mn�� � �:¬FAA�DC<@A�>@B�CD�®B̄BAC;B<H� � :¬FAA�DC<@A�>@B�CD�°F<B±²H�:?C<;C<@±B�GB@AH��n'� � � �n'� �� :°=³>@±F<BH� � � :°=³>@±F<BH�:́±±@?µ�¶C·B<�CD�́±±C<>B²H�#$%&'�� � #$%&'��� :¶<=>±B̧�C<�±²;B̧H� � � :¶<=>±B̧�C<�±²;B̧H���my&'� � � ��my&'� ��6mm&9m'�� � 6mm&9m'��� :°=³>@±F<BH� � � :°=³>@±F<BH�#$%&'�� � #$%&'��� :¶<=>±B̧�C<�±²;B̧H� � � :¶<=>±B̧�C<�±²;B̧H���my&'� � � ��my&'� �¹C±BGº�:»H�¶<C̄=̧B�GF;;ABB>±@A�B¼B?F±=C>�E²�@>²�@̧ =̧±=C>@A�;@<±=BG½�GF?µ�@G�¾C=>±�̄B>±F<B<G¿�:ÀH�́>²�G=>³FA@<�<BDB<B>?B�±C�®B̄BAC;B<½�°F<B±²½�®=G±<=?±½½�C<�C±µB<�;@<±²�=G�?C>G=̧B<B̧�;AF<@A�·µB<B�@;;A=?@EAB¿�

ÁÂÃÄÅÆÇÈ�ÉÈÊËÌÂÍË�ÎÁÏ�ÐÑÒÒÒÓÓÔÕÉÖÑÐÕ×Ø×ÉÕÔÙÙØÕÔÙÖ×ÐÖÚÐÁÑÁÓ
43



������������	��

��

��������������������������������������������������� ������!��������������������"�#���������!���������������##����������������$���������������#��%���������%��!��#���%����&����#�����'������()*+,-.+/01�1.-.23�+0�.42�5,622720.�-03�89*2�:;<;=�/>�.42�?+1.6+@.A1�89*21�-03�B�$�������������?+1.6+@.A1�89*21�-03�82,9*-.+/01�-62���#���������������� ����%����#���	��C%�����������������%��!�����#����#������������� ��$������������������������������������������������ ��$����������������D��������E�����F��C%�������#��$�����G�����������#�������������������������������$����E����'�������%����������A1�� ��$���������������&����#�����'������( ��$�������������������������������%��%������#�� ��$����������������������� ���������� ���%���%��%���!�����%���#�&����#�����'������( ��$��������������������������%��%�������&����#�����'������( ��$������������%������$������$��������#�����#������������������������������������!���G����������$�����%��%�������&����#�����'������( ��$������������%���������! ��������������#��%���������������$�#�������#������ ��������#��������%��!��$����������A1�H/662@.+/0�I26+/3�( ��$����������#�����$� ���������!��������#����#��������!�����������#�!����������������#���������J42�K962.LA1�*+-)+*+.L�+1�*+7+.23�./�.42�-7/90.�/>�.4+1�M-66-0.L�N/03;�8202O-*�/6�@/0.+09-.+����%����D��������E����G��������!���%����#��!��������������"���������$�������� ������������G�����$������������������������������ ����������������D��������E����%���� ��$��������%��������������������������������������P$���!�����Q����$���%��#�����G�����##�����������D��������E����������������������������������������������#����������������"�#���������!���������������##����������������$����R��P������#�����$����$�������S���� ��������������D��������E����!��� ��������������������#������%�#�!��������������#�������������#���������G�#����&�������&�� �B��#������C!�����!�����������#���������!���� �������������G������G���������%����������������%��������%�����������%��!������ ��$�����������������D��������E��������D�����������#�������������������������#�������������������!���� ��!�����������������������������������G���������D��������E�����
����%���������
����TUV�WXYVVZV[\]���D��������P$���!���� ��G�������������#����������������������%����������#�������$���%�����D��������E�����
�	��̂_[\Ỳa\�b_acZV[\d]P��������#�!���������#�!����������$���!���� ��G�������������#�����������������
�F��̂_YYVa\e_[�fVYe_g�hijeX̀\e_[d]������������������� ���������#�!!��!����������� ��$��������%��������������G��������#�����#����#�������������#�!�����%���%�#�����&�������&�� �B��#������C!�����!�������������%�������'���$����F��%����P$���!���������!�������
����̂_c[\Yk�̂jci�l̀[aUV\\Vd�mZnY_oVZV[\d�]P����%�����������P$���!��������

pqrstuvw�xwyz{q|z�}p~����������x�������x��������������p�p�
44



�����������	
�	�����������������	���	������������ ! ��""!�"� ��#�$�$� %&'&()�	��*���&��%(+,�-&�	��*���&�	./&0	$�-(%/1��	23�'&3�-4	5�3&0	6%$	7	��8	7	6'33'�&9	�1*&	:	;)&	�*���	<�3	=(+�/-	�*�3����/��&	5'*��	23�'&3�-4	5�3&0	6%$��/��&	5(*+�3�	�;�"";�7>%��7���?%�(3-�	���������	$�-(*��&	='1�)�	;? %/1�'&(3�)�	# ��������	>3/1/�'&�3�	��3&/</-'&�	='1�)�	@ ��/&/'�)�	� �/��9	A��4/�)�(&�5'��	��'+�������������	%&'*�/�1�	��'+���B/*�	C����	DEB�7�#���F	���&3'�	B/*�	DE%	:	�'�'�'F ���	%	#&0	%&	%&�	?��G/���'���/)H	G5		@@ ��7; ;I�/��9JA��4/�)K-�'-����-&J-�*�=	���3�))�	#�J;�#J;�JI 			L����M	N���O��P%&'&()�	>3/1/�'�													 Q Q���?	�� ;�@�	=G R����3�	�/��9	A��4/�)													�/��9JA��4/�)K-�'-����-&J-�* S�-'&/���	$�-(%/1�T�P���	UV���W T�P���X�� N���W���A�0�	$J	69-4�<<,�0��.9-4�<<K'��J-�*=3�)/���&%�-(3/&9	S�����	�*'/�H	�--�(�&	�(&0��&/-'&/��	D5���F %/1�'&(3�	����&/���	$3'.�	��	$��/-�E)/�1	�=	���3�))�	;� J;#J�@J"?%/1���	()/�1	*�+/�� %��&�	 Q Q���?	�� ���@	=GY/�.���	 Q Q���?	;������I	=G	%/1����	 Q Q���?	;���"���	=GU���������	L����M	��M	T�P���X��	Z�W���WX��[							�--��&���	;Q?;Q����	 �����#	=G						�$�	+?�@ @ #7+"�<7 I-�7I�"@7�'"�'?��?I"I�3/'�	8�1�3)+3/'�K3�1�3)0�'-J-�*��3��3'&�	%�-3�&'398�1�3)	:	%��)H	��-J%�-(3/&9	S�����	�*'/�H	�--�(�&	�(&0��&/-'&/��	D5���F %/1�'&(3�	����&/���	=3�7)���-&��	%&9��E)/�1	�=	���3�))�	@�J�? J�;�J;?" %��&�	 Q Q���?	;���"���	=GY/�.���	 Q@Q���?	"�?;� ?	�G	%/1����	 Q@Q���?	"�?��??	�GU���������	L����M	��M	T�P���X��	Z�W���WX��[							�--��&���	 Q@Q���?	"�?;� ?	�G						�$�	##@-@'I#7#-'@7 �I?7"I�;7<�I+@@����'�A���/<�3	23(+�3	B'�'4',&'�'4'K.+'�-J-�*%�-(3/&9	S�����	�*'/�H	�--�(�&	�(&0��&/-'&/��	D5���F %/1�'&(3�	����&/���	=3�7)���-&��	%&9��E)/�1	�=	���3�))�	;� J�IJ IJ�#%/1���	()/�1	*�+/�� %��&�	 Q@Q���?	"�?��?@	�GY/�.���	 Q@Q���?	;;��;�@@	�G	%/1����	 Q@Q���?	;;������	�GU���������	L����M	��M	T�P���X��	Z�W���WX��[							�--��&���	 Q@Q���?	;;��;�@@	�G						�$�	" <;"�I'7'<'<7 '��7I-;"7;###�++<-'+�\�	]��W��	T�P���	UV���W T�P���X�� N���W���UM����	Z���V��̂	UV���W T���XW N���W���_P���	Z���V��̂	UV���W T���XW N���W���\������M���̂	Z���V��̂	UV���W T���XW N���W���

45



����������	�
����������� ������ �������������������������� ������ ���������������������� ��������� ��������������������� ��������� ������������
����������������� ������ ��������������� !��"��# $%&'�()��*+,!#�( -)-)./.0�12-12/3�456�+#787�(�9��7��+�( "�*:+7#,�6'�*;�( -)3)./.0�<<2.<233�=5"7>�7�>�6 ?!��#� "�*:+7#,�6'�*;�( -)3)./.0�<<2..2/1�=56 ?!��#�( "�*:+7#,�6'�*;�( -)3)./.0�<<2..2/1�=5@������������ ������ ����������
�A�����A�B�A������������������	��A
�����
46



����������	�����
	��
	��������	
���������		����	����	��	�����	������������������	���	 !��	"�	��	���#��$%	��$	&�	��'"���(	&$	��!	��	#��)�(�	��	$�"	*������	!������	����*��	��	(��*���"���+	,��*��&�(	&���!	���	�-�	�����	��(	*��(������	���	#��)�(��.	��	$�"	�"*-	����*��	��(	(��*���"���	���*�����*���$	�-��".-	�-�	,�*"/�.�	�$����+	������	���(	�-�	�����������	&���!	*����"��$	��(	�-���".-�$�	��(	��	$�"	*��	�**���	�-��	�����������	���*�����*���$	��	$�"�	�������*����	��(	�.���	��	�-��	0��*�����*	1�*��(	��(	/�.���"��	,��*���"��	 01/,%�	#�����	*������	$�"�	�.�������	&$	����*���.	�-�	*-�*23456	7869	95	:;	<=>88	95	?@8	8A8B9>57CB	>8B5>D@	<7D	@C=7<9?>8@E	48F5>8	BACBGC7=	:HIJK;JLME	NC9OC7	9O8	P5B?QC=7	�$����+		RSSTUV	WXWRY	Z[WTR\		��	��$	�����	$�"	��$	��'"���	����	"�	�	#�#��	*�#$	��	��$	��*��(	#��)�(�(	��	��(�	�)����&��	���*�����*���$	��	$�"	&$	"�+	]�"	!���	-�)�	�-�	�&����$	��	(�!����(	��(	#����	(�*"�����	!�	���(	��	$�"	�-��".-	�-�	,�*"/�.�	�$����	("���.	��(	����(�����$	�����	�-�	��.���.	�������	��(�	��	$�"	���*�	��	*�����	�	,�*"/�.�	�**�"���	$�"	��$	�**���	�-�	(�*"�����	���	�	������(	#����(	��	����	 "�"���$	̂_	(�$�%	�����	�"*-	(�*"�����	���	�����	����	��	$�"+	�����	�"*-	�����	��	$�"	!��-	���	"�	��	���(	$�"	#�#��	*�#���	��	��$	�"*-	(�*"�����	����	�"�	����*�	��	$�"�	$�"	!���	&�	*-��.�(	�	_̀+__	#��3#�.�	���+	]�"	��$	��'"���	(���)��$	��	�"*-	#�#��	*�#���	����	"�	&$	�����!��.	�-�	#��*�("��	(��*��&�(	&���!+		aTSbcYXdTUV	e[fY	Z[U\RUS		g�	$�"	(�*�(�	��	��*��)�	����*��	��(	(��*���"���	����	"�	���*�����*���$�	$�"	��$	��	��$	����	*-��.�	$�"�	���(	��(	����	"�	�-��	�-��������	$�"	!���	��	��*��)�	��'"���(	����*��	��(	(��*���"���	���$	��	#�#��	������+	h�!	$�"	�"��	������	"�	��	$�"�	(�*�����	��	��*��)�	�"�"��	����*��	��(	(��*���"��	��	#�#��	������	��(	!��-(��!	$�"�	*������	��	��*��)�	����*��	��(	(��*���"���	���*�����*���$	��	(��*��&�(	&���!+		�[U\RifRUZR\	[j	ZbXUVTUV	e[fY	kTUc		g�	$�"	���*�	��	��*��)�	��'"���(	����*��	��(	(��*���"���	���$	��	#�#��	�������	��	!���	���!	�-�	�#��(	��	!-�*-	!�	*��	*��#����	*������	���#�	��	������*�����	!��-	$�"	��(	(���)����.	���)�*��	��	$�"	&�*�"��	!�	!���	���(	�����	��	���(	�-�	��'"���(	����*��	��	(��*���"���	��	$�"	��	#�#��	�������	��(	�-��	!���	"����	!�	��*��)�	&�*2	����	$�"	$�"�	�*2��!��(.����	��	$�"�	��*��#�	��	�"*-	#�#��	����*��	��	(��*���"���+	�"��-���	$�"	!���	��	���.��	&�	�&��	��	"��	�-�	,�*"/�.�	�$����	��	��*��)�	��'"���(	����*��	��(	*�������	���*�����*���$	����	"�	��	��	��.�	���*�����*���$	(�*"�����	����	"�+		�ll	U[STZR\	XUc	cT\Zl[\fYR\	dTll	mR	\RUS	S[	e[f	RlRZSY[UTZXlle		

nopqrstuvq	wpqtsx	yux	zv{uyr|sp	}v~qot~|sp	qspyrpx	tu�	���������	�������	���ysrvp~	y{sppx	rt�	�t�u	}�	��q�t���	�svyu	wt{ps~�	�puuv�ps	�s|�ps	�yuy�y 47



���������	�
����	���
����������������������
��
���������	����������������������������������������
����������
����	�
���	���
������	��������
����������	�������
�������������	������	
������
�������������������
��������
�������	���
��
��
��������	�����
��������������������������������
����	��	�����
�����	��������	������
���������
����	��������	���
���������������	��������
��
�����
�����������������
��������������	�������������
�����������������
������	�������
����������������	����
����	����
����������
��������
��
����������������
��
���	������������	�����	�����	�����������������
����������	����������
���������
���������������������������
�
���	���
��������������������������
���� ����	������
��������
��
����������������������
�	�������������������������!���������������
��������������������
����������
��
�����������
���������	�����������	������
������
�
����������������������
�����
����������������	��������
���������������	����"#$�%#�&#'%(&%�)*+,%#'-(./#'0**1'�--23��4�	��������
��
�	��
����
�	�����������	�������������
��������������
��
���	�����
�����������
�����	��
��������������������
�����������
���������	�������
���
�������	��������������
�
������������
����������������	��������
�������������������5�������
��
�	�������������������������
�5�6	����������������789:������
������;#�(<=+/1�)*+,%#'-(./#'0**1'�--2�#,�>#?.�'1$�1@(+*�(<<.1//�������
�	�����������������������	��������������������������	����������
����������������	��������
����������
����	����	��	�
�����������������������
��	���
�6	����������������789:������
������������
������������	������	��
���	��	�
��
�
�5���	��������	�������������������	���������������������A�������
����	���������
�����������
�����������	�
�����������	������������������ ����	�����
��������	���������	�
����	�����	���
���
��
����	�������������������
���	�����	������	�
����������������;#�.1B?1/%�C(C1.�&#C+1/�,.#@�)*+,%#'-(./#'0**1'�--2��������	��
���������������	���������������������
�����
����������������	����������	����������������	��
����	�����
�������������	��	�
������	�����������
��6	����������������789:������
������������
������������	������	��
���	��	�
��
�
����	������������������	������������������������������
����������	������A�������������	���������������
�
��
�
��������������;#�$+%D<.($�>#?.�&#'/1'%�$+%D�)*+,%#'-(./#'0**1'�--2������������	��
��
���	���������������
�����������	
	�����
����������������	�����������
�����������
���	����5�

48



�����������	
��������
�����	���
����	�����
����������������
������
��	������������	�����������	�	����������
�������	�����
�������	
���	������
����
����	��
���
�������������������������	
��������������
�
��� !"�
����	��
��������	����
���
�������������	��
�����	��		���
�������������������������������������	�����
�����������#���
��
	���������
	�������
��	�
����
���
��	
���	������
����	���������
�����������
���
�����	���������
����	��
��
�������
�����	����������	�	�	����	�
������	�����
�����	����	
���
��������$%&'()%*�+,)*-,)%�,.*�/012-,)%�����������������	�������������	���
��������	���3
��4�������	������������
5���	���������������	����	�������������	������
��������6��		��677����
�	��
��������
�7������7������������������������	�������������	�����89:.0-;%*<(.<�=0')�,99%//�,.*�90./%.2�20�)%9%(>%�,.*�/(<.�*09'?%.2/�%;%92)0.(9,;;=���
��
������	
����	�	��
�����������	�������
��	�
������	�
�����������������������������	
�
	��������	�
�����
	�������������
������	�	�����������
5����	
��
����������
������	�	��
���5������	����@A43�����B�C�	�	��
���������	
�����	�
�������
������	�
��������5��	����@A43��
���
�����	������������������������
��B��C�	�	��
���������	
������	����@A43�	
����������������������
��������������	
�����	�
�������
���5���	��
���
�����	������������������������D��	���������
���
����	�	
������5�����
	�������������
�������������5�����������	�
�����
��	���������������������	���������	�	���������EFG�HIGJ�JF�KL�MNOII�JF�PQI�IRISJOFHTS�OISFOUQ�MHU�QTNHMJPOIQV�EIWFOI�SRTSXTHN�KYZ[\L[]̂ V�_TJ̀TH�J̀I�aFSPbTNH�QcQJIde���������	����	����������
�����	�	
�KL�MNOII�JF�PQI�IRISJOFHTS�OISFOUQ�MHU�QTNHMJPOIQVf�cFP�SFHWTOd�	�	6�g� h
������������������	����@���	�
����A��
������4���	����3����
���������g� h
���������	�
�������	����@���	�
����A��
������4���	����3����
������
���5��
�������	����@���	�
����A��
������3����
�����	
���
�	�
���������
���������	��	���
����	���������������������������g� i�	���
����������
���
	���� ���	
�!��
�"�����!!j��������������
5����
���
����	�	
������5���������5����	��
��������	�
�������������
	�����������
��������	�
��k	�
�������
���������	������
	�����
�����	��	�	�������������	
������
5�����
������5������	
��
����� ���	
�!��
�"�����!!j��������	����
�����
���
������	�
��������	�� ���	
�!��
�"�����!!j��

49



WARRANTY AGREEMENT 
(Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1) 

This WARRANTY AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into to become effective as of the 
9th day of December 2022, by and between RIDGEVIEW PROPERTIES, LLC, a Colorado limited 
liability company, its successors and permitted assigns (the “Developer”), and GREATROCK NORTH 
WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of the 
State of Colorado (the “District”).  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District has initially accepted certain public infrastructure, improvements, 
facilities and services (collectively, the “Public Infrastructure”) constructed by the Developer pursuant 
to the Initial Acceptance Resolution, dated October 13, 2022 (the “Initial Acceptance Resolution”); 
and 

WHEREAS, Developer wishes to convey the Public Infrastructure set forth in Exhibit A, 
attached hereto and incorporated by reference (“Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements”), to 
the District; and  

WHEREAS, the District wishes to accept Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements on the 
conditions stated within the Initial Acceptance Resolution and the District’s reissued Rules and 
Regulations, dated December 3, 2019, as amended (the “Rules and Regulations”); and 

WHEREAS, the Developer executed a Bill of Sale, dated December 9, 2022, conveying the 
Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements to the District as required by the Initial Acceptance 
Resolution; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Rules and Regulations, the District requires a warranty period on 
any public infrastructure; and  

WHEREAS, the District and the Developer desire to state their intentions with regards to the 
warranty for the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements initially accepted under the Initial 
Acceptance Resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, 
and for other good and valuable consideration, the Developer and the District hereby agree as follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. Warranty.  The Developer agrees to warrant, keep in good repair, and to make any 
repairs or changes required by the District to the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements 
described in Exhibit A until they are finally accepted by the District.  The Developer warrants to the 
District that the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements are of good quality and new unless 
otherwise required or permitted, and that (1) the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements  conform 
to the approved plans and specifications under which the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements 

0495.1100; 1261099 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 820EA6BE-661F-490F-BB3B-A469410E1D86

50



0495.1100; 1261099 

were constructed; and (2) such Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements conform to all applicable 
standards for construction of the same.  Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements not conforming 
to these requirements, including substitutions not properly approved and authorized, may be considered 
defective and require correction hereunder as recommended by the District’s engineer (“District 
Engineer”). All warranties provided in the underlying construction documents for the Ridgeview 
Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements, including warranties for materials, subcontractors and material 
suppliers are hereby assigned to the District.   

Developer shall also obtain and maintain all permits, licenses, and other consents required from 
all government authorities, utility companies, and appropriate parties under any restrictive covenants in 
connection with its work on the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements until such permits 
licenses, and other consents are deactivated or otherwise satisfied and closed and shall maintain the area 
covered by the permit licenses, and other consents to the satisfaction of the issuing jurisdiction and the 
District.  Developer warrants that no claims exist or will be submitted against the District. 

 
2. Bond. To secure Developer’s obligation as to the warranty prior to the point at which the 

Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements are finally accepted by the District, the Developer shall 
furnish a warranty bond substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto. The warranty 
bond must be in a bond amount of five percent (5 %) of the value of the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 
Improvements. The warranty bond period will extend to a date one (1) year from the date of the Initial 
Acceptance Resolution. The Developer shall deliver the fully executed warranty bond to the District 
within thirty (30) days of the District’s issuance of its Initial Acceptance Resolution.  

 
3. Process for Cure.  The District may provide written notice to the Developer of any 

claimed defect in the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements at any time within the warranty 
Period (the “Claim Notice”).  The Developer shall cause the defect to be cured at no cost to the District 
within thirty (30) days following its receipt of the Claim Notice; provided, however, that if the defect 
cannot be reasonably cured within such thirty (30) day period, the Developer shall cause work to be 
initiated to cure the defect within such thirty (30) day period, and shall diligently proceed to completion, 
but in no event shall such cure continue for more than ninety (90) days without notice to the District and 
written consent of the District agreeing to such extended cure period.  The District, through the District 
Engineer, shall have the right to inspect and approve the warranty work, which approval shall be in the 
District’s reasonable discretion based upon the District Engineer’s recommendation. If the Developer 
fails to cause the defect to be cured within the applicable cure period, it shall be deemed a default 
hereunder and the District may proceed to enforce all reasonable and legal action to cure the defect.   
 
 4. No Liens.   The Developer hereby represents that no liens or claims have been filed against 
the property and agrees to resolve any claims, related to the construction of the Ridgeview Estates Filing 
No. 1 Improvements, at its expense and to indemnify and hold harmless the District, its successors, and 
assigns against all liabilities, losses and/or damages of any kind arising out of any liens claims, demands, 
costs, judgments, and/or other expenses associated with any act or omission of the Developer in the 
performance of construction of the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements; the foregoing 
specifically includes, without limitation, attorney’s fees.  Any and all damage or incidents must be 
reported to the District immediately after its occurrence.  
 

5.  Default/Remedies.  With the specific exception of a default in the Developer’s cure of any 
claimed defect of the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements, which shall be governed under the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 820EA6BE-661F-490F-BB3B-A469410E1D86

51



0495.1100; 1261099 

provisions of Section 2, if either party to this Agreement fails to perform in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement, after giving ten (10) days written notice to the other party of the alleged default, and upon 
said party in default having failed to cure said breach within ten (10) days, the other party shall have the 
right to pursue any remedy available by law or in equity. 
 
 6. No Assignment.  This Agreement, inclusive of any of the rights, obligations, duties and/or 
authority hereunder, may not be assigned, in whole or in part, by either the District or the Developer 
without the prior, written consent of the other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  
Notwithstanding the forgoing, this Agreement may be assigned to a developer that acquires all or 
substantially all of the property within the District.  Any assignment made in violation of this Section shall 
be immediately void and of no force or effect.  Consent to one assignment shall not constitute consent to 
any subsequent assignment, nor shall it constitute a waiver of any right to consent to such subsequent 
assignment. For purposes of this Agreement, assignments shall include all delegations. 
 
 7. Modification. This Agreement may only be modified, amended or changed, in whole or in 
part, by way of a written agreement, executed by both parties with the same formalities as this Agreement.  
Any modification in violation of this provision shall be null and void. 
 
 8. Severability.  If any clause or provision of this Agreement is adjudged invalid and/or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction or by operation of any law, such clause or provision 
shall not affect the validity of this Agreement as a whole, but shall be severed herefrom, leaving the 
remaining Agreement intact and enforceable. 
 
 9. Survival of Obligations.  Unfulfilled obligations of both the District and the Developer 
arising under this Agreement shall be deemed to survive any expiration, termination by court order, or other 
end to this Agreement.  All such obligations shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, either the 
District or the Developer, or both as applicable, their respective successors, assigns, and legal substitutes. 
 
 10. Venue.  This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of Colorado. 
 
 11. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to constitute a 
waiver, in whole or in part, of any of the District’s rights and protections under the Colorado Governmental 
Immunity Act, Section 24-10-101, et seq., C.R.S. 
 
 12. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended 
to confer upon, or give to, any third person or entity that is not a party hereto any right, remedy, or claim 
hereunder.  All of the covenants, terms, conditions, and provisions of this Agreement exist for the sole and 
exclusive benefit of the District and the Developer. 
 
 13. Notices.  Except as otherwise provided herein, all notices or payments given under this 
Agreement must be made in writing and shall be hand delivered, sent by Certified U.S. Mail with return 
receipt requested, sent via First Class U.S. Mail, or sent via facsimile to the following addresses: 
 
 District:   Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District 
   c/o White, Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 820EA6BE-661F-490F-BB3B-A469410E1D86

52



0495.1100; 1261099 

Developer: 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO 80122 
Attn: Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 

Ridgeview Properties, LLC 
16415 W. 85th Lane, Unite B 
Arvada, Colorado 80007 
Attn: David E. Moore 

All notices or documents delivered or required to be delivered under the provisions of this Agreement shall 
be deemed received one (1) day after sent via email, hand delivery or facsimile, or three (3) days after 
deposit with the United States Postal Service.  Either the District or the Developer may change the address 
to which future notices shall be sent by written notice, sent as described above. 

13. Prevailing Party.  In the event of any litigation between the District and the Developer
concerning the subject matter of this Agreement, the prevailing party in such litigation shall receive from 
the losing party, in addition to the amount of any judgment or other award entered therein, all reasonable 
costs, expenses and attorney’s fees incurred by said prevailing party during litigation. 

14. Further Assurances. The District and the Developer each covenant that they will do,
execute, acknowledge, and deliver or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged, and delivered, such acts, 
instruments, and transfers as may reasonably be required for the performance of their respective obligations 
hereunder. 

15. Compliance with Laws.  This Agreement shall be performed in accordance with, and to the
extent permitted by, all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances and/or similar directives of the 
jurisdiction in which this Agreement is performed.  The Developer declares that it has complied with all 
Federal, State and local laws, rules, regulations, ordinances and/or similar directives regarding business 
permits, certificates and licenses that are required to provide the consulting services under this Agreement. 

16. Waivers. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to
constitute a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing 
waiver unless otherwise expressly provided herein.  No waiver of any default hereunder shall be deemed to 
constitute a waiver of any subsequent default hereunder. 

17. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall inure to, and be binding upon, the District and/or the
Developer, their respective successors and assigns. 

18. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each
of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument. 

19. Conflicting Provisions.  This Agreement shall control over those conflicting provisions
of the underlying construction contracts for the Improvements. With the exception of such conflicting 
provisions, the construction contracts shall govern.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 820EA6BE-661F-490F-BB3B-A469410E1D86

53



0495.1100; 1261099 

Entered into and executed as of the date first written above. 

DEVELOPER: 

RIDGEVIEW PROPERTIES, LLC, a Colorado limited 
liability company 

_____________________________________ 

By: _________________________________ 

Its: __________________________________ 

DISTRICT: 

GREATROCK NORTH WATER AND SANITITION 
DISTRICT, a quasi- municipal corporation and political 
subdivision of the State of Colorado 

Officer of the District 
ATTEST: 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 

General Counsel to the District 

Manager

David E Moore

DocuSign Envelope ID: 820EA6BE-661F-490F-BB3B-A469410E1D86

54



0495.1100; 1261099 

EXHIBIT A 
RIDGEVIEW ESTATES FILING NO. 1 IMPROVEMENTS 

Four thousand-five (4,005) linear feet of eight inch (8”) waterline, three (3) fire hydrants, and twelve 
(12) three quarter inch (¾”) water services with curb stops and meter pits as more specifically set forth
in the final plat for Ridgeview Estates - Filing No. 1, recorded at Reception # 2020000089557, part of
the Northwest Quarter of Section 10, Township 1 South, Range 65 West of the 6th Principal Meridian,
County of Adams, State of Colorado.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 820EA6BE-661F-490F-BB3B-A469410E1D86

55



0495.1100; 1261099 

EXHIBIT B 
WARRANTY BOND 

Surety 
Name: [Full formal name of Surety] 
Address (principal place of business): 

Developer 
Name: Ridgeview Properties LLC 
Address (principal place of business): 16415 
W. 85th Lane, Unit B, Arvada,
Colorado 80007

[Insert address of Surety’s principal place of 
business] 

District Agreement 

Name: Greatrock North Water and
Sanitation District Warranty Agreement, dated [Date]  

Address (principal place of business): Project:  

Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements 
c/o WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & 
WALDRON, Attorneys at Law, 2154 East 
Commons Avenue, Suite 2000, Centennial, 
Colorado 80122 

Bond 
Bond 
A t  

[Amount] Bond period commences on the date that the 
District issues its Initial Acceptance Resolution 
pursuant to Section 3.7.5 of the District’s Rules 
and Regulations and continues for a period of 
one (1) year following such date. 

Date of Bond: [Date] 

Modifications to this Bond form: 
☐ None ☐ See Paragraph 9
Surety and Developer, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth herein, 
do each cause this Warranty Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or 
representative. 
Developer as Principal Surety 

(Full formal name of Developer) (Full formal name of Surety) (corporate seal) 

By: By: 
(Signature) (Signature) (Attach Power of Attorney) 

Name: Name: 
(Printed or typed) (Printed or typed) 

Title: Title: 

Attest: Attest: 
(Signature) (Signature) 

Name: Name: 
(Printed or typed) (Printed or typed) 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 820EA6BE-661F-490F-BB3B-A469410E1D86

56



0495.1100; 1261099 

Title: Title: 
Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference to 
Developer, Surety, District,, or other party is considered plural where applicable. 

1. The Developer and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors,
administrators, successors, and assigns to the District for the performance of the Correction Period
Obligations stated in the Agreement and Rule 3.7.5 of the District’s Rules and Regulations. The
District’s Rules and Regulations are incorporated herein by reference.

2. If the Developer performs the correction period obligations, the Surety and the Developer shall have
no obligation under this Warranty Bond.

3. If District gives written notice to Developer and Surety during the Bond Period of Developer’s
obligation under the Correction Period Obligations, and Developer does not fulfill such obligation,
then Surety shall be responsible for fulfillment of such Correction Period Obligations. Surety shall
either fulfill the Correction Period Obligations itself, through its agents or contractors, or, in the
alternative, Surety may waive the right to fulfill the Correction Period Obligations itself, and
reimburse the District for all resulting costs incurred by District in performing Developer’s
Correction Period Obligations, including but not limited to correction, removal, replacement, and
repair costs.

4. The Surety’s liability is limited to the amount of this Warranty Bond. Renewal or continuation of the
Warranty Bond will not modify such amount, unless expressly agreed to by Surety in writing.

5. The Surety shall have no liability under this Warranty Bond for obligations of the Developer that are
unrelated to the Agreement. No right of action will accrue on this Warranty Bond to any person or
entity other than the District or its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns.

6. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Warranty Bond may be instituted in any court of
competent jurisdiction in the location in which the Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements are
located and must be instituted within two years after the Surety refuses or fails to perform its
obligations under this Warranty Bond.

7. Written notice to the Surety, the District, or the Developer must be mailed or delivered to the address
shown in this Warranty Bond.

8. Definitions
8.1. The Agreement—The Warranty Agreement between the District and Developer identified on the

cover page of this Warranty Bond.
8.2. Contract Documents—All the documents that comprise the agreement between the District and

Developer.
8.3. Correction Period Obligations—The duties, responsibilities, commitments, and obligations of

the Developer with respect to correction or replacement of defective Ridgeview Estates Filing 
No. 1 Improvements, as set forth in Paragraph 3 of the Agreement, as amended. 

8.4. Ridgeview Estates Filing No. 1 Improvements —As defined in the Agreement. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 820EA6BE-661F-490F-BB3B-A469410E1D86

57



0495.4322, #1311261v1 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

(SCADA MAINTENANCE SERVICES) 

      

 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 

attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 11th day of April 2023, by and between  

GREATROCK NORTH WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal 

corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and HYDRO 

OPTIMIZATION AND AUTOMATION SOLUTIONS, INC., a Nebraska corporation (the 

“Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are referred to herein individually as a “Party” 

and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 

of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 

maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 

and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 

into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 

hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 

needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 

and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 

herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 

follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 

perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 

reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 

the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 

services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 

A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 

disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 

take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 

conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 

the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 

express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 

the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 

58



0495.4322, #1311261v1 2 

(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 

District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 

and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; (ii) 

completion of the Services; or (iii) December 31, 2023.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless 

terminated pursuant to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the District determines not to 

appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall 

automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 

provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 

of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 

to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 

Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 

shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 

compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 

services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 

and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 

Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 

any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 

addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 

becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 

evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 

claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 

inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 

responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 

connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 

injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 

whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 

subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 

location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 

performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 

necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 

and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 

Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 

examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 

thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  

The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 

and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 

59



0495.4322, #1311261v1 3 

standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 

of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 

Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 

District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 

compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 

complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 

delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 

type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 

a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 

between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 

sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 

all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 

and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 

licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 

hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 

directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 

affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 

1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws and (vii) rules 

and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 

shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-

consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 

Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 

of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 

it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 

arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 

the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 

describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 

description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 

performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 

Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 

and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 

of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 

60



0495.4322, #1311261v1 4 

District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 

be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 

reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 

any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 

services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 

District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 

Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 

until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 

of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 

payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 

service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 

incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 

each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 

within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 

required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 

for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 

to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 

to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 

of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 

scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 

Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 

the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 

exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  

Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 

officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 

and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 

or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 

to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 

detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 

employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 

District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 

employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 

contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 

local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 

61



0495.4322, #1311261v1 5 

workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 

errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 

or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 

and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 

furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 

will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 

not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 

unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 

other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 

on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 

executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 

Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 

violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 

during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 

Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 

rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 

Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 

Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 

the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 

written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 

District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 

District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 

representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 

provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 

Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 

certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 

of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 

workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 

liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 

that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 

excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 

during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 

certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 

to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 

required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  

The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

62



0495.4322, #1311261v1 6 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 

given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 

performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 

in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 

becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 

which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 

reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 

shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 

provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 

confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 

the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 

Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 

agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 

the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 

access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 

agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 

Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  

“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 

number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 

identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-

103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 

transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 

the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 

are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 

Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 

unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 

Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 

to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 

of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 

Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 

drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 

remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 

invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 

the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 

Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 

copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 

years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 

provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 

63



0495.4322, #1311261v1 7 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 

interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 

Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 

for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 

materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 

any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 

this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 

materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 

prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 

Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 

all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 

time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 

will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 

or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 

the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 

each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 

“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 

lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 

attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 

or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 

act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 

connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 

pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 

contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 

of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 

as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 

way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 

or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 

acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 

damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 

this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 

the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 

Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 

specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 

terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 

way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  

The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 

with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 

64



0495.4322, #1311261v1 8 

in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 

termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 

or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 

assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 

consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 

District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 

Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 

and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 

of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 

the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 

subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 

that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 

this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 

Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 

any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 

accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 

subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 

termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 

such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 

above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 

thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 

thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 

time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 

Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 

the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 

paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 

reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 

either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 

creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 

Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 

this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 

the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 

or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 

Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 

covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 

Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 

default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 

days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 

can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 

65



0495.4322, #1311261v1 9 

non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 

cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 

following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 

is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 

default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 

addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 

enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 

or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 

in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 

or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 

the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 

by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 

days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 

prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 

recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 

the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 

overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 

may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 

of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 

and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 

communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 

addresses set forth below:  

District: Greatrock North Water & Sanitation District 

c/o CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

8390 E. Crescent Pkwy., Suite 300 

Greenwood Village, Colorado 80111 

Attention: Lisa A. Johnson, Manager  

Phone: (303) 939-6029 

Email: Lisa.Johnson@claconnect.com  

 

  

With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 

Centennial, CO  80122 

Attention: Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 

Phone: (303) 858-1800 

E-mail: jtanaka@wbapc.com 

 

  

Contractor: Hydro Optimization and Automation 

Solutions, Inc. 

2601 West L Street, Suite 1 

Lincoln, NE 68522 

Attention: Lincoln Williams 

66



0495.4322, #1311261v1 10 

Phone: (402) 467-3750 

Email:  

 

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of 

the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 

payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 

personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 

purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 

this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 

long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 

pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 

between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 

of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 

representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 

written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 

forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 

by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 

heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 

deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 

waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 

shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 

District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 

irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 

but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 

shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 

the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 

this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 

conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 

of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 

joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 

as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 

performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 

caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 

67



0495.4322, #1311261v1 11 

in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 

disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 

considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 

that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 

unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 

required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 

not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 

whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 

this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 

the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 

fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 

or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-

fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 

debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 

Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 

or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 

Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 

same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 

to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 

available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 

other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 

available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 

seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 

strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 

prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 

to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 

competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 

validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 

intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 

provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 

to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 

valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 

enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 

enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 

give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 

68



0495.4322, #1311261v1 12 

the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 

under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 

under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 

C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 

warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 

accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 

otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 

will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 

codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  

All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the 

completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 

to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 

and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 

use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 

invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 

of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 

Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 

tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 

apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 

counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 

one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 

PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 

hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 

of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 

69



District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for SCADA Maintenance 

Services with Hydro Optimization and Automation Solutions, Inc., dated April 11, 2023 

 
0495.4322, #1311261v1 

 13 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 

above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 

necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 

GREATROCK NORTH WATER AND 

SANITATION DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal 

corporation and political subdivision of the 

State of Colorado 

 

 

Officer of the District 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 

 

 

General Counsel for the District 

 

70



Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for SCADA Maintenance 

Services with Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District, dated April 11, 2023 

 

0495.4322, #1311261v1 14 

CONTRACTOR: 

HYDRO OPTIMIZATION AND 

AUTOMATION SOLUTIONS, INC., a 

Nebraska corporation 

 

 

 

 

Printed Name 

 

Title 

 

 

STATE OF COLORADO )  

 ) ss. 

COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Hydro Optimization and 

Automation Solutions, Inc., a Nebraska corporation. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   

  

  

  

 Notary Public 

 

71



0495.4322, #1311261v1 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

 

72



0495.4322, #1311261v1 A-2 

 

73



0495.4322, #1311261v1 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 

 

74



0495.4322, #1311261v1 C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 

NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 

Section 11 of this Agreement. 

 

1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 

amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 

will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 

$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 

designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 

include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 

damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 

including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 

b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 

c. limited contractual; 

d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 

e. medical payments; 

f. products and completed operations; 

g. independent consultants coverage; and 

h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 

 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 

contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 

property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 

automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 

liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 

damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 

obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 

bodily injury or property damage. 

4. If applicable: Contractor shall secure and maintain a third-party fidelity bond in favor of 

the District, covering the Contractor and its employees and agents who may provide or be 

responsible for the provision of Services where such activities contemplate the 

responsibility for money or property of the District.  Such bond shall protect the District 

against any fraudulent or dishonest act which may result in the loss of money, securities, 

75



0495.4322, #1311261v1 C-2 

or other property belonging to or in the possession of the District.  Said bond shall be in an 

amount as determined by the District, from a surety acceptable to the District. 

5. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 

pursuant to this Agreement. 

76



0495.4322, #1311261v1 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 

77



0495.4322, #1311261v1 D-1 

EXHIBIT D 

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 

 

78



���������	
����	�����	�
	��
������
	�������	��
�����		
���	��	������������������������� ����!		"#$%&'	"()*+,-	../	01213	43#0%)*		��� �	��	�5����������������!		6787)97	:9$*9#9	;)73($7+(	<3=#&#('	/&73+#+,	"7)8#=79	�5����������������	���!		43)=>	?-	?@?A	;>#9	/*+()3=(	BCD,)77$7+(EF	#9	$307	2'	3+0	27(G77+	H)73()*=I	J*)(>	K3(7)	3+0	"3+#(3(#*+	L#9()#=(-	3	MN39#O$N+#=#%3&	=*)%*)3(#*+	3+0	%*&#(#=3&	9N20#8#9#*+	*P	(>7	"(3(7	*P	/*&*)30*	B(>7	CL#9()#=(EF	3+0	(>7	32*87O)7P7)7+=70	=*+()3=(*)-	%)*8#07)-	*)	*(>7)	=*+9N&(3+(	B(>7	C/*+()3=(*)EFQ	R+()*0N=(#*+Q	;>7	L#9()#=(	3+0	(>7	/*+()3=(*)	079#)7	(*	7+(7)	#+(*	(>#9	/*+()3=(	(*	27	7PP7=(#87	(>7	03(7	32*87Q	SQ "=*%7	*P	"7)8#=79Q		;>7	/*+()3=(*)	9>3&&	%7)P*)$	(>7	97)8#=79	97(	P*)(>	#+	�TU�V��	�	B(>7C��������EFW	B3F	#+	3	P#)9(O=&399	$3++7)-	(*	(>7	93(#9P3=(#*+	*P	(>7	L#9()#=(-	N9#+,	(>7	07,)77	*P	9I#&&	3+0	I+*G&70,7	=N9(*$3)#&'	7$%&*'70	2'	*(>7)	%)*P799#*+3&9	%7)P*)$#+,	9#$#&3)	97)8#=79X	B2F	G#(>#+	(>7	(#$7	%7)#*0	9%7=#P#70	#+	(>7	D,)77$7+(X	B=F	#+	9N=>	3	$3++7)	39	(*	$#+#$#Y7	3+'	3++*'3+=7-	#+(7)P7)7+=7-	*)	0#9)N%(#*+	(*	(>7	)79#07+(9-	(7+3+(9-	*==N%3+(9-	3+0	#+8#(779	G#(>#+	(>7	L#9()#=(X	3+0	B0F	#+	=*$%&#3+=7	G#(>	3&&	3%%&#=32&7	P707)3&-	9(3(7-	=*N+('-	3+0	&*=3&	*)	$N+#=#%3&	9(3(N(79-	*)0#+3+=79-	3+0	)7,N&3(#*+9Q		?Q /*$%7+93(#*+	*P	"7)8#=79Q	/*$%7+93(#*+	P*)	(>7	"7)8#=79	%)*8#070	N+07)	(>#9	D,)77$7+(	9>3&&27	%)*8#070	#+	3==*)03+=7	G#(>	(>7	=*$%7+93(#*+	9=>70N&7	3((3=>70	>7)7(*	39	�TU�V��	�Q		;>7	/*+()3=(*)	9>3&&	27	)79%*+9#2&7	P*)	3&&	7Z%7+979	#(	#+=N)9	#+	%7)P*)$3+=7	*P	(>#9	D,)77$7+(	3+0	9>3&&	+*(	27	7+(#(&70	(*	3+'	)7#$2N)97$7+(	*)	=*$%7+93(#*+	7Z=7%(	39	%)*8#070	>7)7#+-	N+&799	93#0	)7#$2N)97$7+(	*)	=*$%7+93(#*+	#9	3%%)*870	#+	G)#(#+,	2'	(>7	L#9()#=(	#+	3083+=7	*P	#+=N))#+,	9N=>	7Z%7+979Q	[Z>#2#(	D	$3'	(3I7	3+'	P*)$Q		R+	(>7	787+(	*P	3+'	=*+P&#=(	27(G77+	(7)$9	97(	P*)(>	#+	(>7	2*0'	*P	(>#9	D,)77$7+(	3+0	(7)$9	97(	P*)(>	#+	[Z>#2#(	D-	(>7	(7)$9	#+	(>7	2*0'	*P	(>#9	D,)77$7+(	9>3&&	,*87)+Q	AQ 67%3#)91/&3#$9Q		;>7	/*+()3=(*)	9>3&&	+*(#P'	(>7	L#9()#=(	#$$70#3(7&'-	#+	G)#(#+,-	*P	3+'	3+0	3&&#+=#07+(913==#07+(9	G>#=>	)79N&(	#+	#+\N)'	*)	%)*%7)('	03$3,7Q		;>7	/*+()3=(*)	G#&&	%)*$%(&'	)7%3#)	*)-	3(	(>7	L#9()#=(]9	*%(#*+-	)7#$2N)97	(>7	L#9()#=(	P*)	(>7	)7%3#)	*P	3+'	03$3,7	(*	L#9()#=(	%)*%7)('	=3N970	2'	(>7	/*+()3=(*)	*)	#(9	7$%&*'779-	3,7+(9-	*)	7MN#%$7+(Q		Q̂ R+07%7+07+(	/*+()3=(*)Q		;>7	/*+()3=(*)	#9	3+	#+07%7+07+(	=*+()3=(*)	3+0	+*(>#+,	>7)7#+	9>3&&=*+9(#(N(7	*)	079#,+3(7	(>7	/*+()3=(*)	*)	3+'	*P	#(9	7$%&*'779	*)	3,7+(9	39	7$%&*'779	*)	3,7+(9	*P	(>7	L#9()#=(Q	;>7	/*+()3=(*)	#9	+*(	7+(#(&70	(*	G*)I7)9]	=*$%7+93(#*+	27+7P#(9	*)	N+7$%&*'$7+(	#+9N)3+=7	27+7P#(9	3+0	(>7	L#9()#=(	G#&&	+*(	%)*8#07	3+'	#+9N)3+=7	=*87)3,7	*)	7$%&*'$7+(	27+7P#(9	*P	3+'	I#+0	*)	('%7	(*	*)	P*)	(>7	/*+()3=(*)	*)	#(9	7$%&*'779-	9N2O=*+9N&(3+(9-	=*+()3=(*)9-	3,7+(9-	*)	)7%)797+(3(#879Q	;>7	/*+()3=(*)	9>3&&	>387	PN&&	%*G7)	3+0	3N(>*)#('	(*	97&7=(	(>7	$73+9-	$3++7)-	3+0	$7(>*0	*P	%7)P*)$#+,	#(9	0N(#79	N+07)	(>#9	D,)77$7+(-	G#(>*N(	07(3#&70	=*+()*&	*)	0#)7=(#*+	P)*$	(>7	L#9()#=(-	3+0	9>3&&	27	)79%*+9#2&7	P*)	9N%7)8#9#+,	#(9	*G+	7$%&*'779	*)	9N2=*+()3=(*)9Q		;>7	L#9()#=(	#9	=*+=7)+70	*+&'	G#(>	(>7	)79N&(9	(*	27	*2(3#+70Q	_Q K3))3+('	3+0	̀7)$#(9Q	;>7	/*+()3=(*)	9>3&&	3+0	0*79	2'	(>#9	D,)77$7+(	,N3)3+(77	3+0	G3))3+((>3(	3&&	G*)I$3+9>#%-	$3(7)#3&9-	3+0	7MN#%$7+(	PN)+#9>70-	#+9(3&&70-	*)	%7)P*)$70	P*)	(>7	3==*$%&#9>$7+(	*P	(>7	"7)8#=79	B=*&&7=(#87&'-	(>7	C���aEF	G#&&	27	*P	,**0	MN3&#('	3+0	+7G-	N+&799	*(>7)G#97	)7MN#)70	*)	%7)$#((70	2'	(>#9	D,)77$7+(Q		;>7	/*+()3=(*)	PN)(>7)	G3))3+(9	(>3(	(>7	K*)I	G#&&	=*+P*)$	(*	3&&	)7MN#)7$7+(9	*P	(>#9	D,)77$7+(	3+0	(>7	3%%&#=32&7	2N#&0#+,	=*07	3+0	3&&	*(>7)	3%%&#=32&7	&3G9-	*)0#+3+=79-	=*079-	)N&79-	3+0	)7,N&3(#*+9	*P	3+'	,*87)+$7+(3&	3N(>*)#(#79	>38#+,	\N)#90#=(#*+	*87)	(>7	K*)IQ		;>7	/*+()3=(*)	>7)72'	G3))3+(9	(>7	K*)I	P*)	3	%7)#*0	*P	*+7	BSF	'73)	P)*$	(>7	03(7	*P	=*$%&7(#*+	3+0	#+#(#3&	3==7%(3+=7	*P	(>7	K*)IQ		;>7	/*+()3=(*)	G#&&	#$$70#3(7&'	=*))7=(	*)	)7%&3=7	3+'	K*)I	(>3(	#9	07P7=(#87	*)	+*(	=*+P*)$#+,	(*	(>#9	D,)77$7+(	3(	#(9	9*&7	7Z%7+97	(*	(>7	)739*+32&7	93(#9P3=(#*+	*P	(>7	L#9()#=(Q		;>7	/*+()3=(*)]9	,N3)3+(779	3+0	G3))3+(#79	9>3&&	#+	3&&	=3979	9N)8#87	(7)$#+3(#*+	*P	(>#9	D,)77$7+(Q		;>#9	G3))3+('	9>3&&	27	7+P*)=732&7	2'	(>7	L#9()#=(-	#(9	9N==799*)9	3+0	399#,+9Q	

bcdefghi	jiklmcnl	obp	qrsqturvwqbjxwqyrzwrz{|w}j~v|btqtu�t
79



���������	
�	������� �

�� ��� ���� ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ !�����������"�����������������#�����$"�������������#��%��"������������&���"�'��(�)�*��������%�+�������!��������������!�,��������-����,������������&����"�������!�,����#������������&�&���%��������!��#�������#��������&������%����!���,�������������&���"�������!�������%������%
�(��)�����������.�������/��-����,�����������%�������������������#����-����,�#��������������0����������!�������������#��-���,���1��,�����!�!���,�����"�����-����,
�0����������"��������""��"����(���)���!�������&��$���-����/��-����,������������&����"�����%�������2%�������������������-����������������������%��������!��#�������#��������&������%�����������#����-����,�#��������������0	�����������-��������"���������-���,���1��,�����!�!���,�����"�������(�&)���,���������������������,������-,�����������#�����&�����#������,!����-��!��#�����!���������������$"����������$����&���"��!�&�����!���������������$"��������������-��%����������!�����,�!����������������-����"�%�������������!!�������������,��&���"�����������3����������,�����,��������,����������������������-,�����3��������������-������������� ���������������������.�������/��-����,�������!�������&��$���-����/��-����,�����������!�������%����-���������������������3������������������������������������������������#���������!�������������������������������������������&���������������#�����,�-��"�����
��������������!��������#���������������������������&����������������������������-����,����������������������-�����!���-���#������!�,�����#���,��������-�������������!���������4�� �������#������������������������������#������������#,�����������������������3�����������������#���������������##��������������������!�,������"����������������������#��������"��������,������������������������������������-�������������������%�����������"��������� !���������������"���"���� !����������������,���#�����������"��������,������������,����#������������������������"��"������%���#�������������������,��������������������������������#������������������,�#�������-�����������##��������"����������!�,��������������������������-��"��������������#,�����3��������#������3����������%����"��"�������������������#�������-��"�����%�������-���������������,�%�,�-,���,��������������������������,!���#�����"������!�����������-���#����!�,�-���-,���#���������������������%�+�������!������������������-����,����������������!�,���-���#����������*������������,����������&�&������� !��������������������#������$"����������������� ���������3���������������,�-��-��"��������������#,����#���������������������������������������������#�����$"�����������,�������������#�������-��"�������������������,�������� �����!���������-,��!!����-�����%�����������-��������������,����������%#���,��!!�!�������#�������!��!����������������%���������$"������������ 5�� ������������������$"����������,�-�������������-,��������!���,�#����������#����&���������!������(	�)���,���!����%������������������������!���,�����#�����$"������������������������������������������-��!����#������*��&����������#������,�!��#�����!��������������"�������������������������������"�����-����-���� !������������*����!�,�����������-��������������������������#�-���������� ��� .&�����"�/�%�6�3��!������������$"�����������������������������&�������������"����#����������"��������$"��������������-��"&��������������������������������%����������%�#�����*�����#��������%��������"��������#�����#���%�!�����!���������%�������������������!!��������#���,���%�����������������%�#�����*�����#���������7�����#�������������������-���������3��������������������#����������,����%���������3���������������������� 	��� *�-1������$������$!!�!�����������8��"���������3��������������������������-,�����������������!��2#������,������������������������-���������#���������-��"�����%�����&���������-��"������#�����3�������������������$"�������������-1�������������-��"����"������!!�!��������������������������� !�����,������������������"�����������������������%��������������-��"��������!!�!������#��������%��������������������#�3����������"&�����"�-�,����������-��"������#�����3��������������� �������,����������!!�!�������#������!��!����#������$"����������������������������������������,�����"��������������������-����,������,�������"�#������,����-�,�����������2��������#������,����������3����������������������������������������������������3����������-��"���������+��!�,����������!�,���������������������������$"����������������������������������� !�����

9:;<=>?@�A@BCD:EC�F9G�HIJHKLIMNH9AONHPIQNIQRSNTAUMS9KHKLVK
80



��������	
������	���	�����������
�������������
����������

 !"#	$%	&'()!**+,-./0-#1

81



���������	
�	������� �

�������������������������������� �!"�� ���#�$%&�������������������������� "�!�"���'�&&�����&�"��"#����&&�'� (��&�! � (����������)�*'��+&,�-"'���������� "#./�� 0��&�! ��&�����!����&&�'�/��1�2!�%%��!&&��!���"�3�! $�1�2!�%%��! $�����!&&�"�&������"#���#!�$��&���� (���0�4����$�' �! $��&�! �)!��)�!�$���0�4����$�' 3�$��� ���"3�! $��&�! ���&&�'� (�!��!��! $��"���/��

������ �!"�� ���#�$%&��0�5�����������"�����)�*'��+&,�-"'���������� "#.��&�! � (���� ��

6789:;<=�>=?@A7B@�C6D�EFGEHIFJKE6>LKEMFNKFNOPKQ>RJP6HEHISH
82



�����������	
�	�����������������	���	��������� �!�"�#�#$%&�'�% ����(� )*+*,-�	��.���*��),/0�1*�	��.���*�	23*4	 �1,)35��	67�+*7�18	9�7*4	:) 	;	<+3�=7�	;	)4�7*	$�7.	�57��.��*	'&'�;&�;&'>��?��3��*	9+.��	67�+*7�18	9�7*4	:) ��3��*	9,./�7�	�%���%';@)&&;'&'�)�,71�	���������	 �1,.��*	=+5�-�	� )35�+*,7�-�	% ��������	@7353�+*�7�	��7*3?31+*�	=+5�-�	� ��3*3+�-�	& �3��A	B��83�-�,*�9+��	��+/�������������	)*+.�3�5�	��+/���C3.�	D����	EFC�;&"�&&G	���*7+�	C3.�	EF)	H	�+�+�+G ''&	)	"*4	)*	)*�	�&&<3���+���3-I	<9		((�&';%�%#�3��A>B��83�-J1�+1����1*>1�.�=	���7�--�	"�>%�">%'>#�			K����L	M���N��O)*+*,-�	@7353�+�													�P�P'&'�	"�%"��"	=< Q����7�	�3��A	B��83�-													�3��A>B��83�-J1�+1����1*>1�. R�1+*3���	 �1,)35�S�O���	TU���V S�O���W�� M���V���B�4�	 >	:A18�??0�4��2A18�??J+��>1�.=7�-3���*)�1,73*A	R�����	�.+3�I	�11�,�*	�,*4��*31+*3��	E9���G )35�+*,7�	����*3���	 7+2�	��	 ��31�F-3�5	�=	���7�--�	%��>%">"�>'�")35���	,-3�5	.�/3�� )��*�	�P�P'&'�	"�%��&%	=<X3�2���	�P�P'&'�	���#���	=<	)35����	�P�P'&'�	�����%&	=<T���������	K����L	��L	S�O���W��	Y�V���VW��Z							�11��*���	%P�%P'&''	��''�'"	=<						� �	/�'(�(�";/��?;�#1&;#'�(;�+��+��'�#�#[�	\��V��	S�O���	TU���V S�O���W�� M���V���TL����	Y���U��]	TU���V S���WV M���V���Ô���	Y���U��]	TU���V S���WV M���V���[������L���]	Y���U��]	TU���V S���WV M���V�����������L	Y���U��]	TU���V S���WV M���V������_��	��]	TU���V S���WV M���V���`����VV	TU���V S�O���W�� M���V���a����]	TU���V S�O���W�� M���V���T�U����	SW����]	TU���V S���WV M���V���V��������	)��* Q+-4��P��17A�*�� �P�P'&'�	"�%��&%	=<��7*3?3��	 ��3��7�� )�1,73*A	�4�18�� �P�P'&'�	���#���	=<)35�3�5	��.���*� )�1,73*A	�4�18�� �P�P'&'�	�����%&	=<��.���*�� )�1,73*A	�4�18�� �P�P'&'�	�����%&	=<\�]����	TU���V S���WV M���V���VT���������	K����L	��L	S�O���W��	Y�V���VW��

83



����������	�����
	��
	��������	
���������		����	����	��	�����	������������������	���	 !��	"�	��	���#��$%	��$	&�	��'"���(	&$	��!	��	#��)�(�	��	$�"	*������	!������	����*��	��	(��*���"���+	,��*��&�(	&���!	���	�-�	�����	��(	*��(������	���	#��)�(��.	��	$�"	�"*-	����*��	��(	(��*���"���	���*�����*���$	�-��".-	�-�	,�*"/�.�	�$����+	������	���(	�-�	�����������	&���!	*����"��$	��(	�-���".-�$�	��(	��	$�"	*��	�**���	�-��	�����������	���*�����*���$	��	$�"�	�������*����	��(	�.���	��	�-��	0��*�����*	1�*��(	��(	/�.���"��	,��*���"��	 01/,%�	#�����	*������	$�"�	�.�������	&$	����*���.	�-�	*-�*23456	7869	95	:;	<=>88	95	?@8	8A8B9>57CB	>8B5>D@	<7D	@C=7<9?>8@E	48F5>8	BACBGC7=	:HIJK;JLME	NC9OC7	9O8	P5B?QC=7	�$����+		RSSTUV	WXWRY	Z[WTR\		��	��$	�����	$�"	��$	��'"���	����	"�	�	#�#��	*�#$	��	��$	��*��(	#��)�(�(	��	��(�	�)����&��	���*�����*���$	��	$�"	&$	"�+	]�"	!���	-�)�	�-�	�&����$	��	(�!����(	��(	#����	(�*"�����	!�	���(	��	$�"	�-��".-	�-�	,�*"/�.�	�$����	("���.	��(	����(�����$	�����	�-�	��.���.	�������	��(�	��	$�"	���*�	��	*�����	�	,�*"/�.�	�**�"���	$�"	��$	�**���	�-�	(�*"�����	���	�	������(	#����(	��	����	 "�"���$	̂_	(�$�%	�����	�"*-	(�*"�����	���	�����	����	��	$�"+	�����	�"*-	�����	��	$�"	!��-	���	"�	��	���(	$�"	#�#��	*�#���	��	��$	�"*-	(�*"�����	����	�"�	����*�	��	$�"�	$�"	!���	&�	*-��.�(	�	_̀+__	#��3#�.�	���+	]�"	��$	��'"���	(���)��$	��	�"*-	#�#��	*�#���	����	"�	&$	�����!��.	�-�	#��*�("��	(��*��&�(	&���!+		aTSbcYXdTUV	e[fY	Z[U\RUS		g�	$�"	(�*�(�	��	��*��)�	����*��	��(	(��*���"���	����	"�	���*�����*���$�	$�"	��$	��	��$	����	*-��.�	$�"�	���(	��(	����	"�	�-��	�-��������	$�"	!���	��	��*��)�	��'"���(	����*��	��(	(��*���"���	���$	��	#�#��	������+	h�!	$�"	�"��	������	"�	��	$�"�	(�*�����	��	��*��)�	�"�"��	����*��	��(	(��*���"��	��	#�#��	������	��(	!��-(��!	$�"�	*������	��	��*��)�	����*��	��(	(��*���"���	���*�����*���$	��	(��*��&�(	&���!+		�[U\RifRUZR\	[j	ZbXUVTUV	e[fY	kTUc		g�	$�"	���*�	��	��*��)�	��'"���(	����*��	��(	(��*���"���	���$	��	#�#��	�������	��	!���	���!	�-�	�#��(	��	!-�*-	!�	*��	*��#����	*������	���#�	��	������*�����	!��-	$�"	��(	(���)����.	���)�*��	��	$�"	&�*�"��	!�	!���	���(	�����	��	���(	�-�	��'"���(	����*��	��	(��*���"���	��	$�"	��	#�#��	�������	��(	�-��	!���	"����	!�	��*��)�	&�*2	����	$�"	$�"�	�*2��!��(.����	��	$�"�	��*��#�	��	�"*-	#�#��	����*��	��	(��*���"���+	�"��-���	$�"	!���	��	���.��	&�	�&��	��	"��	�-�	,�*"/�.�	�$����	��	��*��)�	��'"���(	����*��	��(	*�������	���*�����*���$	����	"�	��	��	��.�	���*�����*���$	(�*"�����	����	"�+		�ll	U[STZR\	XUc	cT\Zl[\fYR\	dTll	mR	\RUS	S[	e[f	RlRZSY[UTZXlle		

nopqrstuvq	wpqtsx	yux	zv{uyr|sp	}v~qot~|sp	qspyrpx	tu�	���������	�������	���ysrvp~	y{sppx	rt�	�t�u	}�	��q�t�� 84



���������	�
����	���
����������������������
��
���������	����������������������������������������
����������
����	�
���	���
������	��������
����������	�������
�������������	������	
������
�������������������
��������
�������	���
��
��
��������	�����
��������������������������������
����	��	�����
�����	��������	������
���������
����	��������	���
���������������	��������
��
�����
�����������������
��������������	�������������
�����������������
������	�������
����������������	����
����	����
����������
��������
��
����������������
��
���	������������	�����	�����	�����������������
����������	����������
���������
���������������������������
�
���	���
��������������������������
���� ����	������
��������
��
����������������������
�	�������������������������!���������������
��������������������
����������
��
�����������
���������	�����������	������
������
�
����������������������
�����
����������������	��������
���������������	����"#$�%#�&#'%(&%�)*+,%#'-(./#'0**1'�--23��4�	��������
��
�	��
����
�	�����������	�������������
��������������
��
���	�����
�����������
�����	��
��������������������
�����������
���������	�������
���
�������	��������������
�
������������
����������������	��������
�������������������5�������
��
�	�������������������������
�5�6	����������������789:������
������;#�(<=+/1�)*+,%#'-(./#'0**1'�--2�#,�>#?.�'1$�1@(+*�(<<.1//�������
�	�����������������������	��������������������������	����������
����������������	��������
����������
����	����	��	�
�����������������������
��	���
�6	����������������789:������
������������
������������	������	��
���	��	�
��
�
�5���	��������	�������������������	���������������������A�������
����	���������
�����������
�����������	�
�����������	������������������ ����	�����
��������	���������	�
����	�����	���
���
��
����	�������������������
���	�����	������	�
����������������;#�.1B?1/%�C(C1.�&#C+1/�,.#@�)*+,%#'-(./#'0**1'�--2��������	��
���������������	���������������������
�����
����������������	����������	����������������	��
����	�����
�������������	��	�
������	�����������
��6	����������������789:������
������������
������������	������	��
���	��	�
��
�
����	������������������	������������������������������
����������	������A�������������	���������������
�
��
�
��������������;#�$+%D<.($�>#?.�&#'/1'%�$+%D�)*+,%#'-(./#'0**1'�--2������������	��
��
���	���������������
�����������	
	�����
����������������	�����������
�����������
���	����5�

85



�����������	
��������
�����	���
����	�����
����������������
������
��	������������	�����������	�	����������
�������	�����
�������	
���	������
����
����	��
���
�������������������������	
��������������
�
��� !"�
����	��
��������	����
���
�������������	��
�����	��		���
�������������������������������������	�����
�����������#���
��
	���������
	�������
��	�
����
���
��	
���	������
����	���������
�����������
���
�����	���������
����	��
��
�������
�����	����������	�	�	����	�
������	�����
�����	����	
���
��������$%&'()%*�+,)*-,)%�,.*�/012-,)%�����������������	�������������	���
��������	���3
��4�������	������������
5���	���������������	����	�������������	������
��������6��		��677����
�	��
��������
�7������7������������������������	�������������	�����89:.0-;%*<(.<�=0')�,99%//�,.*�90./%.2�20�)%9%(>%�,.*�/(<.�*09'?%.2/�%;%92)0.(9,;;=���
��
������	
����	�	��
�����������	�������
��	�
������	�
�����������������������������	
�
	��������	�
�����
	�������������
������	�	�����������
5����	
��
����������
������	�	��
���5������	����@A43�����B�C�	�	��
���������	
�����	�
�������
������	�
��������5��	����@A43��
���
�����	������������������������
��B��C�	�	��
���������	
������	����@A43�	
����������������������
��������������	
�����	�
�������
���5���	��
���
�����	������������������������D��	���������
���
����	�	
������5�����
	�������������
�������������5�����������	�
�����
��	���������������������	���������	�	���������EFG�HIGJ�JF�KL�MNOII�JF�PQI�IRISJOFHTS�OISFOUQ�MHU�QTNHMJPOIQV�EIWFOI�SRTSXTHN�KYZ[\L[]̂ V�_TJ̀TH�J̀I�aFSPbTNH�QcQJIde���������	����	����������
�����	�	
�KL�MNOII�JF�PQI�IRISJOFHTS�OISFOUQ�MHU�QTNHMJPOIQVf�cFP�SFHWTOd�	�	6�g� h
������������������	����@���	�
����A��
������4���	����3����
���������g� h
���������	�
�������	����@���	�
����A��
������4���	����3����
������
���5��
�������	����@���	�
����A��
������3����
�����	
���
�	�
���������
���������	��	���
����	���������������������������g� i�	���
����������
���
	���� ���	
�!��
�"�����!!j��������������
5����
���
����	�	
������5���������5����	��
��������	�
�������������
	�����������
��������	�
��k	�
�������
���������	������
	�����
�����	��	�	�������������	
������
5�����
������5������	
��
����� ���	
�!��
�"�����!!j��������	����
�����
���
������	�
��������	�� ���	
�!��
�"�����!!j��

86



MASTER SERVICE AGREEMENT 

 

THIS MASTER SERVICE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made this 1st day of May 2023 (“Effective Date”) by and 

between Denver Tech, LLC d/b/a CMIT Solutions of Boulder, 2770 Arapahoe Rd. #132-209, Lafayette, CO 80026 (“Master 

Service Provider” or “MSP”), and Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District, 16373 Rayburn St., Hudson, CO 80642 

(“Client”). 

 

1. SCOPE OF AGREEMENT. This Agreement serves as a master agreement and applies to Client's purchases from 

MSP, of services (“Services”), as well as licenses for software, hardware, support and maintenance services, and/or 

subscription services (collectively, "Product").  Client hereby engages and retains MSP to render Services as more 

particularly set forth in the “Statement of Work” or “SOW” attached hereto (Exhibit A) and incorporated herein by 

reference or subsequent Statements of Work.  No Product or Services will be provided under this Agreement alone but may 

require the execution of a written or electronic purchase order form, or other mutually acceptable order documentation, 

which contains terms relating to this Agreement, each of which must be executed by both parties and, upon such execution, 

is deemed incorporated in this Agreement for all purposes.  The parties hereby further agree that the parties may execute 

multiple Orders and Statements of Work under this Agreement.  In the event of any conflict between the terms of the 

Purchase Order and Statement of Work and those of this Agreement, the terms of the Purchase Order or Statement of Work 

will prevail over this Agreement. 

 

2. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS. 
 

2.1 System.  For the purposes of this Agreement, “System” means, collectively, any computer network, computer 
system, peripheral or device installed, maintained, monitored, or operated by us pursuant to a SOW.  To avoid 
a delay or negative impact on our provision of the Services, during the term of each SOW you agree to refrain 
from modifying or moving the System, or installing software on the System, unless we expressly authorize such 
activity. 
 

2.2 Maintenance; Updates.  If patches and other software-related maintenance updates (“Updates”) are provided 
under a SOW, we will install the Updates only if we have determined, in our reasonable discretion, that the Updates 
will be compatible with the configuration of the System and materially beneficial to the features or 
functionality of the affected software or hardware.  We will not be responsible for any downtime or losses 
arising from or related to the installation or use of any Update, provided that the Update was installed in 
accordance with the manufacturer’s or applicable vendor’s instructions. 
 

2.3 Third-Party Vendors and Service Providers.  We do not own certain Third-Party Products and the use thereof 
is subject to certain rights and limitations of which we need to inform you.  Your right to use the Third-Party 
Products is subject to your Agreement with us, and to your understanding of, compliance with and consent to 
the terms and conditions of the Third-Party agreements, which we do not have authority to very, alter or amend.   

 
Therefore, MSP may utilize a Third-Party Service Provider in its discretion to provide the Services in 
accordance with the Agreement.  The MSP will use reasonable efforts to assign, transfer and facilitate all 
warranties (if any) for the Third-Party Service Provider to Client, but will have no liability whatsoever for the 
quality, functionality or operability of any Third-Party Products or Services, and MSP will not be held liable as 
an insurer or guarantor of the performance, downtime of usefulness of any Third-Party Provider.  The Third-
Party Provider may require the MSP to sign a contract with the Third-Party Provider for its services (“Third-
Party Contract”) and the terms of the Third-Party Contract may require certain conditions and requirements 
upon Client.   

 
2.4 Third Party Support.  If, in MSP’s discretion, a hardware or software issue requires vendor or OEM support, 

we may contact the vendor or OEM (as applicable) on your behalf and pass through to you, without markup, all 
fees and costs incurred in that process.  If such fees or costs are anticipated in advance or exceed $250, we will 
obtain your permission before incurring such expenses on your behalf unless exigent circumstances require 
otherwise. 

 
2.5 Advice; Instructions.  From time to time, we may provide you with specific advice and directions related to our 

provision of the Services or the maintenance or administration of the System.  (For example, our advice or 
directions may include increasing the System’s server or hard drive capacity,  replacing obsolete equipment, or 
rebooting all computing devices to effectuate software patching.) You agree to promptly follow and implement 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

87



CMIT Solutions of Boulder MSA 

 

any directions we provide to you related to the Services which, depending on the situation, may require you to make 
additional purchases or investments in the System or the environment in which the System is maintained, at your 
sole cost.  We will not be responsible for any problems or issues (such as System downtime or security-related 
issues) caused by your failure to promptly follow our advice or directions.  If your failure to follow or implement 
our advice renders part or all of the Services economically or technically unreasonable to provide in our discretion, 
then we may terminate the applicable SOW for cause, remove the obsolete equipment, or remove and replace the 
non-compliant software at our choice.   Unless specifically and expressly stated in a SOW, any services required 
to remediate issues caused by your failure to follow MSP’s advice or directions, or your unauthorized modification 
of the System, as well as any services required to bring the System up to or maintain the Minimum Requirements, 
are not covered under any SOW and will be out-of-scope. 

 

3. TERM AND TERMINATION. This Agreement will begin on the Effective Date and will continue until each Order 

expires or is terminated. MSP may: (a) terminate a specific Order if Client fails to pay any applicable fees due for that Order 

within 30 days after receipt of written notice from MSP of non-payment; and/or (b) terminate this Agreement or an Order if 

Client commits any other material breach of this Agreement and fails to cure such breach within fifteen (15) days after 

receipt of written notice from MSP.  If an Order for Services is terminated, Client will promptly pay MSP for Services 

rendered, and expenses incurred through the termination date.   

 

Client may (a) terminate this Agreement or an Order if MSP commits any other material breach of this Agreement and fails 

to cure such breach within fifteen (15) days after receipt of written notice from Client; and/or (b) terminate for any reason 

with ninety (90) days written notice to MSP.   

 

4. PAYMENT. Client will pay MSP all fees due upon receipt of an invoice specifying the amounts due ("Fees").  All 

Fees payable under this Agreement are exclusive of sales, use, excise, and any other applicable transaction taxes, which 

Client will pay (excluding taxes based upon the net income of MSP). If payment is not received on or before any invoice 

due date, interest shall begin to accrue and be payable at the lesser of the maximum rate permitted under applicable law or 

at the rate of one and one-half percent (1.5%) (or any other interest rate in accordance with the state’s law) per month from 

the date due until paid in full. Client shall pay all expenses, including actual attorneys’ fees, incurred by MSP or its 

representatives in enforcing its rights under this Agreement, provided that MSP is successful on the merits.  Client’s 

obligation to pay undisputed amounts due for Services and MSP’s right to all such amounts are absolute and unconditional. 

Client is not entitled to setoff of such amounts.  All Fees will be detailed in an Order. Unless otherwise stated in a Purchase 

Order, Client agrees to pay or reimburse MSP for all actual, necessary, and reasonable expenses incurred by MSP in 

performance of such Purchase Order, which are capable of verification by receipt.  MSP will submit invoices to Client for 

such fees and expenses either upon completion of the Services, or at stated intervals, in accordance with the applicable 

Purchase Order or Statement of Work. 

 

5. CONFIDENTIALITY AND NON-DISCLOSURE. Both Parties to this Agreement recognize that, from time to time, 

they may come into contact with information that the other Party considers confidential. Confidential Information is defined 

for this Agreement as all information (whether written or oral) that comes into a Party’s possession under or in connection 

with this Agreement that is reasonably considered by the disclosing Party to be confidential and is clearly identified as 

confidential. The Parties shall keep all Confidential Information in strict confidence.  

The recipient will use a reasonable standard of care in protecting Confidential Information, which will not be less than the 

standard of care the recipient uses to protect its own confidential information; only use Confidential Information to perform 

its obligations and exercise its rights under this Agreement; not disclose Confidential Information to any third party; when 

requested by the disclosing Party, return or destroy the Confidential Information. 

6. PROVISION OF SERVICES TO CLIENT. MSP shall perform the Services: (a) in a first-class manner, to the 

satisfaction of the Client, using the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing 

similar services; (b) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or disruption to the residents, tenants, 

occupants, and invitees within the Client; and (c) in compliance with all applicable federal, state, county, and local or 

municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations. 

 

7. PROVISION OF MATERIALS AND SERVICES TO MSP. Client agrees to timely furnish, at its own expense, all 

personnel, all necessary computer hardware, software and related materials and appropriate and safe work spaces for 

purposes of MSP or its contracted subcontractors, performing the services.  Client will also provide MSP or its contracted 

subcontractors, with access to all information, passwords and facilities requested by MSP that is necessary for MSP or its 

contracted subcontractors, to perform the services.  Access may be denied for any reason at any time, however if access to 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

88



CMIT Solutions of Boulder MSA 

 

information, passwords or facilities is denied, Client understands that the MSP or its contracted subcontractors, may be 

unable to perform their duties adequately. 

 

7.1. Special Conditions for Technical Substitutability.  Due to the rapid changes in technology, platform 

technologies used in the Services provided by the MSP may be rendered ineffective, obsolete, or cost prohibitive 

during the term of this Agreement.  If such situation occurs, MSP may substitute the base technologies that 

power the Services with technologies that provide the equivalent Client deliverables (or deliverables that are 

substantially similar).  Should substituted technologies substantially alter provisions of any Addendum and/or 

Statement of Work ("SOW"), MSP will provide Client with options to replace the affected Addendum and/or 

SOW with a new Addendum and/or SOW that includes provisions that best meet the mutually agreed upon 

needs of Client and MSP.  MSP cannot predict or guarantee the cost of any alternative solutions. 

 

8. WORKING ENVIRONMENT. Client shall provide a suitable working environment for any equipment located at 

Client’s facility.  Such environment includes, but is not limited to the appropriate temperature, static electricity and humidity 

controls and properly conditioned electrical supply for each piece of Equipment.  Client shall bear the risk of loss of any 

Equipment located at Client’s facility.  

 

9. RESPONSIBILITY FOR EQUIPMENT. Client acknowledges that from time to time (a) MSP may identify 

additional items that need to be purchased by Client, and (b) changes in Client’s systems may be required in order for MSP 

to meet Client’s requirements.  In connection therewith, Client agrees to work in good faith with MSP to effectuate such 

purchases or changes.   

 

10. CLIENT DATA OWNERSHIP AND RESPONSIBILITY. Client shall have sole responsibility for the accuracy, 

quality, integrity, legality, reliability, appropriateness, and intellectual property ownership or right to use of any data, 

information or material proprietary submitted by Client to MSP. 

 

11. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. MSP retains all intellectual property rights in any property invented or composed in 

the course of or incident to the performance of this Agreement, as well as any software, materials, or methods created prior 

to or after conclusion of any work. Client acquires no right or interest in any such intellectual property, by virtue of this 

Agreement or the work performed under this Agreement. 

 

11.1. Client may only use and disclose Product in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and applicable Order.  

MSP reserves all rights in and to the Product not expressly granted in this Agreement.  Client may not 

disassemble or reverse engineer any software Product or decompile or otherwise attempt to derive any software 

Product's source code from executable code, except to the extent expressly permitted by applicable law despite 

this limitation or provide a third party with the results of any functional evaluation, or benchmarking or 

performance tests on the Products, without MSP’s prior written approval.  Except as expressly authorized in 

this Agreement or an Order, Client may not (a) distribute the Product to any third party (whether by rental, 

lease, sublicense or other transfer), or (b) operate the Product in an outsourcing or MSP business to process the 

data of third parties.  Additional usage restrictions may apply to certain third-party files or programs embedded 

in the Product - applicable installation instructions or release notes will contain the relevant details. 

 

12.  LICENSE AGREEMENTS. 
 

(a) License. At all times, all software on the System must be genuine and licensed, and you agree to provide 

us with proof of such licensing upon our request.  If we require you to implement certain minimum hardware or 

software requirements in a SOW (“Minimum Requirements”), you agree to do so as an ongoing requirement of 

us providing our Services to you. 

 
(b) Software Installation or Replication.  If MSP is required to install or replicate Client software as part of 
the Services, Client will independently verify that all such software is properly licensed.  Client’s act of 
providing any software to MSP will be deemed Client’s affirmative acknowledgement to MSP that Client has 
a valid license that permits MSP to perform the Services related thereto.  In addition, Client will retain the duty 
and obligation to monitor Client’s equipment for the installation of unlicensed software unless MSP in a written 
statement of work (“SOW”) expressly agrees to conduct such monitoring. 

(c) Pre-Existing License Agreements.  Any software product provided to Client by MSP as a reseller for a 
third party, which is licensed to Client under a separate software license agreement with such third party, will 
continue to be governed by the third-party license agreement. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

89



CMIT Solutions of Boulder MSA 

 

(d) EULA.  Portions of the Services may require you to accept the terms of one or more third party end user license 
agreements (“EULAs”).  If the acceptance of a EULA is required in order to provide the Services to you, then you 
hereby grant MSPs permission to accept the EULA on your behalf.  EULAs may contain service levels, warranties 
and/or liability limitations that are different than those contained in this Agreement.  You agree to be bound by the 
terms of such EULAs and will look only to the applicable third-party provider for the enforcement of the terms of 
such EULAs. If, while providing the Services, we are required to comply with a third-party EULA and the third-
party EULA is modified or amended, we reserve the right to modify or amend any applicable SOW with you to 
ensure our continued compliance with the terms of the third-party EULA. 

 

13. THIRD-PARTY PRODUCTS.  Unless otherwise stated in a SOW, all hardware, software, peripherals or accessories 

purchased through MSP (“Third Party Products”) are nonrefundable once the applicable approved quote or estimate is 

provided to MSP.  We will use reasonable efforts to assign, transfer and facilitate all warranties (if any) and service level 

commitments (if any) for the Third-Party Products to you, but will have no liability whatsoever for the quality, functionality 

or operability of any Third- Party Products, and we will not be held liable as an insurer or guarantor of the performance, 

uptime or usefulness of any Third Party Products.  Unless otherwise expressly stated in a SOW, all Third-Party Products are 

provided “as is” and without any warranty whatsoever as between MSP and you (including but not limited to implied 

warranties). 

 

14. WARRANTY. MSP warrants that it or its contracted subcontractors, will perform the services substantially in 

accordance with the specifications set forth whether under this agreement, a purchase order, other work order or otherwise 

in connection with any of them.  For any breach of the foregoing warranty, MSP or its contracted subcontractors, will 

exercise commercially reasonable efforts to re-perform any non-conforming services that were performed within the ten 

(10) business day period immediately preceding the date of Client’s written notice to MSP specifying in reasonable detail 

such non-conformance.  If MSP concludes that conformance is impracticable, then MSP will refund all fees paid by Client 

to MSP hereunder, if any, allocable to such nonconforming Services. 

 

14.1. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, any warranty offered and provided directly by 

MSP product shall be deemed null and void if the applicable product is (i) altered, modified or repaired by persons 

other than MSP, including, without limitation, the installation of any attachments, features, or devices not supplied 

or approved  by  MSP (ii) misused, abused, or not operated in accordance with the specifications of MSP or the 

applicable manufacturer or creator of the hardware or product, or, (iii) subjected to improper site preparation or 

maintenance by persons other than MSP or persons approved or designated by MSP. 

 

Notwithstanding the above, MSP does not warrant its products or services beyond a reasonable standard or skill 

consistent with industry standards.  MSP does not guarantee or promise any cost savings, profits, or returns on 

investment.  

 

15. SOFTWARE HARDWARE & SECURITY. Client understands and agrees that data loss or network failures may 

occur, whether or not foreseeable.  In order to reduce the likelihood of a network failure the Client must maintain proper 

security for its computer and information system including software and hardware updates.  Client will adhere to software 

and hardware updates and maintain specific security standards, policies, procedures set forth and recommended by MSP this 

includes either allowing MSP to perform forced reboots of certain covered devices under an SOW, or includes the Client 

ensuring reboots are preformed manually on a frequency as recommended by MSP.   

 

16. CLIENT CYBER SECURITY.  It is understood that the services provided under this MSA are limited to the Scope of 

Work as detailed in Paragraph 1, or any subsequent Scope of Work, Statement of Work or Purchase Order. Unless otherwise 

specified in the Scope of Work or an attached Statement of Work, it is not the intent, nor does the MSP provide cyber 

security monitoring, cyber terrorism monitoring, or other monitoring or remediation of cyber threats for the Client.   

 

17. TERRORISM. In no event, including the negligent act or omission on its part, shall MSP, whether under this 

Agreement, a purchase order, other work order or otherwise in connection with any of them, be liable in contract, tort, third-

party liability, breach of statutory duty or otherwise, in respect of any direct, indirect or consequential losses or expenses, 

including without limitation loss of anticipated profits, company shut-down, third-party loss or injury, any loss because of 

data breach, any loss of personally identifiable or protected information, goodwill, use, market reputation, business receipts 

or contracts or commercial opportunities, whether or not foreseeable, if such loss was the result of or arose from any act of 

terrorism, strike or similar labor action, war, invasion, act of foreign enemy, hostilities or warlike operations, civil war, 

rebellion, revolution, insurrection, civil commotion assuming the proportions of or amounting to an uprising, or any action 

taken in controlling, preventing or suppressing any of these things, including any such act or series of acts of any person or 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

90



CMIT Solutions of Boulder MSA 

 

group(s) or persons, whether acting alone or on behalf of or in connection with any organization(s), committed for political, 

religious or ideological purposes including but not limited to the intention to influence any government and/or to put the 

public in fear for such purposes by using activities perpetrated electronically that are directed towards the destruction, 

disruption or subversion of communication and information systems, infrastructure, computers, telecommunications or 

electronic networks and/or its content thereof or sabotage and or threat therefrom. 

 

18. TELEMARKETING & UNSOLICITED EMAILS.  In no event, including the negligent act or omission on its part, 

shall MSP or its contracted subcontractors, whether under this Agreement, a purchase order, other work order or otherwise 

in connection with any of them, be liable in contract, tort, third-party liability, breach of statutory duty or otherwise, in 

respect of any direct, indirect or consequential losses or expenses, including without limitation loss of anticipated profits, 

company shut-down, third-party loss or injury, any loss because of data breach, any loss of personally identifiable or 

protected information, goodwill, use, market reputation, business receipts or contracts or commercial opportunities, whether 

or not foreseeable, if the Client’s data is breached because of the distribution of unsolicited email, direct mail, facsimiles, 

telemarketing or because of the collection of information by means of electronic “spiders”, “spybots”, “spyware”, 

wiretapping, bugging, video cameras or identification tags. 

 

19. EXTRAORDINARY EVENTS. In no event, including the negligent act or omission on its part, shall MSP or its 

contracted subcontractors, whether under this Agreement, a purchase order, other work order or otherwise in connection 

with any of them, be liable in contract, tort, third-party liability, breach of statutory duty or otherwise, in respect of any 

direct, indirect or consequential losses or expenses, including without limitation loss of anticipated profits, company shut-

down, third-party loss or injury, any loss because of data breach, any loss of personally identifiable or protected information, 

goodwill, use, market reputation, business receipts or contracts or commercial opportunities, whether or not foreseeable, if 

such loss was the result of or arose from any failure or malfunction of electrical, mechanical or telecommunications 

infrastructure and equipment or services, any satellite failure, or from any fire, flood, earthquake, volcanic eruption, 

explosion, lighting, wind, hail, tidal wave, landslide, act of God or other physical event. 

 

20. RELEASE WITH LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  THIS PARAGRAPH LIMITS THE LIABILITIES 

ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY SOW AND IS A BARGAINED-FOR AND MATERIAL PART 

OF THIS AGREEMENT.  YOU ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT MSP WOULD NOT ENTER INTO THIS 

AGREEMENT UNLESS IT COULD RELY ON THE LIMITATIONS DESCRIBED IN THIS PARAGRAPH. 

CLIENT AND ANY OF THEIR AFFILIATES AND EACH OF THEIR RESPECTIVE AGENCIES, EMPLOYEES, 

OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, MEMBERS, EMPLOYEES, SHAREHOLDERS, NOMINEES, CONSULTANTS, 

SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “RELEASOR PARTIES”) AGREES TO THE FULLEST 

EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW AND EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE NOTED IN THIS AGREEMENT, AGREES 

TO RELEASE THE MSP AND ANY OF THEIR AFFILIATES AND EACH OF THEIR RESPECTIVE 

AGENCIES, EMPLOYEES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, MEMBERS, EMPLOYEES, SHAREHOLDERS, 

NOMINEES, CONSULTANTS, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “RELEASED 

PARTIES”) FOR SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, OR FOR ANY AMOUNT IN 

EXCESS OF THE LICENSE FEE OR FOR INDIRECT DAMAGES, LOSS OF GOOD WILL OR BUSINESS 

PROFITS, WORK STOPPAGE, DATA LOSS, COMPUTER FAILURE OR MALFUNCTION, ANY AND ALL 

OTHER COMMERCIAL DAMAGES OR LOSS, OR EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES. NO 

CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL MSP’S AGGREGATE LIABILITY ARISING FROM OR OUT OF OR RELATING 

TO THIS AGREEMENT EXCEED THE FEES PAID UNDER THIS AGREEMENT FOR THE PREVIOUS 

TWELVE (12) MONTHS.  MSP SHALL NOT BE LIABLE TO CLIENT FOR ANY DELAY IN DELIVERY OR 

PERFORMANCE, OR FAILURE TO DELIVER OR PERFORM AT OR WITHIN THE DEADLINES SET 

FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT. 
 

21. MUTUAL INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS. EACH PARTY AGREES TO THE FULLEST 

EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW SHALL AT ALL TIMES DEFEND, INDEMNIFY, PAY, SAVE AND HOLD 

THE OTHER PARTIES AND ANY OF THEIR AFFILIATES AND EACH OF THEIR RESPECTIVE AGENCIES, 

EMPLOYEES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, MEMBERS, EMPLOYEES, SHAREHOLDERS, NOMINEES, 

CONSULTANTS, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “MUTUALLY INDEMNIFIED 

PARTIES”) HARMLESS FROM EACH AND ANY AND ALL LIABILITIES, DAMAGES (INCLUDING, 

WITHOUT LIMITATION, DIRECT, SPECIAL AND CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES), COSTS, EXPENSES, 

SUITS, CIVIL OR ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEEDING, LOSSES, CLAIMS, ACTIONS, 

VIOLATIONS, FINES AND PENALTIES (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, COURT COSTS, 

REASONABLE ATTORNEY’S FEES AND ANY OTHER REASONABLE COSTS OF LITIGATION) 

(HEREINAFTER COLLECTIVELY, THE “CLAIMS”) THAT ANY OF THE MUTUALLY INDEMNIFIED 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

91



CMIT Solutions of Boulder MSA 

 

PARTIES MAY SUFFER, SUSTAIN OR INCUR TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY THE NEGLIGENCE OR 

WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF THE MUTUALLY INDEMNIFIED PARTIES ARISING OUT OF THIS 

AGREEMENT. 
 

 

22. PROVIDER INSURANCE. MSP agrees to maintain sufficient insurance coverage to enable it to meet its obligations 

created by this Agreement and by law.  Without limiting the foregoing, to the extend this Agreement creates exposure 

generally covered by the following insurance policies, MSP will maintain at its own sole cost and expense at least the 

following insurance covering its obligations under this Agreement: (a) Commercial General Liability including (i) bodily 

injury, (ii) property damage, (iii) contractual liability coverage, and (iv) personal injury, in an amount not less than One 

Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence; (b) Business Automobile Liability for owned, hired and non-owned vehicles 

in an amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for each accident; (c) Workers Compensation at statutory 

limits; and (d) Professional Liability Insurance covering errors and omissions and wrongful acts in the performance of the 

Services.  Such insurance will bear a combined single limit per occurrence of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000). 

 

23. CLIENT INSURANCE. 

 

23.1. Commercial Property Insurance. Client shall secure at its own cost and expense Property Insurance for the 

equipment that is part of the provisions of the service agreement. The policy shall include the following 

coverages: 

 Replacement cost valuation on MSP’s equipment. 

 Waiver of coinsurance for the insured property. 

 Insured for “All Risk”/ “Special Perils” with an extension of coverage for and Flood and 

Earthquake. 

 

21.2 Cyber Insurance.  Client shall secure and maintain for the duration of the contract Cyber Liability 

Insurance to insure Client’s cyber exposures. Specific limits and coverages should be evaluated by a 

qualified insurance broker or risk manager to determine your specific coverage and policy limit 

requirements. 

 

If Client opts out holding Cyber Insurance, Client agrees to pre-pay for any necessary remediation 

efforts through a separate block hour engagement to be executed as a future SOW to this Master 

Services Agreement (MSA). 

 

24. Mutual Waiver of Subrogation. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, EACH PARTY WAIVES ALL 

RIGHTS AGAINST THE OTHER FOR RECOVERY OF DAMAGES TO THE EXTENT THESE DAMAGES ARE 

COVERED BY THE WORKERS COMPENSATION (TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW) AND EMPLOYERS 

LIABILITY or GENERAL LIABILITY insurance policies.  PROPERTY INSURANCE, COMMERCIAL 

UMBRELLA/EXCESS, CYBER OR OTHER COMMERCIAL LIABILITY INSURANCE OBTAINED BY EITHER 

PARTY. CLIENT WILL NOT HOLD THE MSP RESPONSIBLE FOR SUCH LOSSES AND WILL CONFIRM THAT 

THE CLIENTS INSURANCE POLICIES REFERENCED ABOVE PROVIDES FOR THE WAIVER OF 

SUBROGATION INCLUDED IN THE MASTER SERVICE AGREEMENT. 

 

25. DISCLAIMERS. The express remedies set forth in this Agreement will constitute Client’s exclusive remedies, and 

MSP’s sole obligation and liability, for any claim (a) that a Service or deliverable provided hereunder does not conform to 

specifications or is otherwise defective, or (b) that the Services were performed improperly. 

 

EXCEPT FOR THE WARRANTIES MADE BY MSP IN SECTION 10, WHICH ARE LIMITED WARRANTIES AND 

THE ONLY WARRANTIES PROVIDED TO CLIENT, THE SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES ARE PROVIDED 

STRICTLY “AS-IS.”  MSP DOES NOT MAKE ANY ADDITIONAL WARRANTIES, EXPRESSED, IMPLIED, 

ARISING FROM COURSE OF DEALING OR USAGE OF TRADE, OR STATUTORY, AS TO THE DELIVERABLES 

OR SERVICES PROVIDED HEREUNDER, OR ANY MATTER WHATSOEVER.  THE PARTIES DISCLAIM ALL 

WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, 

TITLE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT. 

 

MSP DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE SERVICES OR ANY DELIVERABLES WILL MEET ANY CLIENT 

REQUIREMENTS NOT SET FORTH HEREIN, THAT ANY DELIVERABLES WILL OPERATE IN THE 

COMBINATIONS THAT CLIENT MAY SELECT FOR USE, THAT THE OPERATION OF ANY DELIVERABLES 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

92



CMIT Solutions of Boulder MSA 

 

WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR-FREE, OR THAT ALL ERRORS WILL BE CORRECTED.  IF PRE-

PRODUCTION (E.G., “ALPHA” OR “BETA”) RELEASES OF SOFTWARE ARE PROVIDED TO CLIENT, SUCH 

COPIES ARE PROVIDED “AS-IS” WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND. 

 

No statement by any MSP employee or agent, orally or in writing, will serve to create any warranty or obligation not set forth 

herein or to otherwise modify this Agreement in any way whatsoever.  

 

26. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal 

or unenforceable, such provision shall be automatically reformed and construed so as to be valid, operative and enforceable, 

to the maximum extent permitted by law or equity while preserving its original intent. The invalidity of any part of this 

Agreement shall not render invalid the remainder of this Agreement. 

 

26.1. Survival.  Sections 5, 11, 12, 18, 19, 24 and 28 will survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement.  

The prevailing party in any litigation or arbitration proceeding is entitled to recover, from the other party, 

its reasonable attorneys’ fees and necessary costs incurred in such proceeding. 

 

27. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may not be amended except by a writing executed by authorized individuals of MSP 

and the Client. 

 

28. RELATIONSHIP.  The Parties are independent parties; and this Agreement does not make the Parties principal and 

agent, partners, employer and employee; nor does it create a joint venture.  It is further understood that there is no 

relationship, including but not limited to a partnership, joint venture, sub-contractor or other commission-based relationship, 

between any party that referred MSP or Client to the other party to this Agreement. 

 

29. MUTUAL NON-SOLICITATION.  During the term of this Agreement, and for a period of one (1) year thereafter, 

each  party will not, without prior written approval of the other party, solicit for employment any employees of the other 

party or its affiliates who, within one (1) year prior to such solicitation: (a) directly performed under this Agreement, (b) 

had substantial contact with the hiring party in relation to this Agreement, or (c) the hiring party became aware of due to, or 

derived from information learned through the performance of, this Agreement.  The exception is if both parties agree in 

writing and payment of a finder’s fee of $20,000 per employee is owed by the hiring party. For this purpose, "solicitation" 

does not include contact resulting from indirect means such as public advertisement, placement firm searches or similar 

means not directed specifically at the employee to which the employee responds on his or her own initiative.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may at any time, directly or indirectly, solicit and hire any employee of the other 

party if such employee did not resign but was terminated by the other party.  The parties acknowledge and agree that a 

breach of this “Non-Solicitation” clause will not give rise to a right of termination of this Agreement; the party not in breach 

will only have the right to seek and recover direct damages from the breaching party. 

 

30. REFERENCING.  Client agrees that MSP and its Affiliates may refer to Client as a client of MSP, both internally and 

in externally published media.  Client also agrees to instruct appropriate personnel within its organization that Client has 

agreed to receive and participate in calls, from time to time, with potential clients of MSP who wish to evaluate the technical 

specifications of Product. 

 

31. LAW. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado without 

reference to principles of conflicts of laws.  The Parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the 

State of Colorado. 

 

32. WAIVER. Failure by either Party to insist upon strict performance of any provision herein shall not be deemed a waiver 

by such Party of its rights or remedies, or a waiver by it of any subsequent default by the other Party. 

 

33. FORCE MAJEURE. Neither party will be liable to the other party for delays or failures to perform its obligations 

under this Agreement or any SOW because of circumstances beyond such party’s reasonable control.  Such circumstances 
include, but will not be limited to, any intentional or negligent act committed by the other party, or any acts or omissions of 

any governmental authority, natural disaster, act of a public enemy, acts of terrorism, riot, sabotage, disputes or differences 

with workmen, power failure, communications delays/outages, delays in transportation or deliveries of supplies or materials, 
cyberwarfare, cyberterrorism, or hacking, malware or virus-related incidents that circumvent then-current anti-virus or anti- 

malware software, and acts of God. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

93



CMIT Solutions of Boulder MSA 

 

34. DATA ACCESS/STORAGE.  Depending on the Service provided, a portion of your data may occasionally be accessed 
or stored on secure servers located outside of the United States.  You agree to notify us if your company requires us to 

modify our standard access or storage procedures. 

 

35. ASSIGNMENT. Client may not assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without MSP’s prior written 

consent which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 

36. COUNTERPART AND ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the 

same instrument. The Client’s electronic signature of this Agreement shall have the same validity and effect as a signature 

affixed by the Client's hand.  

 

37. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement by and between the Parties regarding the 

subject matter contained herein and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous undertakings and agreement of the Parties, 

whether written or oral, with respect to such subject matter. 

 

38. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, 

in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available by law to the Client, its respective officials, employees, 

contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the Client and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded 

or available to the Client pursuant to sections 24-10-101, et seq., Colo. Rev. Stat. 

 

 

 

Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District: 

 

By (Signature): __________________________________ 

 

Print Name: _____________________________________ 

 

Date: _________________________________ 

 

 

Denver Tech, LLC d/b/a CMIT Solutions of Boulder: 

 

By (Signature): ___________________________________ 

 

Print Name: _____________________________________ 

  

Date: _________________________________ 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

John Wyckoff

4/21/2023

4/21/2023

Scott Graflund

94



 
EXHIBIT A 

 

Sample Statement of Work- SAMPLE, DO NOT SIGN 

 

This SOW is in conjunction with the Master Services Provider Agreement or “MSA”.  This SOW does not replace the MSA 

but incorporates all the provisions and obligations set forth in the MSA.  Should any provision of the MSA and this SOW 

conflict, the SOW shall take precedence.  {INSERT COMPANY NAME HERE} will provide the Services described below 

to the standards stated in the MSA. {INSERT COMPANY NAME HERE} will also perform those Supplemental Services 

that we agree with you in writing to perform.   

 

 

STATEMENT OF WORK No. __ 

 

Project Number ______________ 

 

This Statement of Work (“SOW No. __”) dated ______, 20__ (“SOW Effective Date”) supplements the Master Services 

Agreement effective as of _____, 20__ (the “Agreement”) by and between __________________________________ 

(“MSP”) and ___________________________ (“Client”).  This SOW No. __ consists of the terms below, the signature 

page, and any unique attachments to this SOW No. __, which are all incorporated into the Agreement by this reference and 

are made a part of the Agreement by all intents and purposes. 

 

Capitalized terms used herein, unless otherwise defined, will have the meanings given to them in the Agreement. 

 

1. Services Description 

 

The Services to be performed by MSP on behalf of Client are ___________________________. 

 

2. Deliverables Description 

 

The Deliverables to be provided are ___________________________________. 

 

3. Delivery terms are ______________________________________. 
 

4. SOW __ Terms [Insert only the terms that are applicable to the project subject to the SOW] 

 

4.1 [insert a project number assigned to this SOW] 

 

4.2 [insert a projected timetable by which each of the identified phases of the Services is to be completed] 

 

4.3 [insert completion criteria, if applicable] 

 

4.4 [insert a description of required status reports, if applicable] 

 

4.5 [insert the location where the Services is to be performed] 

 

4.6 [insert the commencement and termination dates] 

 

4.7 [insert travel, regular and overtime compensation rates] 

 

4.8 [insert maximum authorized total expenditure] 

 

4.9 [insert the name(s) of Client's key person(s)] 

 

5. Service and Fee Schedule 

 

5.1 [insert terms of Services] 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

95



CMIT Solutions of Boulder MSA 

 
 

5.2 [insert terms of Credit Card Authorization] 

 

6. Products Included (Hardware and/or Software) 

 

6.1 [insert Hardware included and any terms specific to the Hardware] 

 

6.2 [insert Software included and any terms specific to the Software] 

 

This SOW No. ___ is effective only upon execution by MSP and Client.  Each party hereto warrants and represents that this 

SOW No. ___, the Agreement constitute the legal, valid, and binding obligation of such party as of the SOW Effective Date. 

 

MSP: Denver Tech, LLC Client: __________________________________ 

 d/b/a CMIT Solutions of Boulder 

 

Signature: _________________________________ Signature: ___________________________________ 

 

Name: ___________________________________ Name: ___________________________________ 

 

Title: ___________________________________ Title: ___________________________________ 

 

Date: ___________________________________ Date: ___________________________________ 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

96



 
  

STATEMENT OF WORK (SOW 1) 
 
 

STATEMENT OF WORK 1 
 
This Statement of Work (“SOW 1) dated May 1, 2023 (“SOW Effective Date”) supplements the Master Services Agreement 
effective as of May 1, 2023 (the “Agreement”) by and between Denver Tech, LLC d/b/a CMIT Solutions of Boulder (“MSP”) and 
Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District (“Client”) and replaces any previous SOWs for monthly recurring services. This SOW 
1 consists of the terms below, the signature page, and any unique attachments to this SOW 1, which are all incorporated into the 
Agreement by this reference and are made a part of the Agreement by all intents and purposes. 
 
Capitalized terms used herein, unless otherwise defined, will have the meanings given to them in the Agreement. 
 
1. MONTHLY RECURRING SERVICES 
 

1.1 Services Description.  Client explicitly acknowledges that the CMIT Marathon service plan and pricing covers only 
existing hardware, existing software, and existing services which are documented by MSP as part of the initial intake/on-boarding 
activity for Client and certified by MSP as eligible for coverage as outlined in Schedule C.  Any assistance requested by Client and 
provided by MSP to engineer the setup, installation, or integration of net new additions to hardware, software, or services will be 
charged at the hourly project rate as quoted in Schedule B.  As part of this SOW 1, Client has engaged MSP to provide and MSP 
will manage the IT resources outlined in this SOW 1 by implementing and following a series of managed services best practices.  
Included in this best practices implementation are protocols that MSP offers and Client agrees to allow MSP to enforce on all 
equipment under this SOW 1.  These protocols include, but are not limited to, the following: secured off-site data vaulting to protect 
critical operations data; centrally-managed anti-virus software installation, updates, management, and remediation; centrally-
managed operating system and application security patch testing, updates, and roll-outs; assignment of role-appropriate user or 
power-user credentials for PCs and servers and removal of administrative login permissions if deemed necessary to secure 
operations. 

 
1.2 Elements of Service.  There are several distinct, recurring services combined into this program intended to 

cover “Supported Technologies and Personnel,” as outlined in Section 8.  The elements of service can be modified 
individually with associated changes to the monthly service fee outlined in Schedule B: 

 
2. CLIENT SERVICES BUNDLE.  Client service bundle includes the following: 
 

CMIT Marathon preventative maintenance, monitoring and support services (specify level): Performance 

 This plan will be used for 1 computer. 
 
CMIT Secure: SentinelOne 
 
CMIT Guardian will be used back-up the servers: Guardian Secure Plus 

 N/A 
 
CMIT Cloud Solutions Provider: Microsoft 365 License Management 

 N/A 
 
Number of covered service bundle units: 

Physical location  16373 Rayburn St., Hudson, CO 80642 
 

  Computing Devices Up to 1 
  Servers   N/A 
  Email boxes  N/A 
  Office 365 account  N/A 

Mobile Devices  N/A 
 

See Addendum 1 for deliverables specific to Services Bundle elections. 
 
3. EXCLUDED SERVICES.  Service rendered under this Agreement does not include: 
 

(a) The cost of any parts, equipment, or shipping charges of any kind. 
 
(b) The cost of any software, licensing, or software renewal or upgrade fees of any kind. 
 
(c) The cost of any third-party vendor or manufacturer support or incident fees of any kind. 
 
(d) The cost to bring Client’s environment up to minimum standards required for service compliance under the Agreement. 
 
(e) Failure due to acts of God, building modifications, power failures, or other adverse environmental conditions or factors. 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

97



 
  

(f) Maintenance and troubleshooting of application software packages, whether acquired from MSP or any other source, 
unless as specified in Section 8.  Covered software applications specified in Section 8 are covered for up to four (4) hours of 
maintenance or troubleshooting per incident before work becomes “out of scope” of a covered service under this SOW 1.  Work 
considered out of scope will be billed at hourly service rates in effect at the time of the service labor or will be billed according to 
details contained in a Client signed eQuote and separate SOW outlining requested project services.  

 
(g) Programming (modification of software code) and program (software) maintenance unless as specified in Section 8. 

 
(h) Training services of any kind. 
 
(i)  Cyber-Security incident remediation. 

 
(j) Service labor to install or configure net new network devices or new business software that is not specified in Section 8, 

and any other requested service labor that constitutes a “project” and is not remote help desk support as covered by intent of this 
agreement. 

 
4. SPECIAL LIMITS.  The following limitations apply to the eligibility of hardware, software, and services to receive unlimited 
support under this agreement: 

 
4.1 Necessary Maintenance, Services, & Upgrades.  Throughout the regular course of servicing and maintaining any of 

the equipment covered under this Agreement, Client agrees to approve MSP’s reasonable and customary requests to 
authorize the purchase of new or replacement software, hardware, parts, or equipment as required to maintain a minimum 
of industry-acceptable operating standards for same equipment under management.  If Client fails to approve a necessary 
expense as identified and documented by MSP, MSP may, at its discretion, disqualify and either not continue to support the 
disqualified equipment or exclude the affected piece of equipment from this Agreement and charge all subsequent labor required to 
maintain same equipment at the agreed-to project rate as outlined in Schedule B.  Furthermore, such disqualification will also result 
in the removal of same equipment from the unlimited managed services Agreement under which it was heretofore covered.  Client 
also agrees that it is its responsibility to maintain all necessary hardware and software vendor service or license agreements for 
maintenance, updates and warranty service on all PC, server, and network equipment and software managed under this plan, at its 
cost, and failure to do so will result in the disqualification of the software or hardware as outlined above. 

 
4.2 Alternatively-Sourced Products & Services.  As part of the IT service agreement, Client may request MSP to 

procure hardware, software, and other services on its behalf.  At any time, Client may also purchase hardware, software, or other 
services itself.  Any “new” technologies that are introduced to the network/environment without the involvement of MSP will be 
charged at the hourly rates outlined in Schedule B for any needed installation, configuration, deployment, or advanced 
troubleshooting, unless they are a one-for-one replacement of a supported application listed in Section 8, in which case Section 4.3 
applies.  Client also understands that these actions may result in the increase of its IT service agreement fee.  Basic troubleshooting 
will be covered as needed on “alternatively sourced products,” but final problem resolution and/or replacement will be the 
responsibility of the vendor of purchase.  Should Client elect MSP to perform the advance troubleshooting, warranty work, or returns 
(RMAs), Client will be charged at the hourly rate outlined in Schedule B. 

 
4.3 Service on Line of Business Software, Hardware and/or Non-Client Owned Networks.  Client acknowledges that 

MSP does not have in-depth knowledge about the technology equipment/hardware or software that Client uses in certain aspects of 
its business, especially if Client has not purchased these products from, or on advice of, MSP.  MSP will make a reasonable effort to 
troubleshoot problems that arise with line of business software and hardware listed as supported equipment and supported 
applications in Section 8 for up to four (4) hours of remote troubleshooting per incident before work becomes “out of scope” of a 
covered service under this SOW No. 1.  Work considered “out of scope” will be billed at hourly service rates in effect at the time of 
the service labor or will be billed according to details contained in a Client signed eQuote and separate SOW outlining requested 
project services.  Sections 4.1 and 4.2. above also apply to this supported line of business software or hardware. 

 
4.4 Maintenance and Modifications Performed by Client.  If Client intends to co-manage the IT environment and 

performs administrative tasks and architecture modifications, the recommendation is that Client notifies or involves MSP before 
performing setups, changes, installation, uninstallations, or any other task that would result in the modification of the setup, 
configuration and operation of any hardware, software, service, or capability, as MSP cannot take responsibility for supporting or 
remediating any issues precipitating or resulting from any maintenance or modifications not performed by MSP staff under the terms 
of this support agreement.  Client will be billed at the hourly rate outlined in Schedule B of this SOW 1 for any labor expended by 
MSP to remediate these situations. 
 
5. MINIMUM COMPLIANCE STANDARDS.  In order for Client’s existing environment to qualify for MSP services, the following 
requirements must be met: 
 

(a) All servers with Microsoft Windows Operating Systems must be running Windows 2012 Server or later and have all of 
the latest Microsoft Service Packs and Critical Updates installed in order for the server agent to be installed.  The workstation agent 
will be loaded on those servers not using server software. 

 
(b) All desktop PC’s and notebooks/laptops with Microsoft Windows Operating Systems must be running Windows 8 or 

later and have all of the latest Microsoft Service Packs and Critical Updates installed, unless specified by MSP.   
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

98



 
  

(c) All server and desktop software must be genuine, licensed, and vendor supported. 
 
(d) The environment must have a currently licensed, up-to-date, and vendor-supported server-based antivirus solution 

protecting all servers, desktops, notebooks/laptops, and email, or Client must plan to use the professional grade antivirus software 
as provided by MSP. 

 
(e) The environment must have a currently licensed, vendor-supported server-based backup solution or be working with MSP to 

devise the proper backup solution for the environment. 
 
(f) The environment must have a currently licensed, vendor-supported hardware firewall between the internal network and 

the internet. 
 
(g) Any wireless data traffic in the environment must be secured with a minimum of 128-bit data encryption. 

 
Costs required to bring Client’s environment to minimum standards, if necessary, are additional and outlined in Schedule B. 
 
6. SERVICE AND FEE SCHEDULE 
 

6.1 Service Fees.  Membership fees for the Service will be $420 per year billed annually ($35 per month) per the signed 
SOW 1.  MSP will make any needed adjustments based on the number of covered devices, number of covered users, or other aspects that 
affect the scope of the Service that may increase or decrease from Service covered and will adjust the monthly fee according to changes 
made beginning with the date device/Service was added. 

 
6.2 Fee Schedule.  The Service will begin on May 1, 2023.  First full month’s service will be billed in advance with any partial 

month’s pro-rated fees billed after actual Service deployment.  Managed services are billed as prepaid services.  The Service will be 
suspended if monthly payment is not received within five (5) days following the date due, which is always prior to the first day of each 
month.  If monthly payment is not received within fifteen (15) days following the date due, MSP will treat the non-payment as a 
notice of cancellation.  Note that Client will still owe MSP a pro-rated amount for the fifteen (15) days of Services rendered by for which 
Client did not pay.  Refer to Section 2 above for services included.  See also Schedule B of SOW 1 for additional pricing details and 
associated discounts available.  Client may add additional Services by signing an eQuote and separate SOW outlining additional services. 

 
6.3 Stored Data Deletion.  MSP will maintain Client data stored off-site for five (5) days after the end of term of this SOW 

1.  After that five (5) day period, MSP will delete all of Client’s stored data.  Additionally, where Client is fifteen (15) days 
delinquent in paying a monthly fee, MSP will delete all of Client’s stored data. 

 
6.4 Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The Client does not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year 

direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the Client under this Agreement is subject to 
annual budgeting and appropriations, and MSP expressly understands and agrees that the  decision whether or not to budget and 
appropriate funds is within the discretion of the Client’s governing body, and the obligations of the Client shall extend only to monies 
appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The Client and MSP understand and intend that the Client’s obligation to make 
payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a current expense and shall not in any way be 
construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable constitutional or statutory limitations or requirements. 

 
7. TERMS OF SERVICE 
 
7.1 Term.  The term of the Service is twelve (12) months from Service begin date (June 1, 2023). 

 
7.2 Automatic Renewal and Cancellation.  After the initial term of Service, this SOW 1 will automatically renew on an annual 

basis unless notification sent in writing by either party is received at least thirty (30) days before end of term.  The Service fee 
upon initial renewal will equal the Service fee stated in Section 6.1 of this SOW 1 plus two (2) percent.  The Service fee for any annual 
renewal thereafter will equal the Service fee of the immediately preceding term plus two (2) percent. 

 
7.3 Client Responsibility Upon Cancellation.  If Client cancels the SOW 1 before the end of the applicable term of service, 

Client shall nevertheless be responsible for paying the applicable monthly membership fee for the services during the balance of the term of 
service.  Termination provisions are outlined in Agreement, Section 2. 
 

 
 
It is understood that any and all Services requested by Client that fall outside of the terms of SOW 1 will be considered 
Out of Plan Services and will be quoted and outline in a separate SOW. 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
          

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

99



 
  
8. SUPPORTED TECHNOLOGIES AND PERSONNEL.  See Schedule C of this SOW 1 for additional details. 

 

 
 

Supported Equipment: 
 
*See Schedule C for covered computer equipment 
 
Non-Supported Equipment:  Copy machines, fax machines and other non-computer office equipment   
 
Supported Applications: 

1. Microsoft Office / Office 365 Suite 
2. Anti-Virus/Anti-Spyware Software 
3. Sentinel One End Point Detection and Response Software 
4. Windows 8 and later OS 
5. Media Players 
6. Internet Browsers 
7. Wireless Management Apps 

 
Non-Supported Applications: Line of Business software (CMIT will offer “best effort” support) 
 
Installed Network Virus Protection: Webroot 
 
Installed End Point Detection and Response Protection: SentinelOne 
 
Helpdesk User Count:  Not elected 
 
Backup Solution: N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
This SOW 1 is effective only upon execution by MSP and Client.  Each party hereto warrants and represents that this SOW 1 and the 
Agreement constitute the legal, valid, and binding obligation of such party as of the SOW Effective Date. 

 
 
MSP: Denver Tech, LLC Client: Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District 
 d/b/a CMIT Solutions of Boulder 
 

Signature: ___________________________________ Signature: ___________________________________ 

 

Name: Scott Graflund_______________________ Name: ___________________________________ 

 

Title: Member, Manager____________________ Title: ___________________________________ 

 

Date: ___________________________________ Date: ___________________________________ 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

4/21/2023

President

John Wyckoff

4/21/2023

100



 
  

 

CMIT Marathon™ Remote Access and Repair Authorization 
 

 

 

 

 

The undersigned authorizes CMIT Solutions to remotely access any computer or 
device listed in this agreement or any other device as granted permission by Client.  
Remote access will be used for the sole purpose of preventative maintenance 
and/or repair activities. 

 

 This authorization is valid for the term of the contract. 

 

 

 
Client Representative:  _____________________________    Date: _________________ 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

4/21/2023

101



 
  

 

SCHEDULE A – CONTACT INFORMATION 
 

Client Information 

 

Company: Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District   

 

CMIT Solutions Agreement No: BLDR040123  
  

Billing Contact Name: Lisa Johnson  

  

Billing Contact Phone: 303-779-57107  

 

Billing Contact Email: Lisa.Johnson@claconnect.com  

 

Address of Client Facilities(s): 16373 Rayburn St.  

 

City, State Zip Hudson, CO 80642  

 

 

Client Contact and Schedule Information 

 

Primary Client Contact:  Lisa Johnson 

 

Primary Contact Phone: 303-779-5710 Mobile Phone:  

 

Primary Contact Email: Lisa.Johnson@claconnect.com  
 

Contact Primary Contact under the following times & conditions: 
  

Server or Internet connection is down:  8am-8pm 7 days  8am-8pm weekdays  Other   Repair before contact* 

 

Critical conditions that may cause downtime:  8am-8pm 7 days  8am-8pm weekdays  Other   Repair before contact* 

 

Serious conditions that should not cause downtime:  8am-8pm 7 days  8am-8pm weekdays  Other   Repair before contact* 

 

Routine conditions that should not cause downtime:  8am-8pm 7 days  8am-8pm weekdays  Other   Repair before contact* 

 

 

 

Secondary Client Contact: Shauna D’Amato 

 

Secondary Contact Phone: 303-265-7867       Emergency Contact Phone:  

 

Secondary Contact Email: shauna.damato@claconnect.com  
 

Contact Secondary Contact under the following times & conditions:   

 

Server or Internet connection is down:  8am-8pm 7 days  8am-8pm weekdays  Other   Repair before contact* 

 

Critical conditions that may cause downtime:  8am-8pm 7 days  8am-8pm weekdays  Other   Repair before contact* 

 

Serious conditions that should not cause downtime:  8am-8pm 7 days  8am-8pm weekdays  Other   Repair before contact* 

 

Routine conditions that should not cause downtime:  8am-8pm 7 days  8am-8pm weekdays  Other   Repair before contact* 

 

 

* By selecting this option Client is requesting Service Provider to perform immediate repair services at rates listed in Schedule B 

without explicit verbal or written consent from Client. 

Choose One Contact Time Optional 

Choose One Contact Time Optional 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

102



 
  

 

SCHEDULE B – PRICING AND SERVICES 

SOW 1 

 

 

CMIT Solutions Managed Services Pricing: 
 

 Total Monthly Service Fees1: $35.00     (NOTE: Invoicing will be done once a year – Annually = $420 per year) 

  

  

 Total One Time Setup Fee:  $3,000.00 (includes the setup and configuration of various network hardware and upgrades) 

 

  

 Payment Terms: First full month’s fee plus set up fee due upon agreement signing; Recurring Services are billed on 

or about the 1st of each month for the following month’s service 

 
 

 

Additions to, deletions of or other changes that may affect the workstations, servers and devices covered by this 

Agreement may require amendment of Schedules B and C of this Agreement. 
 

 

CMIT Solutions Out of Plan Service Rates  Standard 

General Technical Support Services $150 

After Business Hours Out-Of-Plan Services 

Business Hours 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. 

MST, Monday to Friday, excluding 

Public Holidays 

$200 

Weekend or Holiday Services $250 

Minimum Charge for Support Tickets for CMIT 

Marathon clients 
¼ hour 

 

 

Table above outlines currently in effect at Agreement and SOW 1 signing.  Standard labor rates are not guaranteed by 

SOW 1. 
 

 

 

 

       

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

103



 
  

 

SCHEDULE C- COVERED EQUIPMENT LISTING 

SOW 1 

 

 

Site Name Desktop Friendly Name Operating System 

Greatrock 
To be completed 
upon onboarding 

  

    

    

    

    

Total Desktop Count: 19 

 

 

 

 

  
Site Name Device Name Friendly Name Operating System 

 
    

 

    
 

Total Server Count: N/A 
 

 
 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

104



ADDENDUM 1 
CMIT MARATHON   
 
CMIT Marathon Performance  
 
1. SERVICES.  The CMIT Marathon Service (“Service”) is designed to provide proactive support services that anticipate and 
prevent IT problems before they occur.  The Service is built upon the successful installation and configuration of technologies that 
MSP’s professional services team and Network/Security Operations Center (NOC/SOC) team utilize to monitor and maintain critical 
technology systems.  The Service includes remote help desk support as well as unlimited on-site support for covered users and 
covered hardware and software.  The Service also allows authorized users to connect to any or all desktops/laptops from remote 
locations. 
 
2. CMIT MARATHON PERFORMANCE DELIVERABLES DESCRIPTION.  MSP will deliver the Service pursuant to the terms 
of this SOW.  This SOW will serve to describe the ongoing Services in detail. 

 
2.1 Network Monitoring.  Network Monitoring Services will be provided 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and 365 days a 

year.  All Services qualifying under these conditions, as well as Services that fall outside this scope, will fall under the provisions of 
Section 7 of the SOW.  Hardware costs of any kind are not covered under the terms of this Agreement. 

 
2.2 Support Tickets and Escalation.  The MSP help desk, reachable via email (support@cmittechs.com) or phone (303-673-

9994, extension 1), is the first level of support for all computer/network related issues.  The help desk is in operation from 6:00 a.m. to 
6:00 p.m. MST, Monday through Friday, excluding public holidays.  The help desk will work to resolve all issues regarding hardware, 
software, operating systems, and general help questions.  The help desk will enter service tickets for those issues they cannot resolve 
and that need to be escalated to on-site support.  MSP will respond to Client’s support tickets under the provisions of attached Section 7 
of the SOW and will use reasonable efforts to address Client issues after hours or on public holidays.  Help desk support services are 
available for multiple devices, including smartphones.   Based on plan selection (Performance), these services are all billable per 
Schedule B – SOW 1. 

 
2.3 Hardware and Software Support.  MSP will provide support of all hardware and systems specified in Section 8 of SOW No. 

1, provided that all software is genuine, currently-licensed and vendor-supported and that either: (a) all hardware is covered under 
a currently active vendor support contract, or (b) replaceable parts are readily available.  Should any hardware or systems fail to meet 
these provisions, they will be excluded from this Agreement.  Should third-party support charges be required in order to resolve any issues, 
such charges will be passed on to Client after first receiving Client’s authorization to incur them. 

 
2.4 Monitoring Services.  MSP will provide ongoing monitoring of all devices as indicated in attached SOW1, Section 7.  MSP can 

provide monthly reports as well as document critical alerts, scans, and event resolutions to Client, should Client desire.  Should a problem be 
discovered during monitoring, MSP will make a reasonable attempt to rectify the condition in a timely manner through remote means 
according to the procedures outlined in Schedule A to SOW 1. 

 
2.5 Remote Desktop Access.  Authorized users will be able to access network information from remote locations if Client 

selects this option. 
 
3. INCLUDED SERVICES.  Service rendered under this Agreement includes the following features: 

 
(a) Network monitoring 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and 365 days a year. 
 
(b) Virus definition updates for supported software. 
 
(c) Microsoft Security Patch management. 
 
(d) Spyware monitoring and removal. 
 
(e) Hardware and software asset collection. 
 
(f) Temporary file and internet debris removal. 
 
(g) SMART monitoring checks of SMART enabled machines. 
 
(h) Executive report, as requested by Client; can be generated as often as monthly. 
 
(i) Quarterly or bi-annual on-site strategy meeting, as requested by Client. 
 
(j) Remote desktop access, as requested by Client. 
 
(k) Web filtering. 
 
(l) End Point Detection and Response (EDR) – only on the servers 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2F409495-23A1-4F4A-BD31-B126A77F00B7

105

mailto:support@cmittechs.com


 

720.749.4165 | 12687 W Cedar Drive, Suite 300, Lakewood, CO 80228 | elementengineering.net 

 

 
 

ENGINEER’S PROGRESS REPORT 
 

Date: May 2, 2023 

To: Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District 

From: Element Engineering 

Job No. 0041.0001 

RE: Monthly Engineers Report – New Items Bold 

 

CAPITAL PROJECTS: 

1. Water Treatment Plant Improvements - Construction 

The punch list walkthrough was completed and punch list generated. It was agreed by all onsite 

that the Certificate of Substantial Completion should be issued and dated October 6, 2022. This 

certificate was completed and sent to Moltz with the punch list attached. Moltz has 45 calendar 

days from the date of Substantial Completion to complete all punch list items. 

 

The certificate of occupancy has been provided by Motlz Construction. We are confirming that 

the punch list is completed and have requested a lien waver for final payment. Prior to final 

payment the Advertisement for Final Payment must be posted in the local paper of record. 

Element will provide this advertisement when we receive confirmation that the punch list is 

complete, and the final pay application is received. 

 

The Certificate of Substantial Completion has been provided to Moltz Construction. The date of 

Substantial Completion was set for October 6, 2022. The advertisement for final payment was 

posted as required and the final payment was issued. The end of the two-year warranty period is 

October 6, 2024.  

 

2. Concentration Evaporation Pond 

Element has reviewed all historic documents on the concentration evaporation pond and has 
contacted the subconsultant tasked with the concentrate line and pond grading design (CVL). The 
tasks necessary to complete design and permitting of the concentrate pond are as follows: 

 Receive concentrate line and pond CAD files from CVL.  

 Compile an Engineering Design and Operations Plan (EDOP), design plans, liner design, 
and specifications for the pond per CDPHE Section 9: Waste Impoundments.  

 Finalize pond grading design and SWMP. 

106



2 
 

 Update concentrate line per request from developer and update easement exhibit. 

Element has provided the district with a proposal to the district to complete pond design and 
CPDHE submittal (EDOP, plans, specifications). The EDOP, plans, and specifications will be to 
CPDHE for review and approval. After approval, the district will be granted approval for 
construction. CDPHE has strict quality control and construction documentation requirements 
including a construction QA/QC report that must be submitted after construction. Element can 
provide a proposal for pond bidding, construction observation, and construction QA/QC reporting 
at the appropriate time. 

Element’s proposal to complete the third concentrate pond and line has been approved by the 
district. We are currently working on the EDOP and plans. Also, we have provided a modified 
draft easement exhibit to Jay Scolnick for the revised concentrate line alignment. 

As of August 29, 2021, Element continues to work on the concentrate pond design and EDOP. We 
have been coordinating with Jay on the concentrate line and have come to an agreement on the 
line location. We are finalizing what should be the last iteration of the concentrate line easement 
for signature by Jay. Our surveyor will require some field work for the easement in order to stamp 
the legal description. Also, there is additional survey required for the concentrate line design 
which will occur at the same time. 

Additional survey field work was ongoing as of September 16, 2021. Element met onsite with the 
surveyor to confirm required items to be surveyed. Element held discussions about the potential 
to eliminate the proposed sump and pump in the proposed RO WTP if the concentrate line can 
be lowered. Element recommends any new concentrate main installation be 8-inch diameter SDR 
35 PVC minimum.  

Element has received the updated survey and has provided preliminary pond alternative layouts 
and costs as well as concentrate line profiles for the district’s discussion at the October 26, 2021 
work session. Upon a final decision for layout and pond location design documents will be 
created. Also, it is apparent that the concentrate line in Rayburn can be lowered, allowing the 
proposed sump in the ROWWTP to be removed and all drains go to the concentrate line. 

Element was provided direction by the board to proceed with the west pond location and the 
gravity concentrate main running down Hudson Mile Road. Design work is ongoing with draft 
design documents expected to be complete in January. Element has reached out to Adams 
County to determine what permitting will be required for the project. A potential pre-application 
meeting with Adams County was requested. 

Element has submitted the initial pre-application document to Adams County. A pre-application 
meeting with the county will be scheduled in the coming weeks based on the county’s schedule. 
Work continues on finalization of the design. It is our goal to submit a draft of the design 
submitted to the board for review during the month of January. 

A pre-application meeting with Adams County has been scheduled for Friday February 4, 2022 at 
10:30 AM. This meeting will be held virtually. Element submitted progress plans on the 
concentrate pond to the district. We are now working to finalize the plans. The next step is to 
complete final internal edits and compile a stormwater management plan (SWMP) and finalize 
and submit the Section 9 Impoundment permitting report to CDPHE. This should be completed by 
the end of February to mid-March. 

107



3 
 

Element and CLA staff attended a pre-application meeting with Adams County. A detailed 
summary of submittal requirements was sent to the GNWSD board. In summary a Conditional 
Use Permit is required. The board approved Element to begin working on this submittal. Work is 
ongoing. We expect submittal of the conditional use permit and EDOP to Adams County and 
CDPHE in mid-March. 

The public meeting for the conditional use permit is to be held at the April 5, 2022 board 
meeting. The required environmental study on the property is being completed by an Element 
subconsultant. Upon completion of the environmental study and public meeting, Element will 
submit the conditional use permit application to Adams County. 

Element received the ownership and encumbrance report to research mineral rights owners to 
notify them (as required by Adams County). Also, we received the environmental report prepared 
by Olsson Associates that is required with the Conditional Use Permit. Our final task is to finalize 
the EDOP and submit it to CPDPHE and Adams County as well as provide notifications to mineral 
holders. This is to be completed by the week of May 30, 2022. 

The EDOP and Adams County submittal have been completed and submitted. The Adams County 
review fee has been paid by Element. 

Element has followed up with agencies to determine who is the primary contact. We have not 
been assigned a planner or engineer yet, but this is likely to occur soon. 

Our project has been assigned a planner at Adams County. The county has promised to expedite 
the review of the project. Element will be ready to answer any questions or comments on the 
proposed project. 

We held a county comment review meeting with Adams County on September 16, 2022. 
Comments received are relatively minor and we are currently working on the response letter. All 
responses have been completed. Element is confirming the Adams County requirement for 
landscaping.  

It is recommended that the district proceed with bidding the project under the Construction 
Manager at Risk (CMAR) procurement procedure. We have completed responses to all Adams 
County comments. Also we held a meeting with CDPHE to request either an approval letter or a 
list of comments to respond to. CDPHE has indicated they will send a brief list of comments. We 
anticipate having those during the week of January 30th, 2023.  

The district approved the CMAR bidding approach at the March 7th meeting. Element is working 
with the district’s attorney to compile an Owner-CMAR agreement. Upon completion of this 
agreement, the CMAR bid documents will be completed and advertised.  

The bid package is complete and we have forwarded all items to the district council to review. 
The attorneys are working to finalize the Owner-CMAR agreement. 

The county has requested some minor modifications to the grading which are being completed. 
We are finalizing that for final re-submittal to the county. Our next step will be the planning 
commission and board of county commissioners. 

 

108



4 
 

Third Alluvial Well 

Element will report items pertaining to the third alluvial well in this section. 

Element met with the district’s water resources engineer on August 12, 2021. It was discussed 
that the location of Alluvial Well 3 and 4 would likely be the best locations for the new alluvial 
well. Element has been requested to complete a construction and design cost estimate to tie 
each of  these well locations into the existing raw water lines. This work will begin shortly. 

The well locations 3 and 4 were determined to be the best locations as they produce a 
 satisfactory amount of water and have better water quality than location 5, which tested very 
 high in nitrates (> 20 mg/L). 

A Basis of Design Report (BDR) must be submitted to CDPHE to add an additional water source. 
This BDR must include the results of extensive water quality testing. Two separate testing 
batteries must be completed in two separate calendar quarters. Also, once drilled, the well will 
need to be tested to insure it is not under the direct influence of surface water. 

No work this period. 

It is suggested that the board continue discussions of adding the third alluvial well. With the 
construction of the new water treatment plant being finalized, both existing alluvial wells are 
required for operation. Currently there is no redundant alluvial source. 

GENERAL ENGINEERING – ADMINISTRATION 

Element has been coordinating closely with CLA to onboard general engineering services. Element, CLA 
and GNWSD held an initial onboarding meeting at Element offices on June 10, 2021. An additional 
onboarding meeting with REC has been scheduled on June 30th, 2021 at REC offices. We have received all 
electronic and hard copy files from MMI and have reviewed them to determine the sum of available 
records. 

Element has completed cost estimates to support 2022 budget preparation. This included estimated 
general engineering (ops and admin) fees, capital project fees, and engineering construction 
administration fees. A meeting to review the proposed budget items was held on September 22nd at REC 
offices. 

Element is coordinating the additional information (survey) and scoping items on the concentrate line and 
concentrate pond and line alternatives in the General Engineering – Administration job number. 

Element presented options to the board on concentrate line and concentrate pond locations. See Third 
Concentrate Pond reporting for more information.  

Element is working on the county permitting of the third concentrate pond. See third concentrate pond 
update. 

Element provided draft General Engineering estimates and concentrate pond cost estimates for the 2023 
budgeting period. 

Element is currently working on budgeting and rate analysis updates for the 2023 calendar year. Also we 
have been coordinating with the district’s consultants on the Town of Castle Rock water court case. 

109



5 
 

Element was requested to provide a cost for reviewing and updating the tap fee analysis that has 
historically been completed on behalf of the district. We have reviewed the historic tap fee analysis and 
the effort necessary to update these fees. It is estimated that our fee will not exceed $9,500. We can 
either bill this under General Engineering, or under a separately approved task. 

1. Box Elder Creek Ranch Subdivision 

Element will report general administrative engineering items pertaining to the Box Elder Creek 
 Ranch subdivision in this section. 

No work this period. 

2. Rocking Horse Farms Subdivision 

Element will report general administrative engineering items pertaining to the Rocking Horse 
 Farms subdivision in this section. 

Element has coordinated with REC to complete the recommendation for final acceptance of the 
Rocking Horse Farms Pump Station Replacement Project. The project was completed on July 22, 
2020, and has been successfully operating since startup. The 1-year warranty period has elapsed, 
and Element recommends final acceptance.  

Element met with REC at RHF on January 21st, 2022 to discuss replacement of the RHF control 
valves. It was determined that an insertion valve could be installed downstream of the control 
valve to shut the tank off. A new electrically actuated gate valve could then be installed in the 
vault. It is recommended that two manual gate valves with wheels be installed on either side of 
the new actuated valve. This time was billed to General Engineering: Operations. 

No work this period. 

3. Greatrock North Subdivision 

Element will report general administrative engineering items pertaining to the Greatrock North 
 subdivision in this section. 

No work this period. 

4. Hayesmount Estates Subdivision 

Element will report general administrative engineering items pertaining to the Hayesmount 
 Estates subdivision in this section. 

No work this period. 

GENERAL ENGINEERING – OPERATIONS 

Element will report on water accounting, use, water quality, and electrical usage, and pond levels in this 
section. We are working on on-boarding and coordination with REC so that we may obtain data for 
regular reporting.  

Element met with REC on January 21st, 2022 to discuss the rocks in the concentrate line. It was 
determined that the line could be temporarily shut down (turn off WTP) and the line upstream of the 

110



6 
 

control valve could be shut. The concentrate line could then be pumped out (water discharging to the 
adjacent concentrate pond) and the line could be excavated, opened, and the rocks removed. Upon 
removal the line would need to be replaced in the excavated area.  

See attached monthly year over year comparison of electrical use (KWH) and electrical billing ($).  
Element has assisted with mapping of water mains to determine the source of the distribution system 
leak on Haysemount.  

No work this period. 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

1. Country Club Ranchettes Filing No. 1  

Element has contacted Jay Scolnick and his contractor (Three Sons Construction) to set up a pre-
construction meeting. The meeting is tentatively scheduled to be held onsite during the weeks of 
July 5, 2021, or July 12, 2021 depending on final construction permit issuance from Adams 
County. Three Sons Construction has started the submittal process with Element. We are 
reviewing submittals per the district’s rules and regulations.  

Element will discuss construction observation and management roles and responsibilities with 
REC and CLA to clearly define task responsibility between each entity. 

Element will be responsible for onsite construction observation. Submittals have been received 
and reviewed. A pre-construction meeting was held on July 16th, 2021. Onsite construction work 
started on July 21st, 2021 Element will be providing full time observation for the first week, and 
scale back observation time if we feel the contractor is completing acceptable work. Element 
provided the district with an estimated number of hours for onsite work that included the pre-
construction, observation, GPS services and final walkthrough. 

Element has completed construction observation and oversite during construction. Adams 
County notified the developer (Jay) and their engineer (Manhard) that their fire hydrant design 
and installation was three feet too close to the centerline of the asphalt roadway. The hydrants 
are required to be moved, which will require a new pressure test. An exhibit of this relocation is 
attached to this board report. 

Element inspected and coordinated work on the fire hydrant relocation. 

Minor construction observation/coordination occurred during this reporting period. Initial 
acceptance will occur after the surface improvements are complete (pavement, etc). 

Element was notified that paving would occur at the project during the month of December. 
Upon completion of surface improvements an initial acceptance walkthrough will be completed.  

Element completed an initial acceptance walkthrough and compiled the attached punch list and 
closeout requirements. A letter was sent to the developer on June 23, 2022, and we are awaiting 
a response and required items. 

Element has received a draft Bill of Sale and as-built documentation. We are waiting on final 
documents for initial acceptance. 

111



7 
 

We have final documents for Initial Acceptance and anticipate board approval during the 
February meeting. These documents have been submitted to the attorney for review. 

No work this period. 

2. Country Club Ranchettes Filing No. 2 

On Wednesday January 26th, 2022. Element met with the developer to discuss inclusion of CCR 
Filing 2. There were no specific engineering related action items immediately necessary at the 
meeting. When the inclusion packet is submitted, Element will complete necessary review tasks. 

The inclusion agreement for CCR F2 has been submitted and Element is working with the 
district’s consulting team to review and provide comment. 

Element met with the district staff to review the inclusion agreement. During this review it was 
determined that a capacity analysis would need to be updated to document that the district has 
adequate capacity to serve CCR F2. This capacity analysis will be completed to ensure the 
inclusion can be adequately served by existing district infrastructure, or if additional 
infrastructure by the developer is required. 

3. Ridgeview Estates 

This subdivision has gained Initial Acceptance.  

No work this period. 

4. Epic Estates 

Element attended a meeting discussing water rights and potential water treatment for the 
proposed development.  

No work this period. 

5. Horse Creek Retreat 

No work this period. 

OTHER PROJECTS: 

1. 2023 Tap Fee Update 

The GNWSD board approved Element to compile an updated tap fee analysis. This work is currently 
being assigned to our staff and is being compiled. We expect to present this at the district’s May 
board meeting. 

112



 
Greatrock North Water & Sewer District 

ORC Report 
May 2, 2023 

Rocking Horse Farms Tank Fill Valve 

The RHF Tank fill valve is experiencing ongoing issues with automatic control. REC and TLECC verified the 
issues are not electrical or SCADA control problems. A local CLA-Valve representative was contacted to 
schedule a site visit to inspect the valve to determine the best course of action moving forward. In the 
meantime, tank fill is being manually controlled by REC. 

Update – Local CLA-Valve Representative, Pipestone Equipment, onsite to access RHF fill valve. Pipestone 
Equipment believes the control issues are due to an internal pressure loss through the internal components of 
the valve. REC is coordinating with Element Engineering to develop a plan to isolate the valve for inspection. 
Presently there is no isolation valve within the PRV pit, and no valves are indicated on plant drawings. Repair 
and/or replacement will need to take place during low demand season due to the inability to fill the tank while 
the valve is out of service. 

Update – Site walk-through is scheduled for the first week of January with Element Engineering to 
review site layouts and develop plans for repairs. 

Update – Site walk-thru completed with Element Engineering and Moltz Construction. After reviewing of site 
layout and plans it is confirmed there is no known isolation valve for the RHF tank fill valve. Element 
Engineering and REC developing plans for repair, but it is likely an insertion-type isolation valve will need to 
be installed before the replacement of the RHF fill valve. 

Update – Element Engineering is developing the scope of work for Moltz Construction to repair. 

RO Building Decommissioning 

REC, Element Engineering, and Moltz construction are working together to locate the currently unknown 
source of water that is supplying back-pressure to the old RO treatment building. The backpressure 
source will need to be located and isolated prior to being able to complete the decommissioning of the 
old RO building. 

113



Update 11/16/2022 – Altitude Leak Detection onsite to determine if BECR storage tank valves are leaking 
water when closed. Altitude Leak Detection was able to determine the south storage tank isolation valve 
is leaking water by when closed. 

Update 4/4/23 - American West Construction and REC completed site walk to review scope of work for 
American West Construction to provide an estimate.  

Augmentation   
 
On 4/12/23 BBA Water requested augmentation be shut down until further notice. Augmentation was shut 
down until further notice on 4/12/23. 

Additional Activities  

Coordinated with Adams County and Holcim Contractors to uncover valves that were paved over during the 
county paving project. This work was completed on April 19. 

REC provided a proposal for repairs to Brine Pond aerator. This proposal was approved on 4/14/23 and as 
soon as parts arrive the work will be scheduled. 

Semi-Annual service and inspections of district generators was completed the week of 4/17/23 by 
Generator Source.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

114



Water Quality 

 

Month 
ALV 1 ALV2 BECR RHF GRN 

TDS 
mg/L 

Hardness 
mg/L 

TDS 
mg/L 

Hardness 
mg/L 

TDS 
mg/L 

Hardness 
mg/L 

TDS 
mg/L 

Hardness 
mg/L 

TDS 
mg/L 

Hardness 
mg/L 

Apr-23 1002 537 1055 537 216 35.8 253 33.5 233 34.8 

Mar-23         229 68.6 505 166 442 165 

Feb-23 1095 552 988 549 341 122 326 106 322 113 

Jan-23         360 103 369 126 387 131 

Dec-22         677 318 423 184 494 181 

Nov-22         185 45 200 62 237 61 

Oct-22 1080 525 924 526 385 157 449 179 456 202 

Sep-22         777 309 792 302 772 308 

Aug-22         778 382 758 308 762 312 

Jul-22 1031 503 1037 497 709 324 718 327 742 314 

Jun-22         718 321 689 298 693 302 

May-22         691 277 762 313 743 308 

Apr-22 1050 433 795 415 495 165 385 125 369 118 

Minimum 1031 433 795 415 185 45 200 62 237 61 

Maximum 1095 552 1037 549 778 382 792 327 772 314 

Average 1064 503 936 497 529 216 531 208 535 210 

 

 

 

 
 

115


	001 - AGENDA - 05-02-2023 Regular Mtg (FINAL)
	NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING AND AGENDA
	THE NEXT MEETING IS SCHEDULED

	002 - Action Items Status Matrix
	003 - Manager's Report
	004 - MINUTES - 04-04-2023 Regular Mtg (final)
	005 - CLAIMS LIST - 04-24-23
	006 - FS - 03-31-23
	007 - GRN Monthly Activities March 16-April 14 2023
	008 - 04-12-23 SERVICE INSTALLATION REPORT GRN
	009 - AGMT - Warranty Agmt w County Club Ranchettes Filing 1 (exec)
	010 - Agmt - Warranty for Public Improvements - Ridgeview Properties LLC
	District:   Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District

	011 - Hydro Optimization and Automation Solutions Inc. - Agmt
	012 - AGMT - Maidpro - Water Treatment Facility Cleaning
	013 - CMIT - MSA & SOWs
	Greatrock_MSA FINAL.docx
	MASTER SERVICE AGREEMENT
	Greatrock North Water and Sanitation District:

	Greatrock_SOW1 FINAL.doc
	8. SUPPORTED TECHNOLOGIES AND PERSONNEL.  See Schedule C of this SOW 1 for additional details.
	The undersigned authorizes CMIT Solutions to remotely access any computer or device listed in this agreement or any other device as granted permission by Client.  Remote access will be used for the sole purpose of preventative maintenance and/or repai...
	This authorization is valid for the term of the contract.

	Greatrock_SOW1_Addendum1 FINAL.docx

	014 - 23_05_02 - GNWSD-Engineers Report
	015 - ORC Report May 2023



